
REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
Thursday, October 19, 2017 

RDOS Boardroom – 101 Martin Street, Penticton 

SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS

9:00 am - 9:15 am Public Hearing:  Zoning Amendment Bylaw – 
1362 Greyback Mountain Road, Electoral Area “E” 

9:15 am - 9:45 am Planning and Development Committee 

9:45 am - 10:00 am Community Services Committee 

10:00 am - 11:00 am Corporate Services Committee 

11:00 am - 11:15 am Protective Services Committee 

11:15 am - 12:30 pm Environment and Infrastructure Committee  

12:30 pm - 1:00 pm Lunch 

1:00 pm - 1:30 pm OSRHD Board  

1:30 pm - 3:00 pm RDOS Board 

"Karla Kozakevich” 
____________________ 
Karla Kozakevich 
RDOS Board Chair 

Advance Notice of Meetings: 

November 02, 2017 RDOS Board/Committee Meetings 

November 16, 2017 RDOS Board/OSRHD Board/Committee Meetings 

December 07, 2017 RDOS Board/Committee Meetings 

December 21, 2017 RDOS Board/OSRHD Board/Committee Meetings – CANCELLED 

January 04, 2018 RDOS Board/Committee Meetings 

[Page 3]

[Page 76]

 [Page 95] 

[Page 119}

[Page 121]

[Page 261]

[Page 278]

[Page 2]



 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
Electoral Area “E” Zoning Bylaw Amendment 
1362 Greyback Mountain Road, Naramata 

Date:  Thursday, October 19, 2017 
Time:  9:00 A.M.  
Location: RDOS, Board Room, 101 Martin Street, Penticton 

PURPOSE: To facilitate the development of a craft distillery including retail and sales. 

• Amendment Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017: proposes to amend Schedule ‘2’ of the Electoral Area “E” 
Zoning Bylaw No. 2459, 2008, by changing the land use designation on the land described as Lot 
1, District Lots 103s and 2711, SDYD, Plan 12443 (1362 Greyback Mountain Road) from Small 
Holdings Two (SH2) to Small Holdings Two Site Specific (SH2s).  

The site specific regulation will allow an accessory home industry use to include a “distillery”, 
including tasting, retail sales and outdoor patio area not to exceed 270 m2 in area. 

 

 
 

VIEW COPIES OF THE DRAFT BYLAWS, THE RESOLUTION DELEGATING THE HOLDING OF THE 
PUBLIC HEARING & SUPPORTING INFORMATION AT: 

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
101 Martin Street, Penticton, BC, V2A-5J9 

Weekdays (excluding statutory holidays) between the hours of 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.  

Basic information related to this proposal is also available at: www.rdos.bc.ca  
(Departments → Development Services → Planning → Current Applications & Decisions → Electoral Area “E”) 

 
Anyone who considers themselves affected by the proposed bylaw amendments can present written 
information or speak at the public hearing.  All correspondence received for the public hearing will be 
made public and should be addressed to:  Public Hearing Bylaw No.2459.26, c/o Regional District of 
Okanagan-Similkameen at 101 Martin Street, Penticton, BC, V2A 5J9. No letter, report or representation 
from the public will be received after the conclusion of the public hearing. 
 

FOR MORE INFORMATION PLEASE CONTACT DEVELOPMENT SERVICES: 
Telephone: 250-490-4107 | Fax: 250-492-0063 | Email: planning@rdos.bc.ca   

 
 
Brad Dollevoet, MCIP       Bill Newell 
Manager of Development Services     Chief Administrative Officer 

SP
IL

LE
R 

RO
AD

 

NN City of Penticton  

Electoral Area “E” 

http://www.rdos.bc.ca/
mailto:planning@rdos.bc.ca


REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
Planning and Development Committee 

Thursday, October 19, 2017 
9:15 a.m. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION 1
THAT the Agenda for the Planning and Development Committee Meeting of
October 19, 2017 be adopted.

B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT – For Information Only [Page 4]

C. OKANAGAN FALLS TOWN CENTRE PLAN – PHASE 3 REPORT (Urban Forum Associates) [Page 11]
a. Urban Forum Associated’s Report “Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 

Report” dated September 10, 2017 [Page 15]
b. Responses Received [Page 55] 

The purpose of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report is to provide 
direction and guidance for the future development of Okanagan Falls Town Centre 
area. The report makes a number of recommendations, including the 
implementation of new Development Permit Area Design Guidelines; a new “Town 
Centre” policy section for the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan; a 
location for a future Place Magnet to act as the new centre attraction of Town 
Centre; and sets out a new plan for local road upgrading, sidewalk & trail 
connections, parkspace, and lake access. 

RECOMMENDATION 2  
THAT the Board of Directors accept the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 
Report, prepared by Urban Forum Associates; and,  

THAT Administration prepare an amending Bylaw to the Electoral Area “D-2” 
Official Community Plan based on the recommendations of the Okanagan Falls 
Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report for the Board’s consideration; and, 

THAT Administration complete a review of the Electoral Area “D-2” Zoning Bylaw 
to ensure conformance to the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report 
as a strategic project for 2018. 

D. ADJOURNMENT



 
   
 

https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/PlanningAndDevelopment/B. 
Q3Activity_Report.docx 
Page 1 of 7 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 

TO: Planning & Development Committee 
 
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
DATE: October 19, 2017 
 
RE: Third Quarter Activity Report – Development Services Department 
 

Administrative Recommendation: 

For information only 
 

Purpose: 
The purpose of this report is to present the Board with an overview of activities undertake by the 
Development Services Department during the previous quarter. 
 
Background: 
The Development Services Department provides a quarterly update to the Regional District Board in 
April (Q1), July (Q2), October (Q3) and January (Q4) of each year. 
 
Overview:  
The Development Services Department comprises Planning Services, Building Inspection Services and 
Bylaw Enforcement and is generally responsible for planning for and regulating development within 
the Regional District.  The following is an overview of activities undertaken by the Department by 
division: 

PLANNING: 

Q3 Activities (July - September) 

· Adoption of the Agriculture Zone and Regulations Update in the Electoral Areas “A”, “C”, “D”, “E”, 
“F” & “H” Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaws was been completed. 

· Electoral Area  “F” Official Community Plan Review is ongoing. Round 1 survey results has been 
collected and analyzed. Currently preparing Round 2 survey for public release. 

· Completion of the “State of the Basin Report” (2016), an interregional initiative conducted 
between the three Okanagan Regional Districts to develop a monitoring and evaluation 
framework to track progress on economic, ecological and social matters. 

· Ongoing work on Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan (Phase 3) by consultant, including open house 
and draft plan presentation in September 2017.  

· The following reports were prepared for consideration by the Planning and Development 
Committee: 

Ø Hillside Steep Slope Development Permit Update; 

Ø Update of Regulations related to Dominion Radio Astrophysical Observatory; 



  
 

https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/PlanningAndDevelopment/B. 
Q3Activity_Report.docx 
Page 2 of 7 

Ø Commercial Zone consolidation and review; and 

Ø Commercial Tourist Zone consolidation and review (including Campground Bylaw review). 

· The following reports were prepared for consideration by the Board: 

Ø 1 Joint Official Community Plan Bylaw & Zoning Bylaw Amendments*; 

Ø 3 Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment*; 

Ø 13 Zoning Bylaw Amendments*; 

Ø 1 Discharge/Termination of a Land Use Contract*; 

Ø 10 Development Variance Permits; 

Ø 4 Temporary Use Permit.  

Ø 1 Floodplain Exemption;  

Ø 1 Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) referral; and 

Ø 1 Crown Land Use Referral. 
* may include multiple readings of same amendment bylaw(s) 

· 22 Development Permits (i.e. Hillside Steep Slope, Industrial, Watercourse, etc.) were issued 
under delegated authority. 

· 5 referrals from the Province regarding proposed use of Crown land were processed. 

· 9 Advisory Planning Commission (APC) Meetings were scheduled. 

· 8 Public Information Meetings for Bylaw Amendments or Temporary Use Permits were 
scheduled. 

· 8 Public Hearings were scheduled. 

· Provision of planning services to the Town of Oliver, including: 

Ø 1 Zoning Bylaw Amendment; 

Ø 1 Town Centre Development Permit; 

Ø 1 Subdivision referral. 

· Provision of planning services to the Village of Keremeos, including: 

Ø 1 Development Variance Permit. 

· A total of 4 Liquor License referrals for Lounge and Special Event Area Applications: 

Ø Burrowing Owl Vineyards 

Ø Nichol Vineyards 

Ø Oliver Twist Winery 

Ø Corcelettes Estate Winery 

Planned Activities for Q4 – 2017 (October to December) 

· On-going processing of land use applications and queries; 



  
 

https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/PlanningAndDevelopment/B. 
Q3Activity_Report.docx 
Page 3 of 7 

· Continue work on the Electoral Area “F” Official Community Plan Bylaw Review; 

· Monitor implementation of new ESDP Area Guidelines and permit scheme; 

· Present Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan and OCP amendment Bylaw to reflect the Plan; 

· Continue work on Zoning Bylaw Update (Large Holdings and Small Holdings zones, etc.); and 

· Continue to provide planning services to the Town of Oliver and Village of Keremeos. 

 
BUILDING INSPECTIONS 

Q3 Activities (July - September)  

· To the end of September we issued 453 permits year to date, compared to 448 permits issued 
during the same time period in 2016 (see Attachment No. 2 for the summary of issued Building 
Permits in Q3). 

· Kennedy Lake inspections are ongoing.  As at September 30, 2017, 88 permits remain outstanding 
at varying degrees of completeness.  128 permits have been closed.  14 non-compliant structures 
had been targeted for demolition which is to occur by the end of October, 2017.  Of those 14, 3 of 
the structures have been completed leaving 11 structures to be demolished during this round of 
demolitions. Structures which have had no permits, no inspections or little or no progress will be 
the focus of this round of demolitions. 

Planned Activities for Q4 – 2017 (October to December) 

· Kaizen is targeted to be completed for Building Permit processing in Q4. 
 

BYLAW ENFORCEMENT  

Q3 Activities (July - September)  

· Dog Control Bylaw and Animal Control Bylaw was presented to the Board for adoption; 

· Reviewed Bylaw Enforcement Officer contract 

· Reviewed and updated Animal Control Contract 

· Initiated draft for Request For Proposals for Dog Control Enforcement.  

 

ACTIVE FILES  TO DATE A B C D E F G H TOTAL
Land Use 2 n/a 9 19 4 10 1 4 49
Untidy & Unsightly n/a n/a 4 4 1 2 8 3 22
Other 0 0 0 2 2 1 0 1 6
TOTAL 2 0 13 25 7 13 9 8 77

 
NOISE COMPLAINTS A B C D E F
Complaints received n/a n/a 5 34 9 8 n/a 1 57
          
ANIMAL CONTROL A B C D E F G FIRST NATION TOTAL
Impounded 1 1 0 6 1 1 3 1 14
Claimed by Owner 1 1 0 5 1 0 3 0 11
To Rescue or Adoption 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2
Euthanized 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

REGIONAL DISTRICT OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN
SUMMARY OF ENFORCEMENT  - 3rd QUARTER 2017



  
 

https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/PlanningAndDevelopment/B. 
Q3Activity_Report.docx 
Page 4 of 7 

 

· Planned Activities for Q4 – 2017 (October to December) 

· Mail dog licence renewal letters to 2017 dog licence holders 

· Supply vendors with 2018 dog licences and initiate dog licence sales 

· Complete any amendments to Dog Control Bylaw prior to adoption 

· Distribute new dog bylaw regulations through media, updated information brochures 

· Present Animal Control Bylaw for adoption 

· Finalize draft RFP for Dog Control Services and engage a Service Provider 

· Complete review and update of Bylaw Enforcement Contract 

· Initiate RFP process for Bylaw Enforcment and engage a Service Provider 

· Initiate Bylaw Enforcement Policy Review – This 2017 business plan project will continue into 
2018 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 

     
Brad Dollevoet, Development Services Manager 
 
 
Attachments:  No. 1 – Number of Development Applications / Referrals  (YTD – September) 

No. 2 – Summary of Building Permits (YTD – September)



  
 

https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/PlanningAndDevelopment/B. Q3Activity_Report.docx 
Page 5 of 7 

Attachment No. 1 - Number of Development Applications / Referrals 

        Number of Development Applications / Referrals September 2017 Year to Date 
 
         Month       
 A B C D E F G H Total YTD 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013   
Develop Permit & DVP     1 4       1 6       
Temp. Industr                 0       

DP, DVP & Temporary Permit         6 78 68 56 41 39  
Zoning           1     1       
OCP/ZONING                 0       

OCP & Zoning Bylaw Amendments         1 23 12 18 13 8  
ALR     1         1 2       
Crown Land               1 1       
KER/OLI/OSO     2           2       

ALR, Crown & KER/OLI/OSO         5 31 20 37 18 18  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  
 

https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/PlanningAndDevelopment/B. Q3Activity_Report.docx 
Page 6 of 7 

Attachment No. 1 - Number of Development Applications / Referrals 

 

  

78
68

56

4139

23

12
18

13
8

31

20

37

1818

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

YTD 20172016201520142013

Number of Development Applications/ 
Referrals September 2017

DP, DVP & Temporary Permit

OCP & Zoning Bylaw Amendments

ALR, Crown & KER/OLI/OSO



  
 

https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/PlanningAndDevelopment/B. 
Q3Activity_Report.docx 
Page 7 of 7 

Attachment No. 2 – Summary of Building Permits Issued to Date, 2017

 

NUMBER OF PERMITS ISSUED
DESCRIPTION A C D E F H TOTAL 2017 2016

RENEWAL/DEFICIENCY 2 2 26 24
S.F.D. 2 2 4 3 1 12 85 73
MOBILE/MANU HOMES 3 1 4 28 31
CABINS/REC 0 1 42

DEMOLITION / MOVE 1 1 2 4 26 20
ACCESSORY USES 2 4 5 1 2 14 98 116

COMMERCIAL 0 23 19
INDUSTRIAL 0 1 1

INSTITUTIONAL 0 1 1
SOLID FUEL APPLIANCE 1 1 1 3 32 5
MONTHLY TOTAL 9 14 18 12 2 7 62 453 448
YEAR TO DATE 2017 63 93 154 56 23 64 453
SAME MONTH 2016 8 17 11 12 6 19 73
YEAR TO DATE 2016 42 63 111 61 32 139 448

DOLLAR VALUE OF PERMITS  
DESCRIPTION A C D E F H TOTAL TOTAL YEAR

RENEWAL/DEFICIENCY $1,500 $1,500 $882,950
S.F.D. $624,015 $672,920 $1,583,405 $1,440,655 $321,500 $4,642,495 $27,158,858
MOBILE/MANU HOMES $611,955 $160,785 $772,740 $5,113,331
CABINS/REC $0 $40,320

DEMOLITION / MOVE $1,000 $1,000 $2,000 $4,000 $26,000
ACCESSORY USES $106,800 $219,315 $104,240 $15,000 $80,150 $525,505 $2,834,428

COMMERCIAL $0 $33,415,898
INDUSTRIAL $0 $100,000

INSTITUTIONAL $0 $70,400
SOLID FUEL APPLIANCE $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $3,000 $32,000
MONTHLY TOTAL $877,615 $1,870,665 $2,745,390 $1,599,395 $27,000 $582,435 $7,702,500 $75,302,088
YEAR TO DATE 2017 $7,458,341 $40,113,376 $15,244,458 $5,698,455 $2,313,503 $4,473,955 $75,302,088
SAME MONTH 2016 $1,649,170 $2,165,050 $1,613,835 $2,070,885 $669,235 $707,390 $8,875,565
YEAR TO DATE 2016 $4,536,792 $9,528,765 $18,767,831 $6,169,618 $1,835,107 $6,639,475 $47,477,588

BUILDING INSPECTION REVENUE
MONTH 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

JANUARY $17,959.62 $16,098.23 $15,847.48 $8,965.60 $17,905.98 $38,090.55 $39,602.01
FEBRUARY $18,531.97 $14,200.42 $18,055.76 $25,842.00 $19,575.32 $29,419.02 $44,897.41
MARCH $26,221.83 $38,322.59 $28,007.02 $30,397.81 $32,251.07 $41,406.24 $62,053.58
APRIL $31,870.85 $18,059.44 $20,973.73 $28,055.24 $47,883.66 $15,209.80 $35,550.35
MAY $42,136.91 $30,849.83 $43,054.17 $47,678.54 $34,819.01 $88,336.89 $335,459.36
JUNE $46,768.25 $44,166.92 $42,069.21 $78,964.49 $62,473.80 $105,215.54 $66,954.09
JULY $39,690.56 $57,024.83 $46,889.56 $48,610.54 $93,218.43 $70,891.24 $95,394.43
AUGUST $37,792.51 $58,020.08 $35,669.63 $41,182.51 $59,620.80 $73,568.01 $47,165.53
SEPTEMBER $40,835.92 $24,513.20 $24,607.81 $68,044.72 $121,384.59 $102,226.37 $90,566.53
OCTOBER $27,711.60 $34,125.76 $28,791.57 $36,694.11 $39,069.81 $44,894.56
NOVEMBER $23,710.90 $29,782.64 $25,620.64 $40,766.83 $58,845.97 $32,663.33
DECEMBER $41,386.71 $33,035.38 $16,484.32 $39,792.14 $40,132.41 $29,147.95
TOTAL $394,617.63 $398,199.32 $346,070.90 $494,994.53 $627,180.85 $671,069.50 $817,643.29

2 2

$12,000 $20,000

18 104

$1,400,415 $4,788,119

26

$352,845

98

16

ADDITIONS / REPAIRS / 
PLUMBING

1

$52,500$364,475

1

$352,845

SEMI-DETACHED, DUPLEX, 
MULTI

ADDITIONS / REPAIRS / 
PLUMBING

FARM BUILDING
EXEMPTION

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN
SUMMARY OF BUILDING PERMITS FOR THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 2017

not valued / no revenue

$144,300 $807,140

SEMI-DETACHED, DUPLEX, 
MULTI $839,785

2 4

1 3 11 1 11

FARM BUILDING
EXEMPTION 1

1



 
 

  
Page 1 of 4 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 

TO:  Planning and Development Committee 
 
FROM:  B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 

 
DATE:  October 19, 2017 
 
RE:  Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report (Urban Forum Associates) 
 

Administrative Recommendation: 

THAT the Board of Directors accept the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report, 
prepared by Urban Forum Associates; 

AND THAT Administration prepare an amending Bylaw to the Electoral Area “D-2” Official 
Community Plan based on the recommendations of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 
Report for the Board’s consideration; 

AND THAT Administration complete a review of the Electoral Area “D-2” Zoning Bylaw to ensure 
conformance to the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report as a strategic project for 
2018. 
 

Purpose: 
The purpose of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report is to provide direction and 
guidance for the future development of Okanagan Falls Town Centre area. The report makes a 
number of recommendations, including the implementation of new Development Permit Area Design 
Guidelines; a new “Town Centre” policy section for the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan; 
a location for a future Place Magnet to act as the new centre attraction of Town Centre; and sets out 
a new plan for local road upgrading, sidewalk & trail connections, parkspace, and lake access.  
 
A key new direction for the Town Centre is the re-designation of most of the existing Commercial land 
to Medium Density Residential/Mixed Use development. Over time, this will create additional 
population to support local shops and services. Ultimately, when all the residential sites have been 
developed, an additional 300+ dwelling units are forecast in the Town Centre, along with 
approximately 60 new Tourist Commercial (i.e. hotel) rooms and approximately 700 m2 of additional 
commercial space. 
 
Background: 
In 2014, the RDOS commissioned a process to develop a design-focused economic revitalization plan 
for Okanagan Falls Town Centre. The ultimate objective of the RDOS was to help reverse the 
economic fortunes of Okanagan Falls Town Centre through development of a Town Centre Plan that 
outlines a land use plan, strategic public and private investments and partnerships, positive 
streetscape improvements and quality urban design that together will provide a distinctive sense of 
place. 

The Okanagan Falls Town Centre planning process was conducted in three (3) phases, described 
below: 



  
 

  
Page 2 of 4 

Phase 1: completed in June 2014, analyzed the current situation in Okanagan Falls Town Centre and 
engaged the local community in exploring opportunities to develop a 'Place Magnet' and in 
formulating a clear vision for the revitalization and future development of the Town Centre. A series 
of stakeholder workshops were conducted to gather input from the community.  

A set of key Planning and Design Principles was developed in Phase 1 and endorsed by the 
community. As well, two alternative preliminary revitalization scenarios were developed. Those two 
scenarios were presented to the community for feedback and it was determined that there was 
consensus support for Scenario Option B, which envisioned new mixed-use development being 
oriented towards the Skaha Lake waterfront in a smaller, compact town centre core between Cedar 
Street and Main Street, north of Highway 97. 

Phase 2: completed in December 2015, focused on a collaborative charrette process that took place 
in September 2015, and the plans that emerged out of that collaborative design exercise. The 
charrette convened a diverse range of key community stakeholders, facilitated by planning and 
design professionals. Invitations were issued for the Day 1 full-day workshop to key stakeholders, 
including members of advisory bodies for RDOS Area 'D', local Okanagan Falls retail business owners, 
land owners and members of the local real estate development business sector, members of the 
tourism and winery business sectors and representatives of community partner organizations. A 
total of 31 people attended the Day 1 workshop. On Day 2 the planning and design professionals 
developed drawings and concepts that flowed out of the work done with the participants on Day 1. 
At the conclusion of Day 2, the public was invited to attend a "pin-up" session where they were able 
to review the design concepts that emerged from the Day 1 workshop. This public review session 
was advertised in local newspapers and using community posters. Approximately 65 people 
attended this public event. 

Phase 3: which is the subject of this report, was the preparation of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre 
Plan, which provides recommendations to RDOS for bylaw amendment and future projects. Included 
in this Phase was further technical work with a review of servicing capability in the Town Centre and 
a Traffic Impact Assessment of the expected growth from the Town Centre, the development of a 
new OCP “Okanagan Falls Town Centre” policy section, the preparation of Development Permit Area 
(DPA) design guidelines, and consideration of Plan implementation recommendations. 

A public open house was held on September 14, 2017 at the Okanagan Falls Elementary School. 
Poster boards were set up of the proposed plan elements and feedback forms were provided for 
public response to the proposed plan. Please find attached the submitted public feedback forms 
(total of 21) to the proposed plan. The public had until September 29, 2017 to provide comments.  
The Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) was consulted throughout the preparation 
of the Traffic Impact Assessment for the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan and provided a copy of 
the finalized draft of the Phase 3 report. The finalized draft was also circulated to internal RDOS 
departments for comment.  

 
Analysis:  
The Phase 3 Report, prepared by Urban Forum Associates, has a number of recommendations for 
RDOS to consider for land use bylaw amendments. Primarily, these recommendations are directed to 
the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan (OCP) and includes the following: 



  
 

  
Page 3 of 4 

1. Recommendation #1: That a new “Town Centre” section be introduced into the Electoral Area 
“D-2” Official Community Plan that includes objectives and policies that are specific to the land 
uses to be encouraged in the Town Centre.  

2. Recommendation #2: That a new “Town Centre” OCP designation be applied to those 
properties shown on Figure 4 of the report (shown below):  

 
3. Recommendation #3: That a new “Town Centre Development Permit Area” with specific 

design guidelines be added to Schedule “E” Form and Character Development Permit Areas 
section of the Electoral Area “D-2” OCP.  

4. Recommendation #4: That Section 15.0 “Parks and Recreation Trails” of the Electoral Area “D-
2” OCP be amended to include policies and objectives reflective of the Town Centre area. 

Given the above recommendations, Administration recommends that upon Board acceptance of this 
Phase 3 report, that Administration prepare an amending Bylaw to the Electoral Area “D-2” OCP for 
future Board consideration.  

In addition to the recommendations provided in the Phase 3 report, section 4.0 “Implementation” 
provides a number of follow-up studies and initiatives that RDOS may elect to pursue in relation to 
the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan. A summary of these initiatives are provided below: 

· A review of the existing elements of the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan in relation 
to the existing Commerical (C) designation and Commercial Development Permit Area that 
currently applies to the study area.  

· A review of the Electoral Area “D-2” Zoning Bylaw to ensure consistency between the 
recommended objectives and policies of the “Town Centre” OCP designation with the existing 
Town Centre (C4) Zone.  



  
 

  
Page 4 of 4 

· Preparation of public access design guidelines for foreshore areas of the Skaha lake waterfront. 

· Work with MoTI to secure its support of the Town Centre plan including recommendations to 
MoTI provided in Section 2.3 “Existing Road Network” of the Phase 3 report. 

· Undertake a technical study to determine the feasibility of a commercial water vessel moorage 
facility. 

· Secure a location and work with property owner and any potential investors/development 
partners to implement the identified “Place Magnet” project. 

Of these above initiatives, Administration recommends that the first two be immediately pursued, 
with the review of the existing elements of the Electoral Area “D-2” OCP to ensure conformance to 
the recommendations of the Phase 3 report be undertaken in the proposed amending Bylaw.  

The review of the Electoral Area “D-2” Zoning Bylaw in relation to the Okanagan Falls Town Centre 
Plan – Phase 3 Report is proposed to be considered by the Board as a strategic project for the 2018 
Business Plan. 

 
Alternative: 
THAT the Board of Directors not accept Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report. 
 
Respectfully submitted:  
      
______________________________ 
B. Dollevoet, Development Services Manager 
 
 

Attachments: No. 1 - Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan – Phase 3 Report (September 10, 2017 – 
Urban Forum Associates) 

 No. 2 - Public Feedback Forms 
 



Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan  
 
 
Phase 3 Report 
 
Urban Forum Associates 
 
September 10, 2017 
 

 
 
 
  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 2 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
  Page 

1.0 Introduction .............................................................................................................. 3 
1.1 Background ............................................................................................................................ 3 
1.2 Purpose of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan ................................................................. 3 
1.3 Regional Growth Strategy ...................................................................................................... 3 
1.4 Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan ....................................................................... 3 

2.0  Local Context ............................................................................................................ 5 
2.1 Setting .................................................................................................................................... 5 
2.2 Existing Land Use and Form of Development ........................................................................ 5 
2.3 Existing Road Network ........................................................................................................... 7 
2.4 Servicing and Utilities ............................................................................................................. 9 
2.5 Development Challenges ....................................................................................................... 9 
2.6 Growth Potential .................................................................................................................... 9 
2.7 Local Context Summary ....................................................................................................... 11 

3.0 Town Centre Plan ................................................................................................... 12 
3.1 Overview .............................................................................................................................. 12 
3.2 Vision .................................................................................................................................... 13 
3.3 Goals……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….14 
3.4  Recommendations ............................................................................................................... 16 

4.0 Implementation ...................................................................................................... 38 
4.1  Follow-up Studies and Initiatives ......................................................................................... 38 

 

Figures 

Figure 1: Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Study Area 

Figure 2: Future Land Use  

Figure 3: Public Realm Concept 

Figure 4: Town Centre Development Permit Area 
  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 3 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Background 

In 2014, the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen (RDOS) commissioned a process 
to develop a design-focused economic revitalization plan for Okanagan Falls Town 
Centre. The ultimate objective of the RDOS was to help reverse the economic fortunes 
of Okanagan Falls Town Centre through development of a Town Centre Area Plan that 
outlines a land use plan, strategic public and private investments and partnerships, 
positive streetscape improvements and quality urban design that together will provide a 
distinctive sense of place and help guide the Town Centre towards becoming a more 
enticing, economically viable place to live, work, shop and recreate, for both local 
residents and visitors. 

This Plan builds on the work done in preparing the RDOS’s Okanagan Falls Economic 
Development Action Plan (2012) and the Electoral Area “D-2” (East Skaha, Vaseux) 
Official Community Plan (2013). 

 
1.2 Purpose of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan 

The purpose of this Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan is to provide direction and 
guidance for the future development of Okanagan Falls Town Centre in accordance with 
the Vision and Goals articulated in this Plan, and the accompanying Development Permit 
Area Design Guidelines. 

 

1.3 Regional Growth Strategy 

On April 1, 2010, the Regional District adopted a Sub-Regional Growth Strategy (RGS) for 
the South Okanagan. Under the Local Government Act, once an RGS has been adopted, 
Official Community Plans (OCPs) must be consistent. The goal of the RGS is to direct the 
substantial majority of future growth in the South Okanagan Valley to designated 
Primary Growth Areas. In addition to the four municipalities of Penticton, Summerland, 
Oliver and Osoyoos, Okanagan Falls is designated as a Primary Growth Area.  
 

1.4 Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan 

The East Skaha, Vaseux Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 2603, 2013 was adopted in 
2013. In this Plan, Okanagan Falls is recognized as a Primary Growth Area. Okanagan 
Falls is well suited to accommodate future growth, having community water and sewer 
systems, and an established urban area with a mix of residential uses, industry and 
commercial, a school and parks. There is also considerable capacity for new 
development on vacant sites and redevelopment opportunities. 

A key objective of the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan (OCP) is to 
encourage a wide range of residential development in Okanagan Falls, and the Plan 
directs all multiple family housing to Okanagan Falls. The OCP also recognizes Okanagan 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 4 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

Falls as the centre for commercial development and supports economic development 
activities, revitalization efforts, and design guidelines that promote a lively and 
harmonious built environment. Residents support an increase in the amount and 
diversity of shopping, dining, entertainment and employment opportunities as well as 
an attractive and walkable Okanagan Falls community.  

The Plan calls for a strong focus of mixed-use commercial, institutional and medium 
density residential development in the Okanagan Falls Town Centre area. A continuous 
waterfront walkway from Main Street to Lions Park is also identified as an important 
goal in the Community Plan.   

Elements of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Area Plan will be incorporated in the 
Electoral Area “D-2” OCP by way of an amending bylaw with specific sections of this plan 
being incorporated into the appropriate sections of the Electoral Area “D-2” OCP.  

  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 5 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

2.0  Local Context 
 
2.1 Setting 

Okanagan Falls is an unincorporated urban community located at the southern end of 
Skaha Lake. The area is approximately 320 ha in size and is the most densely populated 
of the five Electoral Area “D-2” communities. According to the Electoral Area “D-2” OCP 
Bylaw, the overall population of Electoral Area “D-2” was determined to be 
approximately 2,337 in 2011, using the ‘GeoSearch’ 2011 tool through Statistics Canada. 
Most of this population is in Okanagan Falls. 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre refers to the area between Skaha Lake and Highway 97 and 
between the Okanagan River bridge to the west and Main Street to the east. Figure 1: 
Town Centre Plan Study Area identifies this general area. 

 

 
 

2.2 Existing Land Use and Form of Development 

The existing town centre has a range of development forms, with a core area along 
Highway 97 (Main Street) between Ninth and Eleventh Avenues with zero setback 
buildings and sidewalks. Highway 97 (Ninth Avenue) from Main Street to Railway Lane at 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 6 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

the north entrance to the community has a more highway-oriented commercial 
character, with some zero setback development, an auto-oriented shopping mall and 
other commercial uses set back from the highway. In this area, there are no sidewalks 
on the south side of Highway 97 and vehicle access is less controlled, with right-angled 
parking coming directly off the highway (see sidewalk location map provided below). 

 
 

The existing land uses in the town centre are a mix of retail, office uses seasonal 
residential/tourist accommodation uses, multi-family apartments and single family 
houses between Highway 97 and the lake. Several large sites are undeveloped. A 
prominent feature of the town centre is a series of well-developed waterfront parks – 
Lions, Kenyon and Christie Memorial Parks. The RDOS recently acquired additional 
waterfront property for park expansion. 

The current form of development does not support a pedestrian-friendly downtown. 
Many buildings are set back from the streets, with poor street-wall definition, and are 
often separated from the street by surface parking. The public realm is underdeveloped, 
with substandard or missing sidewalks, over-scaled roadways, few street trees, and no 
street furniture, pedestrian lighting, or other amenities (see example pictures below). 

 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 7 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
 

 
 

2.3 Existing Road Network 

As an unincorporated urban community, all roads in Okanagan Falls are under Ministry 
of Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) jurisdiction, including both Highway 97 and 
non-highway roads (typical of unincorporated communities in BC). 

Highway 97 is classified as an Arterial – Controlled Access Highway through Okanagan 
Falls, and runs directly through the Town Centre with high traffic volumes and limited 
pedestrian crossing opportunities. There are multiple operational and safety concerns 
for side street traffic to access the Highway, limited sidewalks, and direct access to 
parking from the highway in some areas. A pedestrian crossing at Cedar Street was 
recently enhanced by the MoTI with flashing beacons to improve safety. 

Highway 97 at Cedar Street features eastbound and westbound left-turn lanes and stop 
control on the Cedar Street approaches. The crosswalk on the east-leg of Highway 97 / 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 8 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

Cedar Street was recently upgraded with pedestrian-activated side-mounted flashers. 

The Highway 97 at Main Street and 9th Avenue intersection assigns right-of-way to the 
eastbound right and northbound left movements. The northbound movements are free 
flow, the eastbound right is yield controlled, and all other movements have stop control. 
There is supporting guide signage and information signs at the approaches to the 
intersection. Additional information is provided on yellow warning tab signs on the stop-
controlled approaches. There is a flashing red and amber light above the intersection 
and a painted crosswalk on the south-leg. 

Local roads are typically undeveloped, with no curbs, gutters, or storm sewer systems, 
and few sidewalks (see example picture below). 

 

 
 

The Traffic Impact Assessment prepared by Watt Consulting Group for the Town Centre 
plan project recommends that the MoTI should: 

· Support Okanagan Falls Town Centre Street Network Plan, Town Centre street 
cross-sections, and the Walking & Cycling Network Plan; 

· Manage triggers through development for signalization of Highway 97 / Cedar 
Street. This is expected around 50% build-out; 

· Enhance pedestrian crosswalk at 10th Avenue and implement northbound and 
southbound left-turn lanes by 2037; and 

· Coordinate with RDOS on:  

Ø Development and maintenance of raised median islands along 9th Avenue 
(Highway 97); 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 9 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

Ø Resolving driveway access and pedestrian space along 9th Avenue (Highway 97); 
and  

Ø Determining the utility of secondary route alternatives. 
 
2.4 Servicing and Utilities 

WSP Engineering completed a brief analysis of the current water and sewer systems in 
Okanagan Falls Town Centre and what upgrades may be required to accommodate the 
growth provided for in the Town Centre plan. In order for growth and revitalization to 
occur in the Town Centre, infrastructure systems must be capable of meeting the 
demands generated by new development. 

Infrastructure upgrades will be required for the sewer and water systems servicing the 
Town Centre growth area.  New water distribution mains will be required for servicing 
development.  Replacement of existing small diameter water lines will be required in a 
number of locations to meet fire flows of 150 l/s for commercial properties.  Reservoir 
upgrades are also required to meet fire flow requirements. 

Sewer system upgrades are also required.  Two sections of flat graded sewer mains at 
the north end of the Town Centre area may need to be upgraded.  Existing 150 mm 
sewer mains that will be extended need to be upgraded to 200 mm.  Sewer extensions 
may be required to service some of the proposed developments.  If possible, new 
development sewer connections should be connected to the existing sewers on Main 
Street. 

2.5 Development Challenges 

A number of development challenges have been identified in Okanagan Falls. An aging 
population and a highly seasonal market (summer) results in a small population base to 
support local businesses. All the large development sites in the Town Centre are zoned 
for Commercial use – some are vacant, others are in seasonal tourist commercial use – 
and yet there is limited demand for commercial property. The Town Centre lacks an 
attractive, well-defined downtown core. 

As Okanagan Falls is unincorporated and lies within the RDOS, the regional district 
governance structure, as allowed for under B.C.'s Community Charter and Local 
Government Act, presents a number of challenges when compared to a municipality. 
These challenges include no local control or ownership of the road network, a separate 
Irrigation District for the community water system, and no general tax base (as each 
service is funded separately). While regional districts have the same land use planning 
authority as municipalities, there is no ability to offer incentives for new development. 

 
2.6 Growth Potential 

Despite the issues noted above, there are several factors that suggest there are growth 
opportunities in Okanagan Falls Town Centre. These include: 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 10 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

· several key undeveloped sites including a large undeveloped block on the north side 
of Highway 97 (Lots 1 & 2, Plan KAP12558, District Lot 374, SDYD – i.e. former ‘flea 
market’ site), a portion of which is being proposed to be developed into a seniors 
housing complex; 

· a relatively compact urban area defined by the Okanagan River to the west and 
agricultural land to the east; 

· a beautiful natural setting at the south end of Skaha Lake, with extensive lakefront 
parks; 

· Highway 97 brings approximately 9,000 vehicles per day to the Town Centre, 
increasing by approximately one-third in the summer, representing a significant 
potential market; 

· a new provincial prison recently built just south of Okanagan Falls, which has 
increased local demand for housing; 

· regular scheduled air service recently introduced between Calgary and Penticton 
Airport, making the area more directly accessible to Alberta and the international 
market; and 

· the local wine industry is expanding, yet has no visible presence in the Town Centre: 
this expanding tourism sector presents another growth opportunity. 

 

 
 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 11 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
 
 

2.7 Local Context Summary 

A key new direction for the Town Centre is the re-designation of most of the existing 
Commercial land to Medium Density Residential/Mixed Use development. Over time, 
this will create additional population to support local shops and services. The first new 
development in this direction is the proposed BC Housing Corporation funded seniors 
housing project located on the east lot of the former ‘flea market’ property at 5080 
Highway 97 (Lot 1, Plan KAP12558, District Lot 374, SDYD) – a mix of thirty-four 
affordable apartment units with a small commercial component along the highway.  

Ultimately, when all the residential sites have been developed, an additional 300+ 
dwelling units are forecast in the Town Centre, along with approximately 60 new Tourist 
Commercial (i.e. hotel) rooms and approximately 700 m2 of additional commercial 
space. 

  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 12 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

3.0 Town Centre Plan  
 
3.1 Overview 

Through an extensive consultation process, the community has strongly supported re-
orienting the Town Centre away from Highway 97 and towards the Skaha Lake 
waterfront. Residents also indicated that they want to encourage the commercial area 
to develop as a more pedestrian-oriented, vibrant hub of mixed-use commercial and 
residential uses.  

The community consultation process has also resulted in a broad recognition that 
Okanagan Falls can only support a limited additional amount of commercial uses. 
Consequently this Plan proposes to re-designate lands currently zoned as Commercial to 
Mixed-use Commercial / Medium Density Residential development. The amount of 
strictly commercial development area supported by this Plan is therefore modest, and is 
focused on smaller geographic areas, as noted on Figure 2: Town Centre Future Land 
Use. 

 
 

 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 13 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

3.2 Vision 

It is the vision of this Plan that Okanagan Falls Town Centre will become a compact, 
mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly town centre that is oriented towards Skaha Lake and 
optimizes public access to the waterfront. It supports increased residential development 
that in turn supports local businesses. The Town Centre is attractive to visitors and 
tourists passing through Okanagan Falls, with enhanced amenities, attractions, 
accommodations and services that encourage people to stop and stay in the Town 
Centre. Okanagan Falls Town Centre will become an urban jewel of the South Okanagan 
Valley, attracting new growth, tourism and housing for a range of residents. 

Key elements of the vision include: 

· Reorienting the Town Centre away from Highway 97 and towards the lakefront, to 
take full advantage of this underutilized natural asset. As such, new development is 
proposed to be oriented on the north-south axis rather than the east-west axis, to 
maximise both views and physical access towards the lake. 

· Undertaking public realm enhancements on Cedar Street and Main Street – the two 
existing streets that lead north towards the lake, and creating a new north-south 
pedestrian corridor on the Willow Street alignment. Improvements will also be 
made to Seventh and Eighth Avenues. These routes will be enhanced to provide a 
safer, more comfortable and attractive pedestrian environment for people walking 
to/from the lakefront and local shops and services (see Figure 3: Public Realm 
Concept). 

· Improving pedestrian safety and comfort along and across Highway 97. 

· Creating a new Civic Plaza framed by new commercial development in the Town 
Centre, which will act as a ‘Place Magnet’ attracting visitors, residents, businesses 
and community activities, and will support economic development (see Figure 3 for 
the proposed location of the Civic Plaza). 

· Focusing new medium density residential development in Okanagan Falls in the 
Town Centre to support local businesses and to create a critical population mass. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 14 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
 
 
3.3 Goals 

The following are the planning goals for the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan: 

.1 LAND USE: 

Provide a new focus on medium density housing and mixed-use development in the 
Town Centre while recognizing existing commercial areas. Tourist Commercial 
development (e.g. hotels) is also encouraged on certain key sites.   

.2 PLACE MAGNET AND IDENTITY:  

Provide a physical definition for a proposed main attractor (‘Place Magnet’) that will 
help create a distinctive sense of place and identity for the Town Centre, attracting 
locals and visitors to the area to spend time and money. 

.3 URBAN DESIGN:  

Provide Development Permit Area design guidelines for the form and character of 
Medium Density Residential, Mixed Use, and Commercial Development and help to 
define the physical improvements/design details that will support the Town Centre 
evolving over time to what it aspires to be. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 15 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

.4 IMPLEMENTATION:  

The Plan provides direction on implementation, helping to identify how the Plan 
vision can be realized and what players need to act in concert to move the Town 
Centre towards its vision. 

 
  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 16 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
3.4  Recommendations 

Recommendation No. 1: Town Centre Objectives and Policies 

It is a recommendation of this Plan that a new Town Centre section be introduced into 
the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan (OCP) Bylaw No. 2603, 2013, that could 
read as follows: 

12.0 Town Centre 
The Okanagan Falls Town Centre is a relatively diverse, mixed-use area that is valued 
by residents and serves as an important business, service and recreational area. It 
accommodates a range of commercial and institutional uses as well as some 
residential uses within the broader commercial area of Okanagan Falls found adjacent 
Highway 97. 

The Town Centre area includes Seventh and Eighth Avenues between between Skaha 
Lake to the north and Highway 97 to the south and is bounded by the Okanagan River 
bridge to the west and Main Street to the east.  The area includes a significant number 
of underutilized properties, including vacant parcels along Highway 97. 

Okanagan Falls is designated as a Primary Growth Area under the South Okanagan 
Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw and is the only urban town centre in Electoral Area 
“D-2”. The Town Centre reinforces that commitment by focusing medium density 
residential growth in the Town Centre area. Encouraging residential growth in the 
Okanagan Falls Town Centre will promote a more compact urban form and a more 
complete community. It will also increase support for local businesses in the Town 
Centre. 

Commercial services are key components of a more sustainable, complete Town 
Centre and residents have expressed a strong desire for an increase in the amount and 
diversity of shopping, dining, entertainment, and employment opportunities in the 
Okanagan Falls Town Centre area. There is also a desire for a more attractive, safe and 
walkable Town Centre.  At the same time, there is a limited market for local 
commercial services.  

To meet these objectives, the Town Centre designation includes a strong emphasis on 
encouraging commercial, tourist commercial, mixed-use commercial, and medium 
density residential development north of Highway 97 (as shown on Figure 2: Future 
Land Use).  The Town Centre area has sufficient capacity to accommodate a sustained 
growth rate for the next 20 years and supports up to 300+ additional medium density 
residential units. 
 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 17 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
 
12.1 Objectives - General 

.1 To encourage a wide range of residential development in Okanagan Falls 
Town Centre. 

.2 To recognize Okanagan Falls Town Centre as the centre for commercial 
development, and to support economic development activities, 
revitalization efforts, and design guidelines that promote a lively and 
harmonious built environment.  

.3 To respond to local residents’ desire for an increase in the amount and 
diversity of shopping, dining, entertainment and employment 
opportunities in the Town Centre. 

.4 To create an attractive and more walkable Okanagan Falls Town Centre 
community. 

.5 To optimize opportunities to attract visitors to the Town Centre. 
 

12.2 Policies – General 

The Regional Board: 

.1 Supports reorienting the Town Centre away from Highway 97 and towards 
the lakefront, to take full advantage of this underutilized natural asset.  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 18 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

.2 Supports new development being oriented on the north-south axis rather 
than the east-west axis, to maximise views and physical access towards the 
lake. 

.3 Supports a focus on medium density housing and mixed-use development 
in the Town Centre while recognizing existing residential and commercial 
development areas outside the Town Centre. 

.4 Supports development of a proposed main attractor (the ‘Place Magnet’, 
with proposed location shown on Figure 3: Public Realm Concept) that will 
help create a distinctive sense of place and identity for the Town Centre, 
and attract locals and visitors to the area.  

 

 
 

12.3 Objectives - Medium Density Residential  

.1 To encourage a range of residential dwelling types (including affordable 
units) and sizes in the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan area in order to 
accommodate and attract people of different socio-economic groups, ages 
and lifestyles. 

.2 To encourage Medium Density Residential developments in the Town 
Centre area. 

.3 To maintain, increase and enhance public views towards, and public access 
to, the lakefront. 

.4 To require quality subdivision design, site development, building design, 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 19 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

landscaping and public realm/streetscape design for all residential 
developments in the Town Centre Plan area.  

 
12.4  Policies - Medium Density Residential 

The Regional Board: 

.1 Generally supports Medium Density Residential such as triplex, fourplex, 
townhouse and multi-family dwelling units in the “Mixed-Use Commercial 
/ Medium Density Residential” lands identified in Figure 2 Future Land Use. 

.2 Encourages Medium Density Residential development to be directed into 
the Town Centre Plan area. 

.3 May support residential densities higher than 75 units per hectare where 
a high standard of architectural design and public amenity is proposed. 

.4 Supports the establishment of objectives for the form and character of 
commercial and medium density residential development through the 
designation of an Okanagan Falls Town Centre Development Permit Area 
in order to promote a well-designed and harmonious built environment. 

.5 Encourages the following types of special needs housing:  

a) seniors housing; 

b) group homes;  

c) affordable housing; and 

d) community care housing. 
 

12.5 Objectives - Commercial (General, Tourist & Mixed-Use)  

1. To create a resilient and diverse commercial base in the Town Centre that 
attracts investment, expands and enhances economic partnerships, and 
supports a long-term commitment to sustainable economic development.  

2. To ensure that commercial developments in the Town Centre contribute to 
a unique sense of place and identity, and are sited, scaled and designed to 
enhance and complement the existing natural setting and views towards 
the lake. 

3. To attract and retain an appropriate range of general commercial uses in 
the Okanagan Falls Town Centre to meet the needs of local residents. 

4. To attract and retain an appropriate range of tourist commercial uses in 
the Okanagan Falls Town Centre to encourage more tourists to stop in and 
explore the Town Centre and lakefront. 

 
12.6 Policies - Commercial (General, Tourist & Mixed-Use)  

The Regional Board: 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 20 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

.1 Supports a range of commercial uses on the lands designated in this Town 
Centre Plan that support a vibrant Town Centre and tourist sector.  

.2 Encourages, but does not mandate or require, ground floor commercial 
uses on the lands designated “Mixed-Use Commercial/ Medium Density 
Residential” in this Town Centre Plan (Figure 2 Future Land Use Map). 

.3 Supports focusing initial commercial revitalization efforts on the site 
designated as the future ‘Place Magnet’ as shown on Figure 3: Public Realm 
Concept, to attract visitors and passing tourists into the Town Centre, and 
to encourage new investment.  

.4 Designates the Okanagan Falls Town Centre area as a Town Centre 
Development Permit Area (DPA) and affirms that the associated DPA 
design guidelines shall be applied to all new commercial and mixed use 
development in this area in order to promote a well-designed and 
harmonious built environment, and to protect public views and access to 
the lakefront. 

.5 Supports re-zoning  land to Tourism Commercial in those locations 
specified as such in the Town Centre Plan (Figure 2: Future Land Use), 
provided all such new development shall be subject to the DPA design 
guidelines for new commercial development in this area.  

 
12.7    Transportation - Objectives 

.1 To provide continuous public access along the Skaha Lake waterfront. 

.2 To improve access to, from, and across Highway 97 to the waterfront. 

.3 To develop a travel network that reduces walking distances and increases 
circulation options. 

.4 To provide a pedestrian-oriented street network. 

.5 To accommodate parking to support travel to the Town Centre. 
 

12.8 Transportation - Policies 

The Regional Board: 

.1 Encourages developers to upgrade the road network in the Town Centre 
as per the following street cross sections: 

 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 21 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
 
 

Recommendation No. 2: Town Centre Map Designation 

It is a recommendation of this Plan that a new Town Centre (TC) designation be applied 
to those properties shown on Figure 4 of this report under Schedule ‘B’ (Official 
Community Plan Map) of the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan (OCP) Bylaw 
No. 2603, 2013. 

 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 22 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

Recommendation No. 3: Town Centre Development Permit Area 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre is designated as the primary growth area in Electoral Area 
“D-2”, and it is the only urban town centre in the electoral area. As such, this area 
requires its own Development Permit Area, in order to ensure that the design of new 
developments in the Town Centre is consistent with the goals, objectives and policies 
for the area. The following design guidelines for this Development Permit Area are 
intended to ensure the desired form and character of new development in the Town 
Centre is consistent, of high-quality design, and respects the local context. 

The design guidelines also support and encourage new medium density residential uses 
in the Town Centre. They also are intended to support the emergence of a more 
pedestrian-friendly environment, in which the Town Centre is oriented to the north of 
Highway 97 and optimizes public access to and views of the Lake Skaha waterfront.  

These guidelines are intended to be sufficiently flexible to encourage the range of land 
uses envisaged for the Town Centre, as noted in Figure 2: Future Land Use Map. 

It is a recommendation of this Plan that a new Okanagan Falls Town Centre 
Development Permit be applied to those properties shown on Figure 4: Town Centre 
Development Permit Area of this report under Schedule ‘E’ (Form and Character 
Development Permit Areas) of the Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan (OCP) 
Bylaw No. 2603, 2013, that could read as follows: 

 

23.8 Okanagan Falls Town Centre Development Permit Area 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 23 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

23.8.1 Category 

The Okanagan Falls Town Centre Development Permit Area is designated under 
Section 488(1)(f) of the Local Government Act, for the establishment of 
objectives for the form and character of commercial and multi-family 
development. 

 
23.8.2 Area 

The areas designated within the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Development 
Permit Area are shown on Schedule ‘E’ (Form and Character Development 
Permit Areas). 

 
23.8.3 Justification 

The intent of this DPA area is to ensure consistent, high-quality design for all 
new developments in the Town Centre that respects the local context, supports 
the creation of a more pedestrian-friendly Town Centre, and optimizes views of 
and access to the lakefront. 

 
23.8.4 Background 

The Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan has emerged through a multi-phased 
planning and community engagement process. The RDOS engaged with the 
local community to identify issues and opportunities in the Town Centre, and to 
develop a shared vision for the future Town Centre. This vision included land 
use considerations, public realm enhancements, and transportation 
recommendations. 

The objective of the RDOS in undertaking this planning process was to help 
reverse the economic fortunes of Okanagan Falls Town Centre through 
development of a Town Centre Plan that outlines a land use plan, strategic 
public and private investments and partnerships, positive streetscape 
improvements and quality urban design that together will provide a distinctive 
sense of place and help guide the Town Centre towards becoming a more 
attractive, economically viable place to live, work, shop and recreate, for both 
local residents and visitors. 

 
23.8.5 Development requiring a permit 

A development permit is required, except where exempt under Section 23.8.7 
(Exemptions), for the construction of, addition to or alteration of a building or 
other structure on lands within the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Development 
Permit Area. 

 
23.8.6 Guidelines 

A Development Permit is required for all development within an Okanagan Falls 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 24 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

Town Centre Development Permit Area, and shall be in accordance with the 
following guidelines: 

1. General Guidelines (for all building types) 

a) Facade cladding materials such as vinyl siding, asphalt shingles, 
cultured stone, etc., are strongly discouraged. 

b) Building colours should be softer, muted colours such as beige, khaki, 
light brown, grey and similar, with smaller accent areas of brighter 
colours (e.g. around entrances, at key corners, etc.). 

c) Buildings should generally be sited with a north-south orientation and 
massed to present the slimmer or narrower elevation to the north and 
south sides wherever possible, in order to optimize sunlight 
penetration and optimize views and access towards the lake front 

 
d) Buildings should be designed to an appropriate scale to support and 

retain the ‘urban village’ feel of Okanagan Falls Town Centre. This can 
be achieved by breaking buildings down into smaller massing 
components to ensure appropriate scales for building elements. This 
could include such architectural devices as building setbacks above the 
ground floor; clear articulation of long frontages into multiple smaller 
bays; changes in cladding material; the use of architectural elements 
such as bay windows, recesses, pilasters, gables, dormers, balconies, 
etc. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 25 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
e) Buildings should generally terrace down in height towards the north 

(Skaha lakefront) to optimize views towards the lake and sunlight 
penetration. 

 
2. Built Form for Commercial Buildings 

a) New commercial buildings should have a pedestrian-oriented ground 
floor treatment, with a high level of transparency between the 
sidewalk and commercial/retail interiors, orienting windows to the 
sidewalk, varying building facades to create smaller scale retail store 
bays, recessed entrances, weather protection, and similar design 
features. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 26 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 

 
b) Retail uses should be oriented towards the adjacent public sidewalk or, 

in the case of the ‘Place Magnet’ site, towards the Civic Plaza. 

 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 27 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
c) All buildings with retail use at grade should include weather protection 

canopies and/or awnings. 

 
d) Store entrances should be recessed to provide 

an area that is covered and inviting to 
passersby. 

e) All ground floor commercial space should have 
a minimum floor-to-floor height of 4.5 metres 
to accommodate a wide range of retail/service 
uses and provide a generous scale for these 
uses. 

f) New commercial and/or mixed-use buildings 
should help to define the public realm with strong ‘streetwall’ edges 
that form a consistent setback along the street, or in the case of the 
‘Place Magnet’, frame the Civic Plaza on at least two sides. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 28 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

g) Commercial building street frontages should be divided into small-
scale, individually expressed storefronts, with a preferred individual 
store frontage width of 7.6 metres and a maximum individual store 
frontage width of 15.0 metres. 

 
h) Where a single, larger format commercial use exceeds a frontage 

width of 15.0 metres, the principal street frontage should be lined with 
smaller individual commercial retail units (CRUs) that screen this larger 
commercial use, with a narrower portion of the main use visible to the 
street. 

 
i) Active commercial street level uses are strongly encouraged in the 

Town Centre. Buildings with commercial retail uses at grade should 
have active, visible uses along the street, and a high degree of 
permeability. Use of large windows, glazed entryways, roll-up and/or 
foldaway doors and similar elements to facilitate visibility between the 
sidewalk and the interior of the building, are encouraged. Blank 
facades and visible blank sidewalls should be avoided and are strongly 
discouraged. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 29 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
j) Longer building facades should be designed in a way that breaks down 

the facade massing to create the visual impression of smaller 
commercial units, by using recesses, courtyards, corner setbacks, and 
so on. 

 
k) Commercial and mixed-use building signage, pedestrian lighting and 

weather protection should be integrated into the building design from 
the outset, and not be treated as add-ons.   

 
l) Mixed-use buildings with commercial uses at grade and residential 

above are encouraged to step back the upper floors a minimum of 2.0 
metres above the ground floor. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 30 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
m) On corner sites, buildings should have street-facing facades on both 

streets. Active retail frontages should be oriented towards both 
streets.  

n) On corner sites, commercial buildings should be designed to have 
prominent entrances that are oriented either to the corner itself or to 
the north-south street (e.g. Cedar Street, Main Street).  

 
o) Encourage built form massing that announces and celebrates key 

visible corners, through the use of such architectural elements as 
curved corners, recessed corner plazas, bay windows, taller building 
elements at the corner, etc. 

 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 31 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

3. Built Form for Residential Buildings 

a) The building form and façades of medium density residential buildings 
should be articulated with variations in massing, materials and 
detailing to reduce the impacts of building scale on the surrounding 
area. The use of residential design elements such as front porches, 
verandas, raised front stairs, window and door detailing, sloped and 
varied roof lines are encouraged, to provide interest and a finer scale 
while blending into the existing area. 

 
b) The ground floor of all medium density residential buildings should be 

raised a minimum of 0.6 m above adjacent grade to create a clear 
separation of public and private space, with raised front porches or 
stoops for all ground floor units. 

 
c) All ground-oriented residential units facing a street should have a 

street orientation, including individual unit entrances facing the street.  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 32 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
d) Medium density developments should be sensitive to the existing 

residential context. The use of residential character elements typically 
associated with detached homes, such as gables, dormers, balconies, 
bay windows and varied rooflines, are encouraged. Monotonous, 
monolithic building forms and rooflines should be avoided. 

 
e) Medium density residential buildings greater than three storeys in 

height should have the fourth and any higher floors stepped back a 
minimum of 2.1 metres to reduce the apparent building height and 
bulk. 

 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 33 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

4. Access and Parking (for all building types) 

a) New development shall provide safe and efficient vehicle entrances, 
exits and site circulation. 

b) Sites should be designed to accommodate alternative modes of 
transportation, with provisions made for such features as pedestrian 
sidewalks and pathways, bicycle lanes, and bicycle parking racks on the 
site. Pedestrian routes/networks on a site should link with pedestrian 
networks off the site.  

c) On-site surface parking should be located to the rear of the building 
wherever possible. On-site surface parking is not allowed between the 
front face of a building and the adjacent street.  

 

 
d) Large surface parking areas should be broken into smaller sections that 

are screened and shaded with landscaping. Site distances at parking 
area aisle intersections must be preserved to ensure safety of vehicles 
and pedestrians.  

e) Onsite roadways, driveways and parking lots should be designed to 
allow for access by fire fighting vehicles and equipment.  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 34 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

5. Screening and Landscaping (for all building types) 

a) Sites should be provided with screening in the form of walls, 
decorative fencing, hedging, planting, other screening materials in the 
following areas:  

i) around outdoor storage areas, waste containers, heating and 
cooling equipment, and other service areas; and  

ii) between the rear of commercial portions of a building and any 
adjacent residential area.  

b) All sites should be provided with landscaping:  

i) between parking areas and roadways; and  

ii) between adjacent buildings and parking areas. 

c) Landscaping plans prepared by a landscape professional will be 
required, with landscaping densities as provided in the current Zoning 
Bylaw.  

d) Landscaping comprised of plant material that is drought tolerant and 
indigenous is encouraged.  

e) Landscaped areas, and setback areas adjacent to streets and 
boulevards should be planted with boulevard trees and a combination 
of shrubs, perennials and groundcover with mulch to conserve water 
and discourage weed growth.  

f) Landscaped areas should include an underground irrigation system, 
which should be programmed to maximize efficient water use.  

g) Any existing mature trees or remnant ecosystems that enhance 
ecological functioning of the urban environment should be 
incorporated into the site design wherever possible. 

 
23.8.7  Exemptions 

A Development Permit is not required under this section for any of the 
following:  

1. Routine building repairs / maintenance including new roof, residing, re-
stuccoing, window and door replacement.  

2. Internal renovations. 

3. Installation of canopies, awnings or signs.  

4. Building Code and safety requirements and upgrades such as the 
installation of fire protection systems, installation of fire exits, construction 
of ramps for persons with disabilities, etc.  

  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 35 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 

Recommendation No. 4: Town Centre Parks, Recreation and Trails Objectives & Policies 

It is a recommendation of this Plan that Section 15.0 (Parks Recreation and Trails) of the 
Electoral Area “D-2” Official Community Plan (OCP) Bylaw No. 2603, 2013, be amended 
to include the following policies and objectives: 

Parks, Recreation and Trails – Town Centre 

Parks, trails and recreational facilities are essential components for healthy and active 
urban communities. Residents of Okanagan Falls Town Centre have access to a range 
of park and recreational amenities. Skaha Lake beach and waterfront access, Okanagan 
River waterfront access, waterfront parks, playgrounds and access to the Kettle Valley 
Railway (KVR) Trail are some of the many features that make Okanagan Falls Town 
Centre an enjoyable and livable place to live.  

This Plan supports the desire amongst local residents to see the existing Town Centre 
parks, recreation facilities and trails maintained and extended or enhanced. The 
community has expressed strong support for uninterrupted, continuous public access 
to the Skaha Lake waterfront between the Okanagan River and Main Street, linking 
Lions Park, Kenyon Park and Christie Memorial Park. These parks are operated by the 
Okanagan Falls Parks and Recreation Commission, and this Plan supports the P&RC’s 
parks master planning goals and process. 
 
Objectives 

1. To plan and implement a well-integrated and linked system of parks, trails and 
associated recreational facilities that serve a range of purposes, from active 
recreation, to passive enjoyment, to education and conservation.  

2. To provide continuous, uninterrupted public access linkages to the Skaha Lake 
waterfront between the Okanagan River and Main Street (as shown in Figure 3: 
Public Realm Concept).  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 36 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
3. To recognize the importance of the Kettle Valley Railway Trail by supporting 

programs that enhance or expand its local and regional significance. 

4. To support a finer-grained network of pedestrian-friendly routes, greenways and 
streets that connect the future Town Centre to the surrounding area comfortably, 
safely and conveniently. 

5. To support proposed pedestrian network safety improvements including 
intersection improvements across Highway 97. 

 
Policies 

The Regional Board:  

1. Supports the following uses in areas designated as a park (as shown on Figure 3: 
Public Realm Concept): beaches, lakeside parks, playing fields, passive parks, 
natural parks, and habitat corridors/areas. 

2. May require the dedication of land corridors across development sites where 
proposed pedestrian routes are identified in this Plan, in accordance with the Local 
Government Act. 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 37 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 
3. Will continue to seek public access across privately owned waterfront properties 

facing Skaha Lake. 

4. Will seek a partner(s) to develop a ‘Place Magnet’ activity node that includes a 
new civic plaza surrounded by active uses on the site. This development could 
include uses such as tourist-oriented services, restaurant/café, and a wine centre. 

 
5. Will continue to seek MoTI approval and support for a fully signalized, four-way 

traffic light at the intersection of Cedar Street and Highway 97 including 
pedestrian crosswalks, and for new sidewalks and landscaping along Cedar Street, 
Seventh Avenue, Eighth Avenue and Main Street. 

6. Supports extending the Kettle Valley Railway (KVR) walking and cycling trail 
through the Town Centre. 

 

  



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 38 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

4.0 Implementation  
 
4.1  Follow-up Studies and Initiatives 

The following are follow-up studies and initiatives that have been identified in the 
Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan as required actions by the RDOS to implement 
portions of the Plan: 

.1 Official Community Plan Bylaw 

The proposed introduction of a new Town Centre (TC) designation to the Electoral 
Area “D-2” OCP Bylaw will require a review of the existing objectives and policies 
contained within the Commercial (C) designation that currently applies to the study 
area. 

Similarly, the introduction of a new Okanagan Falls Town Centre Development 
Permit Area designation may require a review of the existing Okanagan Falls 
Commercial Development Permit Area designation that currently applies to the 
study area. 

.2 Zoning Bylaw 

A review of the Okanagan Falls Town Centre (C4) Zone should be undertaken in 
order to ensure consistency with the objectives and policies of the Town Centre (TC) 
designation under the OCP Bylaw (i.e. allow medium density residential 
development in those areas identified on Figure 2: Future Land Use).   

This should also include a review of those lands currently zoned Okanagan Falls 
Town Centre (C4) outside of the proposed Town Centre (TC) designation and the 
establishment of an alternate zoning(s). 

.3 Public Access Design Guidelines  

Preparation of public access design guidelines for foreshore areas along the length 
of Skaha Lake waterfront in the Town Centre.  

.4 Transportation Plan  

Finalize the Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Transportation Impact Analysis and 
work with the MoTI to secure its support for the Town Centre Plan. 

Consideration of the recommendations contained within Okanagan Falls Town 
Centre Street Network Plan, Town Centre street cross-sections, and the Walking & 
Cycling Network Plan should also be undertaken. 

.5 Commercial Moorage Facility  

Undertake a technical study to determine the feasibility and optimum location of a 
commercial water vessel moorage facility in Skaha Lake within the Town Centre 
area. 

.6 Place Magnet Project 



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 39 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

Work with the proposed property landowner and potential investors/development 
partners to implement and facilitate the ‘Place Magnet’ project as proposed in the 
Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan.



 
 

Okanagan Falls Town Centre Plan Page 40 of 40 
Phase 3 Report (September 2017)  

 













































REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
Community Services Committee 

Thursday, October 19, 2017 
9:45 a.m. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION 1
THAT the Agenda for the Community Services Committee Meeting of October 19, 2017
be adopted.

B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT – For Information Only [Page 77]

C. COMMUNITY HERITAGE REGISTER – SEE YA LATER RANCH BARN [Page 79]
1. Statement of Significance [Page 80]
2. Supporting Documentation [Page 82] 

To provide as information on the heritage value of See Ya Later Ranch Barn, for future 
nomination to the RDOS Community Heritage Register. 

RECOMMENDATION 2 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)   
THAT the Committee recommend the Board of Directors support the nomination of 
See Ya Later Ranch Barn for inclusion on the RDOS Community Heritage Register.  

D. ADJOURNMENT



https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/boardreports/2017/20171019/communityservices/b. q3activity_report.docx      
Page 1 of 2 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  

 

TO: Community Services Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Third Quarter Activity Report – For Information Only 

 
COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
Parks, Recreation, Heritage, Culture, Transit and Rural Projects 
 
Activities Completed for Q3 2017 
 
Parks, Recreation and Trails 
· Completed the KVR trail resurface project from Road 21 to Osoyoos Lake 
· Awarded contract for design and installation of the Road 22 KVR trail boardwalk  
· Facilitated the Wharf Park - First Street Closure public open house  
· Completed Phase 1 of the Heritage Hills Park development plan – grading, seeding 
· Completed Canada 150 grant tree installations at Kaleden and Naramata 
· Started major irrigation repairs and pump replacement for Kobau Park (Cawston)  
· Carried out the Okanagan Falls and Kaleden Spring Recreation Program – over 380 participants 
· Awarded Plan H Grant (BC Healthy Communities) for Regional Approach to Recreation ($98,010) 
· Developed a new Fall Recreation Program Guide for Ok Falls, Kaleden, Naramata and West Bench  
· Completed the installation and training for the recreation program registration software 
· Official Heritage Hills Park opening celebration supported by the Community Foundations grant 
· Integrated the Okanagan Falls and Kaleden Parks and Recreation websites to RDOS Content 

Management Software (CMS) 
· Facility rentals for Ok Falls and Kaleden generated over $11,400 in revenue 
· Summer Park maintenance program  
· 2018 project planning and budget meetings with Parks and Recreation Commissions  
· Worked with School District 67 to establish a School Use agreement with West Bench Elementary 
 
Electoral Area “D” Community Service Office 
· Working on initiatives related to Regional Recreation Approach 
· Operated Visitor Centre (May 15 – Oct. 15) and assisted with greeting tourists 
· Assist Heritage Hills with Community Gaming – Capital Grant for park development 
 
Transit, Heritage and Culture 
· Continued engagement with Town of Princeton regarding RDOS contribution agreements to 

Princeton transit service 
· Presented transit expansion MOU for spare bus for Board endorsement 
· Implemented 2017 expansion of Friday service between Osoyoos and Penticton 
· Completed transit infrastructure survey 
· Continued research and development of Statements of Significance for heritage sites in Areas “B”, 

“D”, “F”, and “G” 
· Presented Grace Hedley Church for successful nomination to the Community Heritage Register 

 



https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/boardreports/2017/20171019/communityservices/b. q3activity_report.docx      
Page 2 of 2 

 

· Assisted Osoyoos Museum Society with supporting documentation towards grant application 
· Submitted improved Fairview Heritage Townsite Society Site Management Plan to FLNRO, towards 

completion of License of Occupation application 
 
Planned Activities for Q4 2017 
 
Parks, Recreation and Trails 
· Commence construction of KVR trail Boardwalk at Rd 22 
· Complete pump replacement and irrigation repairs at Kobau Park (Cawston) 
· Install bench concrete pads at Osoyoos Lake Park 
· Online Public Consultation for Wharf Park First Street road closure Naramata 
· Finalize Creek Park land acquisition, commence subdivision and re-zoning application (Naramata) 
· Similkameen Rail-Trail along Hwy 97 – Keremeos and Cawston 
· Install ‘Aster’ interpretive signage in Christie Memorial Park in accordance with FLNRO agreement 
· Continue with the KVR/Okanagan River Channel trail development planning for Areas A&C 
· Coordinate ‘Sing for your Life’ in partnership with the United Church (Okanagan Falls) 
· Create a Regional Recreation website and post Regional Recreation Storybook and newsletters  
· Develop recreation guide for Winter Recreation Ok Falls and Kaleden programs 
· Coordinate the Fall Special events and programs in Ok Falls and Kaleden 
 
Rural Projects 
· Present a draft donation policy to Board 
· Continue discussions with Princeton on the Area “H” Recreation Contribution Agreement 
 
Area “D” Community Service Office 
· Assist with Regional Recreation facility mapping and creation of a GIS Storybook 
· Form Task Force for Regional Approach to Recreation 
· Award contract for an engineered feasibility study for McLean Creek pedestrian pathway 
 
Transit, Heritage and Culture 
· Complete the sub-license agreement between Granite Creek Preservation Society and RDOS 
· Design interpretive signage for Granite Creek Townsite and Cemetery 
· Continue updating Community Heritage Register to coincide with BC Registry of Historic Places 
· Confirm terms of collaboration agreement with the South Okanagan Naturalists Club towards 

development of natural heritage aspect of the Heritage program 
· Present See Ya Later Ranch Barn to Committee for future nomination to the Community Heritage 

Register 
 
Respectfully submitted: 

 
____________________________________ 
M. Woods, Manager of Community Services 
 

 



 

  

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Community Services Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Community Heritage Register – See Ya Later Ranch Barn 
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
 
THAT the Committee recommend the Board support the nomination of See Ya Later Ranch Barn for 
inclusion on the RDOS Community Heritage Register.  
   
Purpose: 
To provide as information the Statement of Significance of See Ya Later Ranch Barn, for future nomination 
to the RDOS Community Heritage Register. 
  
Reference: 

· Statement of Significance for See Ya Later Ranch Barn 
· Supporting Documentation 

 
Business Plan Objective: KSD #3 Goal 3.1: To Develop a Socially Sustainable Community 
 
Overview:  
The 2015 RDOS Heritage Strategic Plan outlined the objectives of the Regional Heritage Program to 
increase recognition and awareness of heritage sites and support community groups in their ongoing 
heritage conservation activities.   
 
Staff are holding heritage workshops in which community members identify potential heritage sites while 
articulating their heritage value. Once a statement of significance is complete with supporting 
documentation, the nomination is then forwarded for Board consideration on whether to include the site 
within the RDOS Community Heritage Register.  
 
As an outcome of a heritage workshop held at the Grist Mill in April of 2017, See Ya Later Ranch Barn was 
selected for nomination to the Community Heritage Register. Aesthetic and social heritage values have 
been associated with the site, as outlined in the attached Statement of Significance. 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
Candice Gartner                 
 
C. Gartner, Rural Projects Coordinator 

 



CHARACTER-DEFINING ELEMENTS 
 
• Iconic gambrel roof;  
• Vernacular two story barn building; 
• Situated within original farmstead;
• Original hay-moving equipment onsite;
• Many original building features, including                   
 windows, sliding access doors, and mill  
 work;
• Association of site with prominent pio-  
 neer family of Major Hugh Fraser; and 
• Retains association with ranch’s farm   
 house located to the east.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
See Ya Later Ranch Barn

DESCRIPTION OF HISTORIC PLACE  
        
 Th e See Ya Later Ranch barn, located at 2563 
Green Lake Road, Okanagan Falls, was built c1932 
for Hugh Fraser as part of general farming opera-
tions on what was, essentially, a mixed farming site 
that included cattle, horses and other livestock, and 
a small orchard. Beginning in the early 1960s, that 
farming complex began to include commercial scale 
grape growing and later, wine making.  While the 
barn was a valuable farm asset, there is some indica-
tion that Fraser also had the barn built to help pro-
vide work for local neighbours in the early years of 
the Great Depression. Part of the site’s photographic 
record indicates that there was, in fact, a barn on 
this site as early as 1918.
 
While the ranchland was originally purchased from 
Sam and George Hawthorne in 1921, Major Hugh 
Fraser had the longest tenure on the See Ya Later 
Ranch. Over those decades and until his death in 
1970, Fraser enlivened the social setting in the south 
Okanagan through his involvement in and/or sup-
port of the Penticton Museum, the SPCA, golf, the 
Red Cross, and other community groups. In addi-
tion, the ranch itself was seen locally as a social 

hub where Fraser hosted gatherings, visiting digni-
taries, and royalty – including King George VI and 
his entourage in 1939. Other visitors included Lord 
and Lady Bessborough and the Earl and Countess of 
Staff ord.

Th e building itself, measuring roughly 7.3m X 
17.7m, is oriented squarely north/south, and is a 
valuable example of a vernacular barn common-
ly found across many pioneer farming settings. 
Over its years of use, the building appears to have 
changed little. Outwardly, it retains the two shed 
dormer windows built into the lower pitch of the 
east-facing roof. Interestingly, there are eight win-
dows on the west wall of the barn and only seven 
windows on the darker east (upslope) wall. Th e two 
cupola vents on the apex of the roofl ine also remain 
intact. Internally, both the main fl oor and the upper 
full loft  are open, though the main fl oor does have 
eight posts supporting the loft ’s joist system. A num-
ber of these posts have been moved or altered over 
the years to accommodate the changing needs of the 
ranch or winery operations.



HERITAGE VALUES

Th e See Ya Later Ranch Barn holds aesthetic value for its 
unique architectural features, characteristic of many pioneer 
farm structures of its time. Much of the building remains in 
its original form, having undergone limited renovations.  Th e 
barn also imbues social values of the previous owner, Hugh 
Fraser, evident in his contributions to the community, and 
the barn having served as a hub of social activity. 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
1. No date, History of Major Hugh Fraser and See Ya Later Ranch
2. 1914, Attestation Paper of Hugh Fraser 
3. No date: Major Hugh Fraser Back From Overseas: Treated Well  
   in Two German Camps, Poorly in Others.
4. No date, Was 23 Months in German Camps: Captain H.M. Fras 
   er Repatriated; Now in Holland
5. 1918, Personal note written by King George V to Major Hugh   
   Fraser.
6. Year Unknown Story of Okanagan Falls: Horse and Cattle   
   Brands in the Okanagan Falls District
7. Marriage Invitation of Lillian Phyllis Williams and Mr. Hugh   
   Neil Fraser
8. Photo of King George VI and Queen Elizabeth, (and possibly)   
   Lord and Lady Bessborough served as Governor General of   
   Canada 1931-1935.
9. 1940, January 25. J.B.Fraser Leaves Estate $2,935,869 the Ottawa  
   Journal.
10. 1940, January 27. Even Legacy of $1,361,000 No Inducement to  
   Marry. Boston Herald, Boston, Massachusetts.
11. 1961, April 17. Grower’s Agreement between Andre’s Wines Ltd.  
   and A.K.W. Fraser, Okanagan Falls, B.C. 
12. 1970, October 14. Maj.Hugh Fraser Rites On Friday. Source   
   Unkown, Vol. LIX. - No. 239.
13. 1995, Winery License, Le Comte Estate Winery Ltd. Ministry of  
   Attorney General, Province of British Columbia.





























REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
Corporate Services Committee 

Thursday, October 19, 2017 
10:00 a.m. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION 1
THAT the Agenda for the Corporate Services Committee Meeting of October 19, 2017
be adopted.

B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT – For Information Only [Page 96]

C. Q3 CORPORATE PLAN – For Information Only [Page 99]

D. Q3 BUDGET VARIANCE ANALYSIS REPORT – For Information Only [Page 115]

E. ADJOURNMENT



https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/boardreports/2017/20171019/corporateservices/b. q3activityreport.docx
 File No: Page 1 of 3 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  

 

TO: Corporate Services Committee 
  
FROM: Bill Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Third Quarter Activity Report – For Information Only 

 
1.0 OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER/LEGISLATIVE SERVICES 

 
2017 Q3 Completed Activities 
· Commenced planning for the 2017 UBCM Conference. 
o Arranged Minister meetings. 
o Developed Briefing Notes. 

· Analysis of service/ financial impacts/ public engagement process for Area “D” division 
· Commenced review of fire department establishment bylaws. 
· Reviewed and presented findings of citizen survey. 
· Recruited and oriented Conservation Fund Technical Advisory Committee. 
· Advertised and received Request for Proposals for Conservation Fund submissions. 
· Amended Liquor Control Policy. 
· Introduced Video Surveillance Policy. 
· Conducted Privacy Impact Assessment on Naramata Water/Fire Video initiatives. 
· Conducted Privacy Impact Assessment on BookKing Recreation Software. 
· Draft amendments to Board Procedure bylaw for Legislative Workshop. 
· Conducted formal petition process for potential Upper Carmi fire protection service. 
· Continued development of Business Continuity Plan for 101 Martin Street. 
· Hosted public engagement events in Area “C” (2) and Area “D”. 

 
2017 Q4 Planned Activities 
· Bring forward amended Fire Department Establishment Bylaws. 
· Finalize Business Continuity Plan for 101 Martin Street. 
· Facilitate RDOS/FN meetings. 
· Host public engagement events in Area “B” and Area “A”. 
· Organize Legislative Workshop. 
· Commence planning for Board remuneration review. 
· Introduce amendments to Board procedure bylaw. 
· Introduce Election Officials compensation policy. 
· Organize ValleyWide CAO meeting. 
 
 
 
 



https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/boardreports/2017/20171019/corporateservices/b. q3activityreport.docx
 File No: Page 2 of 3 
 

2.0 INFORMATION SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

2017 Q3 – Completed Activities 
· Electronic Document Management System (EDMS) 

o Set up EDMS in current environment (SharePoint 2016) and test process for moving content to 
new environment 

o Ensure required functionality is in the new environment 
· Quality control of updated orthos and DEMs (Digital Elevation Models) for RDOS landfills and 

Dams in Naramata area 
· Upgrade of Questica (Finance budgeting) software 
· Work on setting up a central SCADA (Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition) platform on 

central server in RDOS so staff can view and manage water and sewer systems remotely 
· Report Enterprise Risk Management Plan for 2017 to the Board 
· Participate in building business continuity plan 
· Organize administrative workshop #1/ interdependency workshop for the Strategic Plan 
· Participate in Shared Services IT pilot project with Penticton, Summerland and SD67  
 
2017 Q4 – Planned Activities 
· Research moving public internet mapping applications to the cloud 
· Electronic Document Management System (EDMS) 

o Move production environment to new (SharePoint 2016)  
o Continue progress supporting PW’s, HR and Finance using EDMS  

· Set up new (Storage Area Network) device 
o Start process of moving content to new SAN 

· Quality control of updated orthos and DEMs (Digital Elevation Models) for RDOS landfills and 
Dams in Naramata area 

· Add new orthos (aerial photos) to GIS mapping apps 
· Upgrade GIS software to current version 
· Work on new Wellness Points tracker 
· Participate in PIA (Privacy Impact Assessments) for some of our applications 
· Participate in building business continuity plan 
· Organize administrative workshop # and Board workshop for the Strategic Plan 
· Participate in Shared Services IT pilot project with Penticton, Summerland and SD67  
· Build translator for new format (XML) of BC Assessment data 
· Continue work moving backup virtual server to off-site location 
 
3. FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

 
2017 Q3 Completed Activities 
· Commenced 2018 Budget 
· Provided Board updates on 2017 Budget to actual status for Q2 
· Purchasing Policy Review/New Disposal of Assets Policy underway 
· Conducted RFP for 2017 audit 
· Created audit work plan for internal recreation facilities audit  
· Vadim upgrades complete and implemented in the Finance Department 
· Investigated and implemented custom variance reports in Questica budgeting software 



https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/boardreports/2017/20171019/corporateservices/b. q3activityreport.docx
 File No: Page 3 of 3 
 

· Transitioned 2018 Budget to EDMS 
· Electronic distribution of Accounts Payable initiated 
· Revised and circulated 2018 Budget Guidelines including an Introduction of performance 

measurement as a budget reporting tool 
· Provided Questica training to users 
 
2017 Q4 Planned Activities 
· Utilize electronic functionality to upload corporate credit card purchase data 
· Year end working papers in EDMS 
· Implement process for service provider contract vs employee 
· Complete Purchasing Policy and Disposal of Assets Policy – take to Board for approval 
· Select Auditors for 2017 yearend 
· Audit 2 recreation facilities 
· Prepare for the 2017 Interim Audit 
· Complete 2018 Budget workshops 
 
4.0 HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 

 
2017 Q3 Completed Activities 
· Subdivision Referral Process Kaizen complete 
· WorkSafeBC statistics for Classification Unit Average were finalized.  RDOS fell above the industry 

average of 3.7 at a ranking of 5.5 
· One Administrative Directive was reviewed and updated  
· High Performance & Innovation Committee (HPIC) plan implementation underway 
· Transferring of files to EDMS continues 
· Continuing to update Safe Work Procedures – on track to meet 2017 goal  
· WHMIS training program researched, selected and installed 
· Continued to provide HR assistance to external departments as required.  
 
2017 Q4 Planned Activities 
· Complete the Building Inspection permit Kaizen 
· Conduct HPIC survey and meetings with all internal departments 
· Job Evaluation Process (JEP) maintenance review 
· Budget preparation for 2018 
· Coordination of 2017 Performance Evaluation process for all staff 
· Review and update one Administrative Directive 
· Continue the update of Safe Work Procedures (ongoing in 2018) 
· Finalize the 2017 Wellness Action Plan and complete Wellness Planning Session for 2018 
· Finalize the 2017 OH&S Action Plan and complete OH&S Planning Session for 2018 
· WHMIS training starts for all staff – must be complete by end of 2018 
· Move HR department files to EDMS (ongoing for 2018) 
  



   

2017 Corporate Action Plan 
 

Dashboard 
 

# Objective Status Points 
Available KSD Total Page 

1.1.1 By providing the Board with accurate, current financial 
information. 

 
5 15 3 

1.1.2 By being an effective local government  2  3 
1.2.1 By implementing the 2017 joint occupational health 

and safety action plan 
 

4  3 

1.2.2 By implementing the 2017 Wellness Action Plan.  1  4 
1.3.1 By developing and implementing an Organizational 

Development Plan 
 

3  4 

2.1.1 By promoting regional district facilities and services  6 20 4 
2.2.1 By developing and implementing a community 

relations program 
 

6  5 

2.3.1 By introducing a process of continuous improvement 
into the organization 

 
8  5 

3.1.1 By implementing the regional transit future plan  3 50 6 

3.1.2 By developing a regional fire service master plan  2  6 

3.1.3 By establishing a Naramata Fire Service Satellite Fire 
Hall 

 
2  

6 

3.1.4 By developing the Erris Volunteer Fire Department  3  7 

3.1.5 By implementing the regional trails program  5  7 

3.1.6 By implementing the 2017 Phase of the Parks Program  5  8 

3.1.7 By providing public recreational opportunities  2  8 

3.1.8 By constructing a pedestrian pathway in Okanagan 
Falls 

 
2  9 

3.1.9 Investigate energy options  1  9 
3.2.1 By developing an Asset Management Plan  3  9 
3.2.2 By updating the Naramata Water System 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
 2  

 9 

3.3.1 By commencing the Electoral Area “F” Official 
Community Plan review 

 2  
10 

3.3.2 By conducting a Bylaw Enforcement Policy Review.  2  10 
  



   

3.3.3 By completing a new Water Regulatory and 
Conservation Bylaw 

 4  
10 

3.3.4 By implementing the 2017 Phase of the Solid Waste 
Management Plan 

 7  
11 

3.3.5 By bringing Kaleden and Skaha Estates into the 
Okanagan Falls Waste Water Treatment System 

 3  
11 

3.3.6 By  constructing a wetlands filtration system for the 
Okanagan Falls Waste Water Treatment Plant 

 1  12 

3.3.7 Set out the Regional District responsibility for orphan 
dikes 

 1  12 

3.3.8 Establish a position around Uplands Water Storage  0  12 

4.1.1 By maintaining, evaluating and executing the Strategic 
Planning and Enterprise Risk Management Programs. 

 3 15 12 

4.2.1 By organizing government to government meetings  2  13 

4.2.2 By implementing the terms of the First Nations 
Protocol Agreement 

 2  13 

4.3.1 By assisting the Board to operate in an effective 
manner  3  

14 

4.3.2 By supporting a governance review for Electoral Area 
“D”  2  

14 

4.4.1 By ensuring all existing bylaws and policies are kept in 
a current and useful form and content.  5  

14 

  Total 100 100  
 
 
 
 

Progress Colour Key: 

No Issues GREEN 

Minor issue(s)   YELLOW            

Significant issue(s) RED 

 

For the full detail on each corporate 
objective refer to the appropriate # 
or page # in the document attached 
hereto. 



Page 1  

 

 

2017 Corporate Action Plan 
 

Q3 REPORT 

19 October 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Corporate Action Plan Adopted by the Board on 2 February 2017 
2017 Business Plan Adopted by the Board of Directors on 15 December 2016



Page 2  

Definitions: 
CAO  = Chief Administrative Officer 
MCS  = Manager of Community Services 
MDS  = Manager of Development Services 
MFS  = Manager of Financial Services 
MHR  = Manager of Human Resources 
MIS  = Manager of Information Systems 
MLS  = Manager of Legislative Services 
MPW  = Manager of Public Works 
  

Status Colour Key: 
Q1 – Black 
Q2 – Red 
Q3 -  Blue 
Q4 -  Green 



Page 3  

KSD 1  HIGH PERFORMING ORGANIZATION 
Goal 1.1 To Be a Fiscally Responsible Organization 
Objective 1.1.1 - By providing the Board with accurate, current financial information. 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
 

1.1.1.1 2 Develop a new document for the Board in the form of a 
Management Discussion and Analysis Report, including 
comparative metrics 

MFS Q4 · MFS reviewing templates 
· Research on Performance Metrics 

underway 
· New format available in 2018 

1.1.1.2 1 Receipt of an unqualified independent audit for 2016 MFS Q2 · Complete 

1.1.1.3 2 Meet Budget at the end of the year MFS Q4 · Variance Report presented to 
Committee 20 April, 20 July & 19 Oct.  

 

Objective 1.1.2 - By being an effective local government 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

 
1.1.2.1 1 Develop a  Business Continuity Plan for 101 Martin St MLS Q4 · In progress 

· In Progress 
1.1.2.2 1 Participate in the Shared Services Project with other regional 

local government/education entities 
MLS Q2 · Study complete 

· Pilot in progress 
· Complete 

 

Goal 1.2 To Be a Healthy and Safe Organization 
Objective 1.2.1  By implementing the 2017 joint occupational health and safety action plan 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
 

1.2.1.1 2 Develop a plan for the Safe Work procedures and implement 
the 2017 phase 

MHR Q4 · 2017 Plan complete and being 
implemented 

1.2.1.2 2 Keep the RDOS injury rate below the average for our 
classification unit (WorkSafeBC) 

MHR Q4 · Annual statistics arrive in July and 
RDOS exceeded the group 2017 avg. 

 



Page 4  

Objective 1.2.2  By implementing an employee wellness program 
 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
 

1.2.2.1 1 Implement the 2017 Phase of the Employee Wellness Action 
Plan 

MHR Q4 · In Progress 

 

Goal 1.3 To Cultivate a High Performing Organizational Culture 
Objective 1.3.1  By developing and implementing an Organizational Development Plan  

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
 

1.3.1.1 1 Update the Communications Plan and implement the 2017 
phase 

MLS Q2 · Communications & High Performance 
Committees consolidated.  2017 Plan 
focused on communications 

· Communications Committee merged 
with High Performance Nd Innovation 
Committee for 2017 

1.3.1.2 1 Organize All Staff Business Meeting with topic relevant to 
staff perception survey results. 

MHR Q2 · All-staff Business meeting held on 
April 26th  

· Agenda based on internal 
communication and corporate image 

1.3.1.3 1 Improved results on the 2017 Perception Survey over 2016 
Survey 

MHR Q2 · complete 
 

 

KSD 2   FOCUS ON THE CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE 
Goal 2.1 To Increase Public Awareness of RDOS Services 
Objective 2.1.1 -   By promoting regional district facilities and services 
 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN Status 
2.1.1.1 1 Promote Local Government Awareness Week  MLS Q4 · Completed in May 
2.1.1.2 2 Complete the 2017 citizen survey and develop a schedule 

for implementing recommendations 
MLS Q2 · Survey complete 

· Presented to Board August 2017  

2.1.1.3 1 Investigate setting up a “panel” for use as a rolling survey 
program 

MLS Q2 · Moved to Q4 

2.1.1.4 1 Improve communications by advertising in local community 
hot spots such as store bulletin boards and coffee shops  

MLS Q2 · In progress 
· Complete 

2.1.1.5 1 Continue weekly articles MLS Q1 · Complete 



Page 5  

 

Goal 2.2 To Foster Dynamic and Effective Community Relationships 
Objective 2.2.1  By developing and implementing a community relations program  
 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN Status 
2.2.1.1 2 Develop a community relations plan and implement the 

2017 phase   
MLS Q2 · Deferred to 2018 

 

2.2.1.2 2 Organize an open house, public meeting or tour in each 
electoral area. 

MLS Q4 · In Progress 

 

 

Goal 2.3 To Meet Public Needs Through the Provision and enhancement of Key Services 
Objective 2.3.1  By introducing a process of continuous improvement into the organization 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN Status 
 

2.3.1.1 2 Facilitate two Kaizens under the Lean Management 
Program 

MHR Q4 · Building Inspection and Subdivision 
process identified 

· Subdivision Referral \process 
complete in Q3 

2.3.1.2 1 Review RDOS Bylaws and Policies for relevancy and 
currency  

MLS Q4 · Non-Compliant Establishment Bylaws 
identified 

· Completed 2017 phase 

2.3.1.3 1 Conduct a “Lessons Learned” exercise at end of all projects 
and exit surveys for all departing staff 

SMT Q4 · In progress 
· Complete 

2.3.1.4 1 Implement the actions identified in the 2017 Request for 
Decision Kaizen 

MHR Q3 · Complete 

 
  



Page 6  

KSD 3 -  BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE REGION 
Goal 3.1 To Develop a Socially Sustainable Region 
Objective 3.1.1  By implementing the regional transit future plan 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN Status 
3.1.1.1 1 Develop an annual program under the Transit Future Plan 

and implement the 2017 phase 
MCS Q4 · Schedule and Fare consolidation 

complete 

3.1.1.2 1 Transfer operations of the South Okanagan Transit Service 
from the Town of Osoyoos to the RDOS 

MCS Q1 · Complete 

3.1.1.3 1 Develop a marketing program for existing services MCS Q2 · Complete 

 

Objective 3.1.2 -  By developing a regional fire service master plan 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN Status 
3.1.2.1 1 Present a Fire Service Master Plan to the Board MCS Q3 · Master Plan underway 

· Plan Complete;  
· Presentation of the Master Plan, 

Administrative Report and 
Implementation Plan 7 Sept.   

3.1.2.2 1 Ensure that regional fire chiefs are involved in the 
development of the plan 

MCS Q2 · Public consultation complete 
· Each Fire Hall included 

 

Objective 3.1.3:  By establishing a Naramata Fire Service Satellite Fire Hall 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
3.1.3.1 1 Acquire an appropriate site for the satellite fire hall MCS Q1 · Site selected 

· License of Occupation submitted 
· Problems with the site 

3.1.3.2 1 Finalize building site design and contract for construction MCS Q3 · Grants/donations identified 
· Unlikely to award contract in 2017 

 

  



Page 7  

 

Objective 3.1.4  By developing the Erris Volunteer Fire Department 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN Status 
3.1.4.1 1 Undertake the Fire Underwriter study of proposed service MCS Q4 · Information provided 

· Waiting for Erris to determine 
interest 

3.1.4.2 1 Carry out a service establishment process MCS Q4 ·  
3.1.4.3 1 Provide an orientation for the Department Members to 

ensure compliance with RDOS standards 
MCS Q2 · Deferred until decision to create a 

Service determined 
 

Objective 3.1.5: By implementing the regional trails program 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
3.1.5.1 1 Construct the KVR Trail South Spur section from Road 18 

to Osoyoos Lake 
MCS Q3 · Design complete/ construction in 

progress 
· Complete 

3.1.5.2 1 Assist the Province with a critical habitat inventory 
management plan for the KVR trail from Vaseux Lake to 
Osoyoos 

MCS Q3 · Project awarded 
· Waiting on Province 

3.1.5.3 1 Pursue Provincial tenure for the KVR trail – Area A and C 
phase 

MCS Q3 · In progress 

3.1.5.4 1 Pursue tenure for the KVR trail – OIB phase  MCS Q3 ·  
3.1.5.5 1 Work with senior levels of government to secure tenure for 

the KVR trail – Vaseux Lake phase 
MCS Q4 · Work in progress, but need the critical 

habitat inventory first. 
 

  



Page 8  

Objective 3.1.6 -  By implementing the 2017 Phase of the Parks Program 
 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN Status 
 

3.1.6.1 1 Implement a 2017 parks improvement program MCS Q4 · Complete 

3.1.6.2 1 Implement the service establishment process for an Electoral 
Area H parks service 

MCS Q3 · Referred to Director 

3.1.6.3 1 Update Regional and Community parks bylaws MCS Q3 · Deferred to 2018 

3.1.6.4 1 Pursue a Contribution Agreement and Facility Use 
Agreement with the Tulameen Community Club 

MCS Q2 · Waiting for signature 
· Complete 

3.1.6.5 1 Review the Princeton/ Area H Park Contribution Service MCS Q2 · Review commenced 
· Draft Agreement sent to Princeton 
· discussions with Princeton in Q4 

 

 

 
Objective 3.1.7:   By providing public recreational opportunities 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.1.7.1 1 Carry out the 2017 Recreation and Wellness Programs under 
the guidance of the Recreation Advisory Commissions 

MCS Q4 · Meetings with all Commissions 
complete 

· Strategic Planning to commence in Q3 
· Complete 

3.1.7.2 1 Implement a Regional approach to booking Recreation 
Programs, Facilities and Events, e.g. common calendar 
between Rec programs 

MCS Q4 · In Progress 
· Complete 

 

  



Page 9  

 
Objective 3.1.8:   By constructing a pedestrian pathway in Okanagan Falls 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.1.8.1 1 Undertake the design, consultation and permitting phases MCS Q2 · In Progress 
·  

3.1.8.2 1 Complete final design and submit for 2018 Budget 
consideration between Rec programs 

MCS Q3 · McLean Creek Road prioritized for 
walkway 

 

 
Objective 3.1.9:   Investigate energy options 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.1.9.1 1 Research and report on solar and wind power advancements MDS Q4 · Referred to 2018 Budget 

 

Goal 3.2 To Develop an Economically Sustainable Region 
Objective: 3.2.1: By Developing an Asset Management Plan 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
3.2.1.1 1 Investigate options for asset management systems and 

which would be appropriate for the Regional District 
MPW/ 
MIS 

Q4 · Applied for grant 
· Referred to 2018 

3.2.1.2 2 Present the Phase 2 Asset Management Plan to the Board MPW Q3 · Complete August 2017 

 

 

Objective: 3.2.2: By updating the Naramata Water System Development Cost Charge Bylaw 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.2.2.1 2 Determine methodology and rescind development cost 
charge bylaw 

MPW Q2 · NWAC prefers to terminate DCC 
Bylaw 

· Province is evaluating proposal 



Page 10  

· Province won’t allow rescinding 
· Revised DCC Bylaw to come in 2018 

 

 

Goal 3.3 By Developing an Environmentally Sustainable Region 
Objective: 3.3.1: By commencing the Electoral Area “F” Official Community Plan review 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
3.3.1.1 1 Citizen Committee appointments, project Inventory, Issue 

identification, constraints and opportunities, Background 
Report 

MDS Q3 · Project underway 
· Complete 

3.3.1.2 1 Community engagement, Draft Plan MDS Q4 · In Progress 

 

 

Objective: 3.3.2: By conducting a Bylaw Enforcement Policy Review 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.3.2.1 1 Review Best Practices for bylaw enforcement and compare 
to current RDOS procedures and policies 

MDS Q3 · In Progress 

3.3.2.2 1 Identify gaps and prepare revised procedures and polices MDS Q4 · Referred to 2018 Budget for 
discussion on resources 

 

Objective: 3.3.3: By completing a new Water Regulatory and Conservation Bylaw 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.3.3.1 2 Conduct literature search and benchmarking exercise MPW Q1 · Complete 

3.3.3.2 2 Develop a draft bylaw for discussion and present final 
version 

MPW Q2 · 1st draft complete 
· Deferred to Q3 
· Public consultation in October 



Page 11  

· Moved to Q4 
·  

 

 

Objective: 3.3.4: By implementing the 2017 Phase of the Solid Waste Management Plan 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.3.4.1 2 Complete organics site analysis, procurement and design of 
the new organics processing facility 

MPW Q3 · Preferred sites identified 
· Public consultation underway 
· Information Reports to Committee 
· Discussions on preferred site 

underway 

3.3.4.2 2 Complete the procurement for Curbside service beginning 
in July 2018 

MPW Q1 
Q3 

· RFP Released 
· Complete 

3.3.4.3 2 · Pilot a Bio-cover methane mitigation project to achieve 
approval for substituted requirements permit. 

· Winter testing  
· Response from Province 

MPW Q1 
Q2 
 
Q1 2018 
Q2 2018 

· Stockpiling materials 
· Plots prepared for pilots 
 
·  

3.3.4.4 1 Develop the Keremeos landfill closure plan MPW Q1 
Q2 

· Plan development underway 
· Draft Plan complete 

 

 

Objective: 3.3.5: By bringing Kaleden and Skaha Estates into the Okanagan Falls Waste Water Treatment 
System 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
3.3.5.1 1 Initiate the public assent process to establish a Service to 

attach to the Okanagan Falls Wastewater Treatment Plant 
MPW Q2 · Phase 1 BCF Grant approved for 

Skaha Estates 
·  

3.3.5.2 1 Complete the detail design of a sewerage collection system 
for Kaleden and Skaha Estates 

MPW Q4 · Commence in Q2 but not complete 
until Q1 2018 



Page 12  

3.3.5.3 1 Actively search for a grant to move this project forward MPW Q2 · BCF Grant received for Phase 1 
· Consider Strategic Priorities Grant 

application for Phase 2 

 

Objective: 3.3.6: By  constructing a wetlands filtration system for the Okanagan Falls Waste Water Treatment 
Plant 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 
3.3.6.1 1 · Pursue funding for a Wetland System  

· Complete the design 
· Construction 
 

MPW Q1 
 
 

· Grant applications being prepared 
· Design grant dependent 
· Construction grant dependent 
· Deferred to 2018 

 

Objective: 3.3.7: Set out the Regional District responsibility for orphan dikes 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.3.7.1  Conduct an inventory of orphan dikes within the regional 
district and present a discussion paper to the Board 
identifying liability when/if there is flooding or disaster 
related to the dikes 

MPW Q3 · FLNRO attended at Committee on 
April 6th  

· Presentation prepared for UBCM 

 

Objective: 3.3.8: Establish a position around Uplands Water Storage 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

3.3.8.1  Bring a report to the Board identifying the 
issue/history/risk of RDOS involvement in uplands water 
storage 

MPW Q2 · Need to identify speaker to appear 
before Committee 

 

KSD 4  PROVIDE GOVERNANCE & OVERSIGHT IN A REPRESENTATIVE DEMOCRACY 
Goal 4.1 To Execute a Well-Defined Strategic Planning Cycle 
Objective: 4.1.1: By maintaining, evaluating and executing the Strategic Planning and Enterprise Risk 

Management Programs. 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 



Page 13  

4.1.1.1 2 Development of the 2018 Corporate Business Plan CAO Q4 · In Progress 

4.1.1.2 1 Review and update the Enterprise Risk Management 
Register 

CAO/ 
MIS 

Quarterly · Complete 

 

 

Goal 4.2 To Encourage Partnerships with all Member Municipalities, Electoral Areas, Indian Bands and 
Other Levels of Government 

Objective: 4.2.1: By organizing government to government meetings. 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

4.2.1.1 1 Organize and host a C2C Forum. MLS Q4 · 2017 Forum organized but 
cancelled due to attendance 

4.2.1.2 1 Organize regular Regional CAO meetings 
Organize Valley Chair/CAO Meetings 

MLS Q2 · In progress 

 

 

Objective: 4.2.2: By implementing the terms of the First Nations Protocol Agreement 
 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

4.2.2.1 1 Support regular joint council and steering committee 
meetings to promote good relations in the Regional 
District and report to the Board on highlights 

MLS Q4 · 1st Joint Council Mtg. Feb. 17th  

4.2.2.2 1 Implement the 2017 actions identified in the Joint Council 
Action Plan 

MLS Q4 · 1st Steering Committee March 10th  

 

  



Page 14  

Goal 4.3 To Promote Board and Chair Effectiveness 
Objective: 4.3.1: By assisting the Board to operate in an effective manner 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

4.3.1.1 1 Plan and implement a legislative workshop in 2017 MLS Q4 · In Progress 
· Scheduled for Nov. 23rd  

4.3.1.2 1 Enhance relationship with committees/commissions MLS Q1 · Attended at all Recreation 
Commission and Water 
Commissions to discuss 
relationship/reporting/record keeping, 
etc.  

4.3.1.3 1 Facilitate the Board evaluation MLS Q4 · Targetted for Legislative 
Workshop 

 

 Objective 4.3.2: By supporting a governance review for Electoral Area “D” 
# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

4.3.2.1 2 Develop an implementation plan to address opportunities 
from the Area “D” governance review 

MLS Q2 · Implementation plan presented to 
Board in May 

· Work with CSCSD to split Area D 
commenced. 

· Brief Minister at UBCM 
· Complete 

 

Goal 4.4 To Develop a Responsive, Transparent, Effective Corporation 
Objective: 4.4.1: By ensuring all existing bylaws and policies are kept in a current and useful form and content. 

# Points ACTION WHO WHEN STATUS 

4.4.1.1 5 Ensure all irrigation district bylaws have been transferred to 
RDOS format 

MLS Q4 · Deferred to 2018 

4.4.1.2 1 Conduct Privacy Impact Assessments on new recreation 
software, building permit tracker, enforcement ticket 
tracker, development tracker and Vadim updates 

MLS Q4 · In Progress 
· Complete 

 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Corporateservices/D. 
Q3budgetvarianceanalysis.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 1 of 4 
 

-ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Corporate Services Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Q3 Budget Variance Analysis Report – For Information Only 

Purpose: A key responsibility for the Board of Directors is to provide oversight on the financial 
position of the corporation.  In addition to the development and approval of the annual business 
plan and budget, is a quarterly review of the variance between the Income Statement and the 
Budget.  Administration provides this to the Board in a narrative format with forecasts for year-
end 
 
Business Plan Objective:  
1.1.1 By providing the Board with accurate, current financial information 
 
Analysis: 
Managers have reviewed the actual revenues and expenditures as of September 30, 2017 and 
performed a forecast to year-end in order to identify significant variances to the annual budget.  
This process helps us to mitigate potential problems and/or identify opportunities for reallocation 
of unused funds within individual budgets. 
 
Variance analysis requires many assumptions and predictions.  Actual year end variances will not be 
known for certain until the year end audit process is complete in March 2018.  However, potential 
areas of concern have been identified and will be monitored closely with every attempt being made 
to mitigate any deficit situations before year end.  The following is a brief explanation of overall 
budget trends and potential issues. 
 
General Government and Electoral Area Administration 
The overall budget for General Government is expected to have a surplus.  This is due to a 
combination of more than anticipated revenue and various expenses coming in under budget.  The 
Information Services budget will also have more of a surplus than anticipated due to addition 
revenues and cost savings in contract services and the training and education line items. 
 
Electoral Area Administration is trending on target for 2017.  Much of the anticipated surplus will 
be attributed to grant funding carrying forward.  
 
Rural projects – a number of projects, mostly funded by Gas Tax, have been identified within these 
budgets as needing to be carried over.  Staff will be following up and establishing some timelines 
and incorporating in to the 2018 budget.  



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Corporateservices/D. 
Q3budgetvarianceanalysis.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 2 of 4 
 

 
Development Services 
Building Inspection 
Similar to the prior year, permit revenues are higher than anticipated.  For 2017, it is expected that 
this budget will see a surplus of $500,000.  Historically excess revenue has been placed into a 
deferred revenue account and held to smooth out taxation levels in order to help sustain service in 
slower growth years.  The balance in the reserve is just over $400,000, as of December 31, 2016.  
An additional $500,000 will likely be transferred at the end of 2017. 
 
Bylaw 
Bylaw ended 2016 with a larger than anticipated surplus of approximately $22,000.00 due to a flow 
through of surplus from 2015.  It is anticipated that the same level of surplus will carry through 
2017. 
 
Animal Control  
Animal Control ended up with a $22,000 surplus at the end of 2016.  The budget is on target for 
2017 with the same level of surplus being carried over. 
 
Electoral Area Planning  
The Electoral Area Planning budget will have more surplus than anticipated due to a higher growth 
year for development applications fees.  In addition, there will likely be some savings with respect 
to legal costs and consulting fees. 
 
Conservation Fund 
There was a late start to implementation of this program and therefore the majority of the funds 
will be carried forward to 2018. 
 
Regional Growth Strategy 
This program will see a larger surplus than anticipated as there was $15,000 allocated to 
Employment Lands Study, which was never initiated. 
 
Public Works and Engineering 
Refuse/Landfills/Recycling 
Oliver  - Additional revenues are anticipated for refuse disposal and scrap metal recycling; there is 
also some consulting fees and contract costs that will not occur for 2017.  A review is being 
conducted to determine feasibility of reallocating annual surplus to capital and operation reserve so 
that the costs of operating this service are more readily apparent and there is less reliance on prior 
year surpluses. 
 
Penticton/D3 (Campbell Mountain Landfill) – Some of the capital expenditures that were budgeted 
for 2017 will not occur and the projects have been moved to 2018.  There is a small anticipated 
surplus which will reduce the deficit that was carried forward from 2016. 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Corporateservices/D. 
Q3budgetvarianceanalysis.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 3 of 4 
 

 
The remaining departments are expected to be on budget for 2017. 
 
Ok Falls Sewer 
As reported in the fourth quarter of 2016, a $220,000 deficit was expected at the end of 2016.  
Mitigation measures have been taken and a plan has been implemented to recover the deficit in 
2017.  It is anticipated that the deficit will be reduced to under $150,000 at the end of 2017. 
 
Water Services 
Willowbrook –2016 ended in a deficit of $13,479 as a result of some budgeting inaccuracies.  This 
service continues to be challenged with additional requirements for financing to cover operational 
costs.  Staff will be investigating options for cost recovery and sustainable financing for this service. 
 
Sage Mesa Water – a deficit in the amount of $13,000 was carried over from 2016 to 2017.  A 
further deficit is anticipated for 2017.  Staff are currently investigating why these deficits are 
occurring and this will be reviewed by staff as part of the 2018 budget process. 
 
Mosquito Control 
The mosquito control budget has been an area of concern for the 2017 budget year.  As reported in 
Q2, additional resources were necessary in order to control the mosquitos.  It is anticipated that 
there will be a shortfall in this service in the amount of $25,000.  This will be addressed during the 
2018 budget. 
 
Community Services 
Fire Services 
All the services are trending on budget and there are no unanticipated significant variances to 
report for the 2017 year-end. 
 
Recreation Services 
Parks Commission Area F – 2016 resulted in a deficit of $10,087, however steps have been taken to 
mitigate for the 2017 budget year. 
 
Ok Falls – This service received a $30,000 donation in 2016, however the expenditure was never 
carried forward.  The impact to the budget will be mitigated as some projects will not be done in 
2017.   
 
All other recreation services are either trending on budget or have moderate surpluses. 
 
Regional Trails 
Regional trails ended 2016 with a higher than anticipated surplus of $14,000.  There are no 
significant variances anticipated for 2017.  
 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Corporateservices/D. 
Q3budgetvarianceanalysis.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 4 of 4 
 

Respectfully submitted: 
 
“Maureen Hayter” 
___________________________________________ 
M. Hayter, Finance Manager 
 

 



REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
Protective Services Committee 

Thursday, October 19, 2017 
11:00 a.m. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION 1
THAT the Agenda for the Protective Services Committee Meeting of October 19, 2017
be adopted.

B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT – For Information Only [Page 120]

C. ADJOURNMENT



https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/boardreports/2017/20171019/protectiveservices/b. q3activity_report.docx  
Page 1 of 1 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  

 

TO: Protective Services Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Third Quarter Activity Report – For Information Only 

 
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 

Fire Services, Emergency Management, Policing, 911  
 
Activities Completed in Q3 2017: 
· Regional Fire Master Plan formal presentations to the Board and the 7 Volunteer Fire 

Departments by Dave Mitchell & Associates 
· Appointed the Kaleden Fire Chief position 
· Board acknowledgement of the Regional Fire Master Plan process and initiation of new plan with 

the Volunteer Fire Departments 
· Deactivated the Regional Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) in support of the wildfire season 
· Continued supporting the proposed Upper Carmi area Fire Service expansion 
 

Planned Activities for Q4 2017: 
· Continue with land acquisition and building planning process for the Naramata satellite Fire Hall 
· Complete the Emergency Telecommunications system audit 
· Carry out a EOC post-operational review for Spring flooding and wildfire events 
· Facilitate an Emergency Support Services (ESS) review and planning exercise  
· Commence with the hiring process for Okanagan Falls and Willowbrook Fire Chief positions  
· Support the Regional Fire Departments for 2018 operational planning and budgeting in order to 

meet Office of the Fire Commissioner’s (OFC) Playbook requirements 
· Re-establish the Regional Joint Chiefs Committee for the purpose of connecting, collaborating and 

supporting each other on ongoing opportunities and issues  
· Facilitate Community Fire Smart community workshops at Husula Heights and Faulder areas 
· Apply for Provincial grant funding under the UBCM Emergency Preparedness program 
· Continue to support the Kaleden Fire Volunteer Department training site development   
· Compete the Sasquatch Pond Park water retention project  
 

Respectfully submitted: 
 

 
_________________________________________ 
M. Woods, Manager of Community Services 



REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

Thursday, October 19, 2017 
11:15 a.m. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION 1
THAT the Agenda for the Environment and Infrastructure Committee Meeting of
October 19, 2017 be adopted.

B. SIMILKAMEEN WATERSHED PLAN – For Information Only [Page 123]
1. Nicole Penner, Environmental Scientist, Associated Environmental Consultants Inc.
2. Hugh Hamilton, Senior Environmental Scientist, Associated Environmental 

Consultants Inc.
a. Similkameen Watershed Plan Version 1.1 [Page 125] 

Ms. Penner and Dr. Hamilton will address the Board to discuss the Similkameen Valley 
Watershed Plan 

C. MAJOR AMENDMENT TO SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN – APEX MOUNTAIN 
WASTE TRANSFER STATION [Page 201]
a. Consultation Documents [Page 205] 

To present to the BC Minister of Environment the results of public consultation 
regarding the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station to allow for an amendment to the 
Regional Solid Waste Management Plan in regards to selected location and capital costs. 

RECOMMENDATION 2  
THAT the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen submit a request to the BC 
Minister of Environment for a major amendment to the Regional Solid Waste 
Management Plan regarding the location and capital costs of the Apex Mountain 
Waste Transfer Station: 

· That the SWMP be amended to show the exact address of the facility will be at
220 Strayhorse Rd, Apex Mountain;

· That the SWMP be amended to show estimated capital costs for design,
tendering and construction of the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station has
been estimated at $592,790;

· That these facts have been presented to affected residents through significant
public consultation process.



Environment and Infrastructure Committee - 2 - October 19, 2017 

D. APEX MOUNTAIN WASTE TRANSFER STATION – PROPOSED FEES AND TAX STRUCTURE 
[Page 246]
To describe the cost recovery options available associated with construction and 
operation of the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station.  Further, to allow staff to 
complete budget planning for the 2018-2022 period.

RECOMMENDATION 3
THAT for the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station the Regional District of 
Okanagan-Similkameen recover capital costs from taxation and operational costs as a 
fee for service.

E. AWARD OF PREDESIGN FOR SKAHA ESTATES SEWER EXPANSION PROJECT [Page 249]

For discussion prior to consideration of a resolution at the Board Meeting in the 
afternoon of October 19, 2017 

F. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT – For Information Only [Page 255]

G. ADJOURNMENT



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/B. Similkameen Valley Plan.Docx 
File No: 5330.20 
Page 1 of 2 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Similkameen Watershed Plan  
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
 
FOR INFORMATION ONLY 
 
Purpose: 
The purpose of this report is to provide background information on the Similkameen Watershed 
Plan which was developed through a partnership with the Similkameen Valley Planning Society and 
the RDOS.   This information is being provided in advance of a delegation from the consulting firm 
of Associated Environmental who will be providing a presentation on the work completed at the 
October 19, 2017 Environment and Infrastructure Committee meeting. 
 
Reference: 
Similkameen Watershed Plan Version 1.1 (Associated Environmental 2017) 
 

Background: 
The Similkameen Valley Planning Society (SVPS) was formed to further the interests of communities 
in the Similkameen Valley and consists of membership from the seven governing bodies:  the 
municipalities of Princeton and Keremeos, the Upper and Lower Similkameen Indian Bands and 
Areas B, G and H of the RDOS. 
 
In 2012, the Terms of Reference for the Similkameen Watershed Plan was developed in 
consultation with various stakeholders.  The development of the Watershed Plan has included the 
completion of numerous technical studies and financing of the project has been primarily through 
the following grant programs:   

· Federal Gas Tax Funding – General Strategic Priorities Fund ($500,000) 
· Investment Agriculture Foundation of BC ($36,135) 
· Southern Interior Beetle Action Coalition ($30,000) 
· BC Provincial Infrastructure Planning Grant ($10,000) 

 
 
 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/B. Similkameen Valley Plan.Docx 
File No: 5330.20 
Page 2 of 2 
 

The mission statement for the Similkameen Watershed Plan as outlined in the 2012 Terms of 
Reference is: 

“The Similkameen Watershed Plan will provide long-term direction and actions 
necessary to achieve its overall mission, to preserve and protect the quality and 
health of the Similkameen Watershed.” 

 
The purpose of the Similkameen Watershed Plan is to provide guidance regarding water resources 
in the watershed to all stakeholders, decision-making authorities, natural resource managers, 
commercial water users, as well as agrigultural, industrial, forestry and recreational/tourism sectors 
and watershed residents (SVPS 2012).  It is a non-regulatory plan which is intended to be utilized as 
a guidance document in other local planning documents and processes. 
 
Six main components reflected in the Similkameen Watershed Plan include: 

· Water supply and demand 
· Water quality 
· Ecosystem protection and restoration 
· Climate change adaptation and mitigation 
· Water contingency planning and response 
· Community outreach and consultation 

 
Other components, such as governance is also discussed in the Similkameen Watershed Plan 
including the next steps to develop a a suitable governance model for the Similkameen. 
 

Communication Strategy:  
The Similkameen Watershed Plan Version 1.1 has been issued in digital form for use and 
distribution by the Similkameen Valley Planning Society.  The final document will also be available 
on the RDOS website. 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
“Janine Dougall” 
___________________________________________ 
J. Dougall, Public Works Manager 
 

 



























































































































































 
 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Major Amendment to Solid Waste Management Plan - Apex Mountain Waste 

Transfer Station 
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
THAT the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen submit a request to the BC Minister of 
Environment for a major amendment to the Regional Solid Waste Management Plan regarding 
the location and capital costs of the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station: 

· That the SWMP be amended to show the exact address of the facility will be at 220 
Strayhorse Rd, Apex Mountain; 

· That the SWMP be amended to show estimated capital costs for design, tendering and 
construction of the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station has been estimated at 
$592,790; 

· That these facts have been presented to affected residents through significant public 
consultation process.    

 
Purpose: 
To present to the BC Minister of Environment the results of public consultation regarding the Apex 
Mountain Waste Transfer Station to allow for an amendment to the Regional Solid Waste 
Management Plan in regards to selected location and capital costs.  
 
Reference: 
Province of BC – Municipal Waste Management Plans 
RDOS – Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station 
 
Business Plan Objective:  
Objective 3.3.4: Implementing the Solid Waste Management Plan 
 
Background: 
The 2012 RDOS Solid Waste Management Plan calls for the development of a waste transfer station 
for the Apex Mountain Ski Resort. The waste transfer station is intended to service both residential 
and commercial properties at the resort.  
 
In 2016 a sub-lease was secured with Apex Mountain Resort for land used currently as overflow 
parking. The site, civic address is 220 Strayhorse Rd, is located near the village centre in a location 
presently used by Apex Mountain Resort for garbage and recycling. 
 
In 2016 the RDOS awarded the design and tendering work for the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer 
Station project to McElhanney Consulting Services.  Updated capital costs for the design, tendering 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/C. Apex_Major_Amend.Docx 
File No: 0620.07 Solid Waste Management Plan 
Page 2 of 4 
 

and construction were also provided for both a transfer station with a building and without a 
building.  The costs of these two options were then brought to public consultation in December 
2016.  A survey was conducted with the results indicating the option of a waste transfer station 
with a building is the preferred approach by residents.  
 
Analysis: 
The 2016 Guide to Solid Waste Planning requires that local governments must undertake a Major 
Amendment process when opening a new facility or when changes to capital costs of the facility 
would warrant seeking elector ascent.  
 
Amending the Solid Waste Management Plan allows the Regional District to proceed with 
borrowing for the construction of the facility.  Without amending the Solid Waste Management 
Plan the Regional District would be required to gain elector assent through an Alternative Approval 
Process or Referendum.  
 
The 2012 Solid Waste Management Plan includes an estimate of the capital cost to design and 
construct the waste transfer station of $275,000.  During the public consultation process residents 
indicated a desire for the consideration of a more complex designed transfer station.  Public 
consultation also raised numerous concerns including liquids leaving the site, windblown litter and 
access to local trails, all of which have been addressed in the design of the facilty.  The costs for the 
addition of a building meeting the aesthetic and functional standards identified during public 
consultation has now estimated the engineering and capital cost for the project at $592,790 
(McElhanney Consulting Services). 
 
To allow residents to compare options (basic design, no building versus complex design, with 
building), mil rates were provided that allowed residents to see the potential costs as related to 
their own property taxes. Two public open houses were conducted, one at Apex and the other in 
Penticton.  An error was found in initially produced documents by a member of the public that then 
required updated documents to be mailed out.  Of the 106 surveys received, in paper and 
electronically, 66% were in favour of having a building for the waste transfer station. The results of 
the survey were then brought forward to the AGM of the Apex Property Owners Association in 
March 2017 for further discussion.  
 
Overall key concerns raised through public consultation were:  

· Illegal dumping at the current site occurs frequently. Materials include building materials, 
electronics and furniture. Some property owners would like options for large item disposal 
at the Mountain. Others would like surveillance cameras and fines for people that illegally 
dump materials. 

· Some property owners were concerned about using property value as the basis for cost 
recovery. For example a cabin valued at $450,000 could pay over $430 a year compared to a 
$100,000 condo paying $96. Some requests were made to share costs more equitably 
between units. 

· A few residents and businesses questioned the need for a new waste transfer station. 
People that did not want a waste transfer station generally opted for the lowest cost 
approach (No Building). 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/C. Apex_Major_Amend.Docx 
File No: 0620.07 Solid Waste Management Plan 
Page 3 of 4 
 

· Issues of windblown litter, materials getting in the neighbouring creek, wildlife, smell and 
noise for units close to the site along with some opposition to the site location in general.  

 
A table detailing the public consultation completed related to the solid waste management plan 
amendment has been placed at the end of this report for additional information.  
 
Alternatives: 
That electoral assent is determined through the use of either an Alternative Approval Process or 
Referendum.  Please  note that either of these options will delay the construction and operation of 
the transfer station to 2019 assuming electoral assent is positive. 
 
Communication Strategy: 
The RDOS will formally request the Minister of Environment consider the following amendments to 
the Regional Solid Waste Management Plan (SWMP): 

· That the SWMP be amended to show the exact address of the facility will be at 220 
Strayhorse Rd, Apex Mountain; 

· That the SWMP be amended to show estimated capital costs for design, tendering and 
construction of the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station has been estimated at $592,790; 

· That these facts have been presented to affected residents through a significant public 
consultation process.  The consultation report (attached) which summarizes and details the 
public documents produced will be provided as part of the formal amendment request 
document package.  

 
 
Respectfully submitted:                                                             Endorsed By: 
 
 
Cameron Baughen                                                                        Janine Dougall 
___________________________________________          ______________________________ 
C. Baughen, Solid Waste Management Coordinator             Janine Dougall, Public Works Manager 

 
  



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/C. Apex_Major_Amend.Docx 
File No: 0620.07 Solid Waste Management Plan 
Page 4 of 4 
 

APEX MOUNTAIN WASTE TRANSFER STATION PUBLIC CONSULTATION DATES 

Solid Waste Management Plan Consultation regarding location and initial 
estimate cost for Apex Waste Transfer Station Winter 2010/2011 
Adoption of revised Solid Waste Management Plan identifying Apex 
Mountain Waste Transfer Station as major project September 20th, 2012 
Letters to Bands regarding project February, 2013 
Adoption of RDOS Bylaw 2593 Apex Mountain Solid Waste Transfer 
Station Local Service Area  March 21st, 2013 
Sub-Lease from Apex Mountain Resort for construction and operation 
of Waste Transfer Station January 19th, 2016 
Presentation Apex Mountain Property Owners Association AGM at Apex 
Mountain regarding development of Transfer Station March, 2016 
Article and Advertisement in Apex Matters Newsletter advising public of 
project March, 2016 
Award the design and tendering work to McElhanney Consulting 
Services March 24th, 2016 
Public Consultation Website Launched October, 2016 
Newsletter sent to all property owners including link to online survey and 
invitation to open house October, 2016 
Addition of second open house at Apex Mountain due to public 
comments November, 2016 
Information Release for Consultation, Survey and two Open Houses November 21st, 2016 
Apex Mountain Open House including presentation, story boards and 
paper surveys December 5th, 2016 
Correction letter and newsletter mailed to all property owners and 
extension of online survey closure December 6th, 2016 
Penticton Open House including presentation and paper surveys December 6th, 2016 
Newsletter with results of survey posted on website  February, 2017 

Presentation Apex Mountain Property Owners Association AGM at 
Apex Mountain about results of public consultation March 25th, 2017 

 



Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station 

Consultation Documents 

• Winter 2010, Review of Solid Waste Management Plan, Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station

o Sent to all Apex Mountain property owners; part of 2012 Solid Waste Management Plan 
public consultation

• March 2012, Update for Apex Property Owners Association AGM

o Results of 2010 survey

• February 2013, Correspondence Upper Similkameen Indian Band

• February 2013, Correspondence Lower Similkameen Indian Band

• February 2013, Correspondence Penticton Indian Band

• March 2016, Article and advertisement in Apex Matters newsletter sent to all properties at Apex 
Mountain

• October 2016, Newsletter regarding options and costs for Apex Mountain Waste Transfer 
Station mailed to all properties at Apex Mountain

• November 2016, Press Release regarding consultation and dates of two open houses

• December 2016, Revision of mil rates mailed to all properties at Apex Mountain

• December 2016, Revised newsletter mailed to all properties at Apex Mountain

• December 2016, Paper version of survey for Open Houses

• December 2016, Open House Presentation

• December 2016, Open House Story Boards

• December 2016, Raw Survey Results with all comments

• February 2017, Newsletter Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station

o Survey results and next steps

• August 2017, Information Release regarding delay of project to 2018

Project Website: http://www.rdos.bc.ca/departments/public-works/solid-waste/apex-
mountain-waste-transfer-station/  



Regional District of Okanagan Similkameen 
Review of Solid Waste Management Plan 
Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station 
Project History 
 

In 2006, Area ‘D’ Director Bill Schwarz created a 
committee to  investigate placing a garbage and 
recycling  transfer  station  for  the  residents, 
guests and businesses at Apex Mountain Resort.  
Associated  Engineering  was  hired  to  provide  
costs  of  developing  a  transfer  station  at  a 
location  down  the  hill  from  the  resort.  Two 
locations  were  selected.  The  first  was  at  the 
gravel pit nearest the resort. The second was at 
the  ‘Rock  Ovens’  area,  near  the  cattle  guard, 
past the avalanche area.  
 

Both  options  were  found  to  be  prohibitively 
expensive.  The  Ministry  of  Transportation  
(MoT)  would  not  allow  public  access  to  the 
gravel pit without a safer  line of sight  for entry 
and exit. The only solution discussed to meet MoT requirements was to carve a road through the north 
east corner of the property. This would require extensive rock excavation. Being located past a known 
avalanche area, the Rock Ovens location would have required costly underground power lines. Options 
such as solar panels were explored but discounted as the energy requirements to operate a compactor 
(which requires three phase) and lighting could not reasonably be met.  
 

In 2010,  the RDOS commenced a  review of  its Solid Waste Management Plan. This planning process 
looks at the development of new Solid Waste programs and facilities over the next 20 years. As part of 
this  process,  RDOS  Staff met with  Apex  Resort  representatives  to  discuss  other  potential  transfer 
station  locations. Apex Resort has  indicated  that  they  can potentially  lease   property  for  a  transfer 
station near their existing waste compactor  down from the ’barn’ in the main parking lot.  

Overview of Apex Alpine and Potential Waste Transfer Locations 

Estimated Costs for Potential Waste Transfer Station 
 

RDOS  Staff  looked  at  the  costs  to  build  and  operate  waste 
transfer  stations  at  other  ski  resorts.  Although waste  transfer 
stations for ski resorts are common across BC, there are a variety 
of different designs and options. RDOS Staff determined that the 
Silver  Star Mountain Transfer  Station near Vernon, BC was  the 
best  example  for  estimating  construction  and  maintenance 
costs.  
 

The Silver Star Transfer Station  is essentially a  large open door 
barn. Vehicles park outside the building. Bags of recycling or garbage are walked  inside the building. 
Garbage is placed in a lockable bear proof compactor bin. All the waste and recycling is transferred to 
the Vernon Landfill for landfilling or sorting.    

Silver Star Waste Transfer Station Used as Example 



Key Questions 
 

How much will this cost me?: It depends on the true costs of building and maintaining the transfer station 
and  how  those  costs  are  allocated.  Apex  residents  and  businesses  will  only  pay  the  real  costs  not 
estimated.  It  is assumed the capital costs will be  lower than estimated due to added contingency. There 
are also  important choices on how the costs should be allocated. Common methods  include taxation on 
improvement value or a flat user fee per unit or home.  The RDOS is seeking advice from Apex business and 
property owners on how to move forward.   
 

Can you provide an estimate using the costs above? A rough estimate can be  based on current assessed 
value.  The current Apex tax roll is split roughly between 92% residential and 8% commercial measured by 
improvements. The estimated yearly cost per residential unit is just under $140 per year. This value would 
vary per home if residents opt for paying via taxation due to differences in the assessed value of their unit.  
 

Have  you  looked at other options  for  supplying  service?   Yes. We recently received pricing to provide 
weekly garbage and bi‐weekly recycling curbside collection for the residential homes at Apex. The costs of 
this service was $140 per year. There are problems identified with curbside service for Apex (snow, days of 
collection, bears,…) and the construction of a depot is a recommended approach. 
 

Why  does  Apex  need  a waste  transfer  station?  The Apex  area  is  the  largest  residential development 
within  Electoral Area  ’D’ without  access  to  residential  recycling.  Providing  recycling  homes  in  Electoral 
Area ‘D’ is a requirement under the RDOS landfill lease agreement with the City of Penticton. 
 

Must there be a referendum held before building the Apex Mountain Solid Waste Transfer Station? No 
but a referendum may be held if the local Area Director requests it. If the proposed Apex Mountain Waste 
depot is adopted in the  RDOS Solid Waste Management Plan then a referendum would not be required.  
But before going forward with any project, Director Schwarz has advised that there must be community 
buy in.  Director Schwarz may hold a referendum on this project if  he feels it is needed.  
 

How can  I get more  information? The RDOS  will be hosting a series of open houses this 
Spring  to  go  over  the  various  recommendations  to  be  included  in  the  Solid  Waste 
Management Plan. To find out more about these meetings, the Solid Waste Management 
Plan or  the Apex Mountain Transfer Station, please contact  the RDOS at 250‐490‐4129, 
toll free 1‐877‐610‐3737 ext. 4129 or e‐mail info@rdos.bc.ca. Visit  www.rdos.bc.ca and 
click on Solid Waste Management Plan for documents, meeting times  and updates. 

  Capital Cost  Yearly Cost  Potential Savings 

Building construction, 2 
compactors and 4 bins 

$265,000  $21,500* 

25% contingency added to estimate; 
Potential for A‐frame to save snow loading; 
May be possible to use existing Apex compactor 
saving purchase of second compact bin; 
Low American dollar drops compactor costs; 
May be feasible lease bins at lower lifetime cost. 

Estimated Costs for the Apex Mountain Solid Waste Transfer Station   

Hauling and compactor 
maintenance contractors 

  $20,000 
Additional compact bin reduces hauling charges; 
Apex staff may be able to maintain compactor at 
lower costs. 

Snow clearing, monitoring, 
land leasing by Apex Resort 

  $12,000 
Initial estimate only; 
Costs affected by illegal dumping. 

Tipping fees, administration, 
education by RDOS 

  $25,000 
Education costs lower after first year; 
Increased recycling may drop tipping fees. 

*Amortized 20 years/5% interest 



Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen, 101 Martin St, Penticton, BC V2A 5J9 
www.rdos.bc.ca         info@rdos.bc.ca 

Phone: 250-492-0237      Toll Free: 1-877-610-3737      Fax: 250-492-0063  

Update Apex Alpine Waste Transfer Station 
Apex Property Owners Association AGM March 17th, 2012 
 

SURVEY RESULTS 
A mail back survey was sent to every Apex property owner last year with 169 surveys returned.  
Solid Waste Management Plan Apex Survey results 
SURVEY QUESTIONS Totally 

Agree  
Somewhat 

Agree 
Not an 
Issue 

Somewhat 
Disagree 

Totally 
Disagree 

Apex Mountain needs a transfer 
station for garbage and recyclables. 45% 20% 6% 4% 26% 
My main concern with a transfer 
station is cost. 60% 27% 8% 3% 2% 
Every home and condo should pay 
the same towards the transfer 
station. 39% 11% 3% 8% 39% 
The cost of the transfer station 
should be placed on taxes.   29% 12% 3% 7% 49% 
Any transfer station should be built 
to reduce bear attractants.   58% 17% 19% 1% 5% 
This issue should go to 
referendum. 32% 9% 16% 13% 30% 
 

Common comments in the survey: 
• As reasons opposing building a Transfer Station, many owners stated they bring waste to a home in 

the Valley or only use their properties seasonally  
• Many owners felt that full time Apex residents and businesses should pay more 
• Illegal dumping at the current garbage compactor is recognized as a problem 
• The placement of the Transfer Station close to the Village and near homes was a concern  

 

INCLUSION IN SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 
The results of the survey were looked at by Public and Technical Committees overseeing the Solid Waste 
Management Plan and the RDOS Board. The adopted Solid Waste Management Plan states ‘the RDOS 
will establish a garbage transfer station and recycling depot for the Apex Alpine Ski Area.’ 
 
Does this mean that the RDOS must build a recycling depot at Apex?  
No. It does allow the RDOS to negotiate, plan and raise revenue for the facility without going to 
referendum.  The RDOS Board will determine whether the facility is built and how costs will be charged 
to property owners.  
 

Has the site of a potential depot been decided?  
No. The RDOS has been working with the Apex Resort to locate a potential Waste Transfer Facility in an 
area near the current Apex Resort compactor. A preliminary site survey has been conducted by a 
professional surveyor. Developing the design plan and determining construction and operational service 
costs are the next steps needed to be undertaken. 
 

When could the facility be ready? 
The RDOS is considering summer 2012 construction for completion for the 2012/2013 ski season. 
Depending on a number of factors this timeline could be delayed.  

http://www.rdos.bc.ca/
mailto:info@rdos.bc.ca


J

____________

REGIONAL. DISTRICT
101 Martin Street, Penticton, British Columbia V2A 5J9

Tel: 250.492.0237 Fax: 250.492.0063

Toll Free: 877.610.3737

Email: info@rdos.bc.ca 0 KA N AGA N•
SINI LKAM EEN

February 18, 2013 File No.: 5330.20
Apex Waste Transfer Station

Chief Charlotte Mitchell
Upper Similkarneen Indian Band
Box 220
Hedley, BC VOX 1KO

Dear Chief Mitchell:

Re: RDOS Waste Transfer Station at Apex Ski Resort

The Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen is considering developing a garbage and
recycling collection center at Apex Mountain Resort. Before proceeding, we are hoping to
understand any concerns the Upper Similkameen Indian Band may have regarding the project.

Currently the residents and businesses at the Apex Mountain ski resort provide their own waste
services. The Apex Mountain Resort has one waste compactor which has problems such as
overflowing waste, recyclables in garbage, litter and illegal dumping.

The RDOS has met with Apex residents and businesses over the last three years to look at
options. The RDOS would like to build a waste transfer building with recycling and garbage
bins. All waste would be removed and taken to Campbell Mountain Landfill or to a recycling
facility in Kelowna.

The proposed site of the Waste Transfer Station is within Crown Lease area DL 395s. Apex
Mountain Resort uses this area for an overflow parking lot. The site is near the present location
of the Apex Mountain waste compactor, below the ‘barn’ at the main Apex parking lot.

For the Transfer Station to be built, the Crown Lease would need to be amended. We recognize
the Upper Similkameen Indian Band’s right to be consulted in the change to this lease. This
letter is not intended to circumvent the consultation process but to bring this project to your
attention and allow us to incorporate your concerns as early as possible in the process.

We look forward to working with you. Please feel free to contact Doug French, Manager of
Public Works, at 250-490-4103 or e-mail dfrench@rdos.bc.ca if you have arty questions or would
like further information regarding this project.

ctl

Dan As tton,
RDOS Chair

www.rdos.bc.ca



101 Martin Street, Penticton, British Columbia V2A 5J9

Tel: 250.492,0237 Fax: 250.492.0063 L) C.)
Toll Free: 877.610.3737 “P
Email: info@rdos.bc.ca 0 KA N A GA N

SIMILKAMEEN

February 18, 2013 File No.: 5330.20
Apex Waste Transfer Station

Chief Robert Edward Sr.
Lower Similkameen Indian Band
517-7th Avenue
Keremeos, B.C. VOX 1NO

Dear Chief Edward:

Re: RDOS Waste Transfer Station at Apex Ski Resort

The Regional District of Okanagart-Similkameen is considering developing a garbage and
recycling collection center at Apex Mountain Resort. Before proceeding, we are hoping to
understand any concerns the Lower Similkameen Indian Band may have regarding the project.

Currently the residents and businesses at the Apex Mountain ski resort provide their own waste
services. The Apex Mountain Resort has one waste compactor which has problems such as
overflowing waste, recyclables in garbage, litter and illegal dumping.

The RDOS has met with Apex residents and businesses over the last three years to look at
options. The RDOS would like to build a waste transfer building with recycling and garbage
bins. All waste would be removed and taken to Campbell Mountain Landfill or to a recycling
facility in Kelowna.

The proposed site of the Waste Transfer Station is within Crown Lease area DL 395s. Apex
Mountain Resort uses this area for an overflow parking lot. The site is near the present location
of the Apex Mountain waste compactor, below the ‘barn’ at the main Apex parking lot.

For the Transfer Station to be built, the Crown Lease would need to be amended. We recognize
the Lower Similkameen Indian Band’s right to be consulted in the change to this lease. This
letter is not intended to circumvent the consultation process but to bring this project to your
attention and allow us to incorporate your concerns as early as possible in the process.

We look forward to working with you. Please feel free to contact Doug French, Manager of
Public Works, at 250-490-4103 or e-mail dfrench@rdos.bc.ca if you have any questions or would
like further information regarding this project.

Respectfully,

Dan shton,
RDOS Chair

www rdos bc ca



;EGIoNAL. DSTlCT
101 Martin Street, Penticton, British Columbia V2A 5J9

Tel: 250.492.0237 Fax: 250.492.0063 D D
Toll Free: 877.610.3737

Email:info@rdos.bc.ca OKANAGAI’4•
SIMILKAMEEN

February 18, 2013 File No.: 5330.20
Apex Waste Transfer Station

Chief Jonathon Kruger
Penticton Indian Band
R.R.#2, Site 80, Comp. 19
Penticton, B.C. V2A 6J7

Dear Chief Kruger:

Re: RDOS Waste Transfer Station at Apex Ski Resort

The Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen is considering developing a garbage and
recycling collection center at Apex Mountain Resort. Before proceeding, we are hoping to
understand any concerns the Penticton Indian Band may have regarding the project.

Currently the residents and businesses at the Apex Mountain ski resort provide their own waste
services. The Apex Mountain Resort has one waste compactor which has problems such as
overflowing waste, recyclables in garbage, litter and illegal dumping.

The RDOS has met with Apex residents and businesses over the last three years to look at
options. The RDOS would like to build a waste transfer building with recycling and garbage
bins. All waste would be removed and taken to Campbell Mountain Landfill or to a recycling
facility in Kelowna.

The proposed site of the Waste Transfer Station is within Crown Lease area DL 395s. Apex
Mountain Resort uses this area for an overflow parking lot. The site is near the present location
of the Apex Mountain waste compactor, below the ‘barn’ at the main Apex parking lot.

For the Transfer Station to be built, the Crown Lease would need to be amended. We recognize
the Penticton Indian Band’s right to be consulted in the change to this lease. This letter is not
intended to circumvent the consultation process but to bring this project to your attention and
allow us to incorporate your concerns as early as possible in the process.

We look forward to working with you. Please feel free to contact Doug French, Manager of
Public Works, at 250-490-4103 or e-mail dfrench@rdos.bc.ca if you have any questions or would
like further information regarding this project.

Respectfull

an Ashton,
RDOS Chair

www rdos bc ca



Pa
ge

1
o
f4

@
is

su
u

E
X

P
L

O
R

E
P

U
B

L
IS

H
E

R
P

L
A

N
S

t
I
G

N
S

I
G

S
ea

rc
h

ss
u
u

)
U

P
I N

A
dv

et
U

se
rn

en
t

P
a
g

e
16 N

ev
v

A
p
e
x

W
a
s
te

T
ra

n
s
fe

r
S

ta
ti

o
n

B
y

C
a
m

e
ro

n
B

a
u

g
h

e
n

.
R

D
O

S
S

o
li

d
W

a
st

e
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
C

o
o

rd
in

a
to

r
T

h
e

R
e
g
io

n
a
l

D
is

tr
ic

t
o

f
O

k
a
n
a
g
a
n
-S

im
il

k
a
m

e
e
n

(R
D

O
S

)
h
a
s

e
n
te

re
d

in
to

a
lo

n
g

te
rm

le
a
s
e

to
d
e
v
e
lo

p
a

W
a
st

e
T

ra
n

sf
e
r

S
ta

ti
o

n
at

A
p
e
x

M
o
u
n
ta

in
R

e
so

rt
.

T
h
e

le
a
s
e

a
re

a
is

lo
c
a
te

d
b
e
lo

w
th

e
‘b

ar
n

’
w

h
e
re

g
a
rb

a
g
e

a
n
d

re
c
y

c
li

n
g

b
in

s
a
re

a
lr

e
a
d
y

lo
c
a
te

d

T
h
e

w
a
s
te

tr
a
n

sf
e
r

st
a
ti

o
n

w
il

l
m

e
e
t

a
n

u
m

b
e
r

o
f

n
e
e
d
s
.

in
c
lu

d
in

g
p
ro

v
id

in
g

g
a
rb

a
g
e

a
n
d

re
c
y

c
li

n
g

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

to
al

l
p

ro
p

e
rt

ie
s

o
n

th
e

m
o

u
n

ta
in

,
d
e
a
li

n
g

w
it

h
li

tt
er

a
n
d

a
n

im
a
l

is
s
u
e
s

a
t

th
e

e
x
is

ti
n
g

si
te

,
a
n
d

h
e
lp

in
g

m
a
n

a
g

e
il

le
g
al

d
u
m

p
in

g
.

T
h
e

d
e
si

g
n

c
ri

te
ri

a
w

il
l

re
s
p
e
c
t

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
ra

is
e
d

b
y

re
si

d
e
n
ts

.
in

c
lu

d
in

g
k
e
e
p
in

g
u

s
e
r

fe
e
s

a
s

lo
w

a
s

p
o

ss
ib

le
,

e
n
su

ri
n
g

th
e

si
te

is
a
tt

ra
c
ti

v
e
,

a
n
d

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g

a
c
c
e
s
s

to
s
n

o
w

s
h

o
e

tr
a
il

s,
O

th
e
r

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
in

c
lu

d
e

s
a
fe

a
c
c
e
s
s

b
y

v
e
h
ic

le
s

u
si

n
g

th
e

tr
a
n

sf
e
r

st
a
ti

o
n

a
n
d

c
le

a
r

s
ig

n
a
g

e
fo

r
u
s
e
rs

.
T

h
e

R
D

O
S

w
il

l
b

e
c
o
n
d
u
c
ti

n
g

p
u
b
li

c
c
o
n
su

lt
a
ti

o
n

th
is

S
p
ri

n
g
.

in
c
lu

d
in

g
fo

rm
a
l

c
o
n
su

lt
a
ti

o
n

fo
r

re
z
o

n
in

g
.

T
h

e
si

te
w

il
l

b
e

re
z
o
n
e
d

to
a
ll

o
w

fo
r

th
e

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti

o
n

o
f

a
b

u
il

d
in

g
to

h
o
u
s
e

th
e

g
a
rb

a
g
e

a
n
d

re
c
y
c
li

n
g

b
in

s.
O

th
e
r

c
o
n
su

lt
a
ti

o
n

w
il

l
b

e
d

e
v

e
lo

p
e
d

a
s

th
e

p
ro

je
c
t

p
ro

c
e
e
d
s

T
h
e

g
o

a
l

is
to

h
a
v
e

a
si

te
u

p
a
n
d

ru
n
n
in

g
fo

r
th

e
2
0
1
6
/1

7
sk

i
s
e
a
s
o
n
.

F
o

r
m

o
re

in
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

o
n

th
e

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f

th
e

A
p
e
x

V
ij

as
te

T
ra

n
sf

e
r

S
ta

ti
o
n
.

p
le

a
s
e

c
o
n
ta

c
t

th
e

R
e
g

io
n

a
l

D
is

tr
ic

t
at

2
5

0
-

4
9
0
-4

1
2

9
.

to
ll

fr
e
e

at
1

-8
7

7
-6

1
0

-3
7

3
7
,

o
r

e
-m

a
il

in
fo

@
rd

o
s

b
c
c
a

A
p

ro
je

c
t

w
e
b
p
a
g
e

w
il

l
a
ls

o
b
e

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
at

w
w

w
rd

o
s.

b
c
c
a

w
it

h
b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d

o
n

th
e

A
p
e
x

M
o
u
n
ta

in
W

a
st

e
T

ra
n
sf

e
r

S
ta

ti
o
n

p
ro

je
c
t

a
n
d

u
p

d
a
te

d
in

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

fo
r

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
o
w

n
e
rs

.

A
P

E
X

M
.A

T
rE

R
S

C
O

M
A

P
E

X
M

A

r

B
y

I
a
m

n
o
’

M
a
y

W
h

c
o

m
e

ac
i

a
n
d

S
a
tu

a
n

d
o

th
e

a
n
d

k
n
o
i

a
n

d
fo

rw
w

h
il

e
i
n

I
a
m

st
il

li
a
s

a
re

s
3
1
.

E
n
v
ir

b
u

t
h

a
v

e
p

ro
c
e
s
s
.

re
sp

o
n

si
l

b
e

p
a
ti

e
r

W
h
il

e
th

E
w

e
e
k

s,
I

Y
el

lo
w

L
a
n
d

th
e

M
a
n

a
g

e
r

e
n

jo
y

e
d

(a
s

w
el

l

+
SA

V
E

2
L

IK
E

1:1
3

S
H

A
R

E
D

O
W

N
L

O
A

D
I
.
.

A
p
e
x

W
a
st

e
T

ra
n
sf

e
r

S
ta

ti
o
n

T
h

e
R

e
g
io

n
a
l

D
is

tr
ic

t
h
a
s

e
n
te

re
d

In
to

a
lo

n
g

te
rm

le
a
s
e

to
d
e
v
e
lo

p
a

w
a
s
te

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
s
ta

ti
o
n

fo
r

re
s
id

e
n
ti

a
l

g
a
rb

a
g
e

a
n
d

re
c
y
c
li

n
g
.

T
h
e

lo
c
a
ti

o
n

is
b
e
lo

w
th

e
‘b

a
rn

’
in

a
n

a
re

a
u
s
e
d

fo
r

o
v
e
rf

lo
w

p
a
rk

in
g

.
F

u
rt

h
e
r

in
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

a
n
d

u
p
d
a
te

s
w

il
l

b
e

s
e
n
t

d
ir

c
’c

ll
y

to
al

l
A

p
e
x

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
o
w

n
e
rs

la
te

r
th

is
y
e
a
r.

A
n

y
q

u
e
s
ti

o
n

’;
p
le

a
s
e

c
o
n
ta

c
t

th
e

R
e
g
io

n
a
l

D
is

tr
ic

t
a
t’

•1’

4
”

j

‘
.

F
A

R
<

IN
G

L
O

T
N

’

2
5
0
-4

9
0
-4

1
2
9
,

1
-8

7
7
-6

1
0
-3

7
3
7
,

in
fo

@
rd

o
s
.b

c
.c

a

02
11

0.
12

01
7



Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station 

 

Open House Tuesday December 6th, 2016  
An Open House to review the two design options, cost, and construction timelines for the Apex Mountain Waste 

Transfer Station will be held December 6, 2016 at the Regional District Office at 101 Martin Street, Penticton from  
6 pm to 9 pm. A short presentation will be held at 7:00 pm.  

Keeping the Community Informed 

 

Project Background 

The Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
recently entered into a lease with Apex Mountain 
Resorts for land to construct a Waste Transfer 
Station for garbage and recycling. The lease 
terminates on December 31st, 2028 and will need 
to be renegotiated at that time for future use. The 
Waste Transfer Station will be located in the 
overflow parking area below the Apex main 
parking lot. The property currently houses the 
garbage and recycling bins operated by Apex 
Mountain Resort.  
 
The Regional District has retained McElhanney 
Consulting to design a new Waste Transfer Station 
to provide garbage and recycling services to all 
properties on the Mountain. The design takes into 
consideration concerns raised by residents 
including keeping user fees to a minimum, protecting the creek, litter/odour/animal issues at the site and 
maintaining the access to the surrounding snowshoe trails. Other concerns addressed include safe access by 
vehicles using the transfer station and clear signage for users.   
 

 

Apex Mountain Resort Commercial Charge 

It has been estimated that commercial users generate 17.8% of the waste at Apex but currently pay only  10.7% 
in taxes. In order to ensure fairness for the  transfer station users, the RDOS is proposing to add an additional 
commercial charge to the Apex Mountain Resort for use of the facility equal to 7.1% of capital and operational 
costs or between $6,400 and $8,600 per year, dependent on the selected  transfer station design. 

Lease area shown in top right (yellow outline). Area used currently 
for overflow parking and waste bins.  

 

 



Option 1: Building 
Includes pre-fabricated metal building with retractable door(s) and covered walkway to snowshoe trails.   

Bear resistant compactor bins for garbage and recycling inside the building. 

Option 2: No Building 
No building.  Bear resistant compactor bins for garbage and recycling.  

Tax amount for average* residential property at Apex Mountain 
$187 per year (first ten years) - (mil rate 0.8147) 
After ten years $83 per year—(mil rate 0.4266) 

 Tax amount for average* residential property at Apex Mountain 
$139 per year (first ten years) - (mil rate 0.7294) 
After ten years $83 per year - (mil rate 0.4266) 

Option 1 meets the Apex Property Owner’s concerns regarding winter 
conditions, the nearby creek, visual aesthetics, “bear-resistant” 
practices, deterrent of other wildlife, noise and odour issues. It includes 
the installation of a concrete slab underneath a metal frame building 
with a large retractable over head door(s) for waste removal truck 
access, and a man door for user access. Additionally lighting, a security 
camera, an asphalt access road and an overhang walkway, to allow safe 
access to the current marked trails at the site, is included. 

Survey Question: 
Which of the two different design options for the Apex Transfer Station would you prefer the RDOS proceeds 
with?  ◊ Option 1:  Building 

◊ Option 2:  No Building 
For more information regarding the two options please attend the Open House at the RDOS Office on December 
6th, 2016. The survey will be available at the Open House or it can be submitted online at                                                
http://survey.rdos.abcweblink.ca/. The Survey will close December 9th, 2016 at midnight. 

Option 2 minimizes the costs to the Apex Property Owners. It includes 
the installation of a small concrete slab underneath the compactor and 
waste bins. Lighting, a security camera, a gravel access road and a 
walkway to allow safe access to the current marked trails at the site will 
also be included in Option 2. 

*To estimate the potential tax amount for any residential property at Apex Mountain use the equation below: 
Divide ‘TOTAL ASSESSED VALUE’  by 1000. Then multiply that number by the indicated ‘MIL RATE’ listed above 

Total Assessed Values are listed on your residential property tax notice or through www.bcassessment.ca  

 

 

  October 2016 Apex Waste Transfer Station  

Contact: Roger Huston, RDOS Public Works Manager   Contact: Tom Siddon, Electoral Area D Director  

Email: apexsurvey@rdos.bc.ca                                           Email: tsiddon@rdos.bc.ca 

Phone: 250.490.4103                                           Phone: 250.809.2548 

Visit our website at : www.rdos.bc.ca  

http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPoArhojsKPtUsedTdFTvvojuh7cCQXLLI9L9EFCQXLLI9L8zC3qtTT6m1OrO9Kp2Hpxn_FfUwGa5qsgJRJdNgHjy5KJFKOabPHH3_nVBZxwQsCzDHTbFFLFYUqenHLLsJt6OaqJXEYG7DR8OJMddECS3t-jpoKMC--OCrKr01QrypYJQkaQXi5w17OwlWSUr4vtt1mAb02fB0HRJdCzBxNMS2_id40nGHVEw5WNld


REGIONAL DISTRICT OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
PRESS RELEASE 

 
November 21, 2016  

 
Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station    
  

 
 
The Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen (RDOS) is asking residents, property owners and 
businesses at Apex Mountain Resort to comment on options for the development of a waste transfer 
station. An online survey has been set up and two public open houses are scheduled for early 
December. 
 
In 2010 the RDOS consulted with property owners on whether or not to construct a waste transfer 
station for garbage and recycling. A majority of respondents were in favour of moving forward. In 2016 
the RDOS and Apex Mountain Resort agreed on a location for the waste transfer station and entered 
into a sublease agreement for the site.  
 
Now the RDOS is asking for input on two different design options. The Option1 involves constructing a 
building to enclose separate compactor bins for garbage and recycling. Option 2 is a concrete pad with 
the two compactor bins with no building. Both options use bear proof bins. A key goal will be to keep 
the site clean. 
 
Candace Pilling, RDOS Engineering Technologist, thinks either option will provide an important upgrade 
to the current system.  
 
“We often get calls about the current waste bins,” explains Pilling. “Illegal dumpers drop waste around 
these bins making a huge mess and attracting unwanted animals including bears.” 
 
According to Pilling, the current waste bins are not open to the public. They are only for the use of Apex 
Mountain Resort and a few property owners that pay for the system. The new RDOS Waste Transfer 
Station will provide service for all businesses and residents at the resort. 
 
“With businesses and residents working together we can upgrade the waste bins and provide a better 
system for everyone.”        
 
An open house will be held on Monday December 5th, 2016 from 6 pm to 7:30 pm at Apex Mountain in 
the Longshot Day Lodge beside the cafeteria. On Tuesday December 6th, 2016 an open house will be 
held at the RDOS office at 101 Martin Street from 6 pm to 9 pm with a presentation at 7.  
 
Details of the project, renderings and the Online Survey are available through the RDOS website at 
www.rdos.bc.ca. Click on ‘Apex Transfer Station Survey’ on the right hand side. For further information 
please contact the Regional District Solid Waste group at 250-490-4129, visit www.rdos.bc.ca or e-mail 
info@rdos.bc.ca.  
 

***** 

http://www.rdos.bc.ca/
mailto:info@rdos.bc.ca


 2 

Renderings of the site are available for download and use at 
http://www.rdos.bc.ca/departments/public-works/solid-waste/apex-mountain-waste-transfer-

station/  
Candace Pilling can be contacted at 250-490-4210 or cpilling@rdos.bc.ca.    

 
 
 

Distribution:  For Internal Use Only:  
All Media  Approval Checklist  
All Directors  Department Manager  
B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer  Area Director(s)  
RDOS Intranet  OCAO  
RDOS Internet  Posted  
CivicInfo  File: Document2  

 

http://www.rdos.bc.ca/departments/public-works/solid-waste/apex-mountain-waste-transfer-station/
http://www.rdos.bc.ca/departments/public-works/solid-waste/apex-mountain-waste-transfer-station/
mailto:cpilling@rdos.bc.ca


 

 

 

December 6, 2016 

  
 
 
 File No.:  5330.20 D 

Apex Waste Transfer Station 
 
Re:  Correction to Apex Mountain Transfer Station Information 
 
At an open house held at Apex Mountain Resort December 5th, a transcription error was identified 
regarding the Mil Rate provided in the October 2016 newsletter for the Apex Mountain Transfer 
Station. The correct Mil Rate is listed below as well as the attached updated newsletter.   
 

Tax Amount for Average Residential Property (No Change) Mil Rate (Corrected) 

Option 1: Building $187 per year for 10 years 0.9611 

Option 2: No Building $137 per year for 10 years 0.7127 

 
If the incorrect Mil rate was used to estimate the cost for a particular residential property, please 
recalculate the amount using the correct Mil rate. Information on how to use this Mil Rate to 
estimate the tax bill for a residential property at Apex is included in the updated newsletter.  
 
Additionally, the Regional District has extended the timeline for the survey until Friday, December 
16th in case any respondents wish to revisit their submitted survey. The survey is available online at 
www.rdos.bc.ca. Property owners can also contact the Regional District using the contact information 
below.   
 
If you have any questions please contact the Regional District at 250-492-0237, toll free 1-877-610-
3737, apexsurvey@rdos.bc.ca or visit www.rdos.bc.ca.  
 
The Regional District apologizes for this confusion. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
Cameron Baughen 
Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen  
Solid Waste Division 

http://www.rdos.bc.ca/
mailto:apexsurvey@rdos.bc.ca
http://www.rdos.bc.ca/


OpƟon 1: Building 
Includes pre‐fabricated metal building with retractable door(s) and covered walkway to snowshoe trails.   

Bear resistant compactor bins for garbage and recycling inside the building. 

 OpƟon 2: No Building 
No building.  Bear resistant compactor bins for garbage and recycling.  

Tax amount for average* residenƟal property at Apex Mountain 
$187 per year (first ten years) ‐ (mil rate 0.9611) Updated 

AŌer ten years $83 per year—(mil rate 0.4266) 

 Tax amount for average* residenƟal property at Apex Mountain 
$139 per year (first ten years) ‐ (mil rate 0.7127) Updated 

AŌer ten years $83 per year ‐ (mil rate 0.4266) 

OpƟon 1 meets the Apex Property Owner’s concerns regarding winter 
condiƟons, the nearby creek, visual aestheƟcs, “bear‐resistant” 
pracƟces, deterrent of other wildlife, noise and odour issues. It includes 
the installaƟon of a concrete slab underneath a metal frame building 
with a large retractable over head door(s) for waste removal truck 
access, and a man door for user access. AddiƟonally lighƟng, a security 
camera, an asphalt access road and an overhang walkway, to allow safe 

Survey QuesƟon: 
Which of the two different design opƟons for the Apex Transfer StaƟon would you prefer the RDOS proceeds 
with?  ◊ OpƟon 1:  Building 

◊ OpƟon 2:  No Building 
For more informaƟon regarding the two opƟons please aƩend the Open House at the RDOS Office on December 
6th, 2016. The survey will be available at the Open House or it can be submiƩed online at        
http://survey.rdos.abcweblink.ca/. The Survey will close December 16th, 2016 at midnight. 

OpƟon 2 minimizes the costs to the Apex Property Owners. It includes 
the installaƟon of a small concrete slab underneath the compactor and 
waste bins. LighƟng, a security camera, a gravel access road and a 
walkway to allow safe access to the current marked trails at the site will 
also be included in OpƟon 2. 

*To esƟmate the potenƟal tax amount for any residenƟal property at Apex Mountain use the equaƟon below: 
Divide ‘TOTAL ASSESSED VALUE’  by 1000. Then mulƟply that number by the indicated ‘MIL RATE’ listed above 

Total Assessed Values are listed on your residenƟal property tax noƟce or through www.bcassessment.ca  

  October 2016 Apex Waste Transfer Sta on  

Contact: Roger Huston, RDOS Public Works Manager   Contact: Tom Siddon, Electoral Area D Director  
Email: apexsurvey@rdos.bc.ca                                           Email: tsiddon@rdos.bc.ca 
Phone: 250.490.4103                                           Phone: 250.809.2548 
Visit our website at : www.rdos.bc.ca  





Apex Mountain Waste 
Transfer Station

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen



Agenda

1)Introductions
2)History
3)Chosen Location
4)Design Criteria
5)Findings
6)Design Options
7)Recommendations Regarding Other Services
8)Survey



History

ROAD TO PENTICTON

OLD GUNBARREL
CHOSEN LOCATION

Old Gun Barrel Parking Lot
Rejected by Apex Resort

Apex Mtn Rd Pull Out
Deemed not safe for entry by Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure

•Rejected Sites
Gravel Pit at Apex Entrance

Requires extensive road 
upgrades for safe entry

Past Avalanche Area 
Electrical lines through 

avalanche area expensive. 



History
2010 SURVEY QUESTIONS Totally 

Agree
Somewhat 

Agree
Not an 
Issue

Somewhat 
Disagree

Totally 
Disagree

Apex Mountain needs a transfer 
station for garbage and recyclables. 45% 20% 6% 4% 26%

• 169 responses to the 2010 survey
• Respondents in majority that Apex Mountain needs transfer station
• Just under a third of respondents opposed
• Main issues put forward include: 

• lack of need, 
• cost, 
• location near village, 
• smell, 
• lighting.

• Transfer Station placed in Regional Solid Waste Management Plan
• Service area created that allows for taxation to cover costs of designing, 

building and operating the facility
• 2014 $17,000 went to taxes, no charges 2015 and 2016 $36,155
• 2016 costs include surveying, lawyer and staff time



Chosen Location

CHOSEN LOCATION
•Located below Barn in main parking lot.
•Apex Mountain Resort currently has waste 
bins there.
•Brought to public consultation and survey 
in 2010.
•RDOS entered into sub-lease with Apex 
Mountain Resort in 2016.
•Sub-lease expires end of 2028.
•Sub-lease total payment $10. 

Apex Village 

‘The Barn’

Main Parking 
Lot



Design Criteria
ISSUE DESIGN SPECIFICATION

Safe to access by car Traffic plan developed

Smell Enclosed compactor bins

Cost effective as 
possible

Metal building lowest cost for building, 
choice of no building 

Aesthetics match 
Apex area

Building design similar to ‘Barn’ in 
parking area, closing bay door 

Bear safe Enclosed compactor bins with bear 
proof latches

Safe access to trails Roofed walkway protects from snow 
off roof

Reduction of illegal 
dumping

Security cameras, bylaws, fines and 
Staff to clean up quickly

Lighting Direct or shield all lights away from 
other buildings

Fairness of charges Taxation means less costs to small 
units and more to larger homes



Findings

Compactor bins recommended 
(they will be paid off in 

approximately 6.5 years) Separate food waste collection 
will not be simple to implement

Apex Mountain Resort tax rate lowered by 
Province. Apex Mountain Resort charged 
$6,400 to $8,600 per year for additional 

commercial waste



Design Options
• Survey Question: 

Option A: Building Option B: No Building

The cost for each option is based on the assessed value of the property



Design Options
• Need to pay off building or other improvements in lease period (10 years)
• Check with Staff here if you need help getting your Assessed Value or 

calculating your property estimate using mill rate tonight
• https://evaluebc.bcassessment.ca/

https://evaluebc.bcassessment.ca/


Recommendations Regarding Other Services

• Requests for Bulky Item collections and other services
• Staff doesn’t recommend starting any new additional 

services at this time
• Many unknowns until the program is running including 

total construction and operational costs
• Renovation and demolition material will never be included 

in any Bulky Item collection
• Recommend waiting until the program is going and then 

review potential costs
• Will look at promoting any person or business willing to 

collect mattresses, furniture or appliances for recycling



Surveys

Please fill in survey tonight or visit 
www.rdos.bc.ca

Thank You For Attending

http://facebook.com/RegionalDistrictOfOkanaganSimilkameen
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCB7OI2JsrBH8yAwE97iSkig
http://www.rdos.bc.ca/index.php?id=802&type=100
http://www.rdos.bc.ca/


LOCATION 

ROAD TO PENTICTON 

OLD GUNBARREL 

CHOSEN LOCATION 

CHOSEN LOCATION 

 Located below Barn in main parking lot. 

 Apex Mountain Resort currently has waste 

bins there. 

 Brought to public consultaƟon and survey in 

2010. 

 RDOS entered into sub‐lease with  

 Apex Mountain Resort in 2016. 

 Sub‐lease expires end of 2028. 

 Sub‐lease total payment $10.  

Old Gun Barrel Parking Lot 

Rejected by Apex Resort 

Apex Mtn Rd Pull Out 

Deemed not safe for entry by Ministry of Transport 

 Rejected Sites 
Gravel Pit at Apex Entrance 

Requires extensive road 

upgrades for safe entry 

Past Avalanche Area  

Electrical lines through 

avalanche area expensive.  

Apex Village  

‘The Barn’ 

Main Parking 

Lot 



 Rejected  

2010 SURVEY RESULTS 

A mail back survey was sent to every Apex property owner in 2010 with 

169 surveys returned.  
 

 

Common comments in the survey: 

 As reasons opposing building a Transfer StaƟon, many owners stated 

they bring waste to a home in the Valley or only use their properƟes 

seasonally  

 Many owners felt that full Ɵme Apex residents and businesses should 

pay more 

 Illegal dumping at the current garbage compactor is recognized as a 

problem 

 The placement of the Transfer StaƟon close to the Village and near 

homes was a concern especially with lighƟng and smell 

SURVEY QUESTIONS Totally 
Agree 

Somewhat 
Agree 

Not an 
Issue 

Somewhat 
Disagree 

Totally 
Disagree 

Apex Mountain needs a transfer 
station for garbage and recyclables. 45% 20% 6% 4% 26% 

My main concern with a transfer 
station is cost. 60% 27% 8% 3% 2% 

Every home and condo should pay 
the same towards the transfer 
station. 

39% 11% 3% 8% 39% 

The cost of the transfer station 
should be placed on taxes. 29% 12% 3% 7% 49% 

Any transfer station should be built 
to reduce bear attractants. 58% 17% 19% 1% 5% 

This issue should go to referendum. 
32% 9% 16% 13% 30% 



 Rejected  

DESIGN SPECIFICATIONS 

ISSUE  DESIGN SPECIFICATION 

Safe to access by car Traffic plan developed 

Cost effecƟve as 

possible 

Metal building lowest cost for 

building, choice of no building  

AestheƟcs match 

Apex area 

Building design similar to ‘Barn’ in 

parking area, closing bay door  

Bear safe Enclosed compactor bins with bear 

proof latches 

Safe access to trails Roofed walkway protects from snow 

off roof 

ReducƟon of illegal 

dumping 

Security cameras, bylaws, fines and 

Staff to clean up quickly 

LighƟng Direct or shield all lights away from 

other buildings 

Smell Enclosed compactor bins 

Fairness of charges TaxaƟon means less costs to small 

units and more to larger homes 



FINDINGS 
Compactor Bins for Recycling and Garbage 

Having compactor bins for both garbage and 

recycling will end up saving money. The cost 

saving are esƟmated between $2700 to $4600 

a year. The RDOS can look at using the present 

Apex compactor bin for recyclables. Cardboard 

is best collected with other recyclables.  

Future Food Waste CollecƟon 

In the event the RDOS bans food waste at the 

Campbell Mtn Landfill, Apex Mountain will 

have difficulƟes collecƟng clean food waste at 

the Transfer StaƟon. Food waste will either 

need to be mixed with garbage or an 

alternaƟve approach will have to be developed 

with the Apex community. 

Apex Mountain Resort Commercial Charge 

It has been esƟmated that commercial users generate 17.8% of the waste 

but currently pay only  10.7% in taxes. In order to ensure fairness for  all  

transfer staƟon users, the RDOS is proposing to add an addiƟonal 

commercial charge to the Apex Mountain Resort for use of the facility 

equal to 7.1% of capital and operaƟonal costs or between $6,400 and 

$8,600 per year, dependent on the selected  transfer staƟon design. 



 

 

FINANCIALS 
OpƟon A: Building 

Includes pre‐fabricated metal building with retractable door(s) and covered walkway to snowshoe trails.   

Bear resistant compactor bins for garbage and recycling inside the building. 

Tax amount for average* residenƟal property at Apex Mountain 

$187 per year (first ten years) ‐ (mil rate 0.9611) Updated 

AŌer ten years $83 per year—(mil rate 0.4266) 

OpƟon 1 meets the Apex Property Owner’s concerns regarding winter 

condiƟons, the nearby creek, visual aestheƟcs, “bear‐resistant” 

pracƟces, deterrent of other wildlife, noise and odour issues. It 

includes the installaƟon of a concrete slab underneath a metal frame 

building with a large retractable over head door(s) for waste removal 

truck access, and a man door for user access. AddiƟonally lighƟng, a 

security camera, an asphalt access road and an overhang walkway, to 

allow safe access to the current marked trails at the site, is included. 

*To esƟmate the potenƟal tax amount for any residenƟal property at Apex Mountain use the equaƟon below: 

Divide ‘TOTAL ASSESSED VALUE’  by 1000. Then mulƟply that number by the indicated ‘MIL RATE’ listed above 

Total Assessed Values are listed on your residenƟal property tax noƟce or through www.bcassessment.ca  

Capital Costs  EsƟmate 

Engineering, Public ConsultaƟon, ConstrucƟon Management $200,000 

OpƟon A ConstrucƟon ‐ With Building (see breakout below*)  $392,750 

  

Annual OperaƟng Costs  EsƟmate 

Annual OperaƟng Costs (includes rental of compactors) $50,000 

Charge to Apex Mountain Resort based on 7.1% of capital and operaƟonal 
costs (higher amount shown) ‐$8,600 

  

Breakout of OpƟon A ConstrucƟon ‐ With Building*  EsƟmate 

Site Works $13,500 

Roadworks and Stormwater $41,600 

Metal Building with concrete base $221,400 

For s BC Upgrades $37,000 

Con ngency $79,250 

  

All costs above are es mates based on preliminary design  



 

 

FINANCIALS 
OpƟon B: No Building 

No building.  Bear resistant compactor bins for garbage and recycling.  

 Tax amount for average* residenƟal property at Apex Mountain 

$139 per year (first ten years) ‐ (mil rate 0.7127) Updated 

AŌer ten years $83 per year ‐ (mil rate 0.4266) 

OpƟon 2 minimizes the costs to the Apex Property Owners. It 

includes the installaƟon of a small concrete slab underneath the 

compactor and waste bins. LighƟng, a security camera, a gravel 

access road and a walkway to allow safe access to the current 

marked trails at the site will also be included in OpƟon 2. 

*To esƟmate the potenƟal tax amount for any residenƟal property at Apex Mountain use the equaƟon below: 

Divide ‘TOTAL ASSESSED VALUE’  by 1000. Then mulƟply that number by the indicated ‘MIL RATE’ listed above 

Total Assessed Values are listed on your residenƟal property tax noƟce or through www.bcassessment.ca  

Capital Costs  EsƟmate 

Engineering, Public ConsultaƟon, ConstrucƟon Management $200,000 

OpƟon B ConstrucƟon ‐ No Building (see breakout below**)  $132,000 

  

Annual OperaƟng Costs  EsƟmate 

Annual OperaƟng Costs (includes rental of compactors) $50,000 

Charge to Apex Mountain Resort based on 7.1% of capital and operaƟonal 
costs (higher amount shown) ‐$8,600 

  

Breakout of OpƟon B ConstrucƟon ‐ No Building**  EsƟmate 

Site Works $4,900 

Roadworks and Stormwater $24,400 

Site Improvements $38,400 

For s BC Upgrades $37,000 

Con ngency $27,300 

  

All costs above are es mates based on preliminary design  



 

 

BUILDING SAMPLES  



Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station Survey Results and Comments    December 18, 
2016 

Survey Results: 

Option A: Building    70

Option B: No Building   36 

Option A: Building 66%, Option B: No Building 34% 

Comments: 

Don’t block access to ravens trail, south side of area you will be building 

Make sure the building is big enough 

I think an enclosed building would be much neater than and open site. Also, may reduce illegal 
dumping. Difference in cost is minimal. 

A building must be built or the problem will stay the same, garbage strewn everywhere. 

You need to do a better job of explaining why/how this is going to be kept clean. 

Build it! 

Basing the fee per household on assessed value of each property is highly disproportionate. 
Please consider another option‐there must be another way. 

Please install fencing to stop wind and birds moving trash that’s left around the ends up in the 
creek. Please build this as soon as possible and make it pretty. 

What is in place for year 11 as you said the lease is up. 

If you do this without a building we will end up with the same mess that exists now. The 
difference is a no brainer. 

What will be the times open and what about large objects. 

Bulky items once or twice a year. Is it open 24 hrs? 

Weekend use‐We take our trash home. 

 Convenient site, keep it simple. I will always overflow. 

Still recommend plans for an alternate site for the future as Apex Village expands. 



a Hybrid rate charge. Each of 750 unit owners pay $80.‐$100. user fee for Garbage. The 
remainder could be made up at above Mill rate per property value. 

Please go with the building option! 

As the proposed site for the transfer station is very close to condo developments and trail 
heads, the only option should be a covered building. At present, the uncovered transfer area is 
unsightly and loud. 

I prefer that a building be in place for the garbage, however, anything would be an 
improvement over the current situation. Either way, something needs to be done to prevent 
illegal dumping. 

The one without the building is no better than what we have now. We know this doesn't work 
because everyone drops their crap and it blows all over the place. 

This should be user pay. I don't use it or need it. I bring my stuff down with me. 

As new property owners at Apex, and long time ski resort clients, we feel that the building 
option is the best way forward. For many years the garbage bins have been an eyesore at the 
entrance to much loved snow shoe trails and visible from the parking lot by all people. A long 
term, permanent solution that we at Apex can all be happy with and proud of, is desperately 
needed. 

would prefer not to see located in middle of village also as a commercial operator I hope to 
keep my garbage bins but don't want to pay twice. 

This is close to our unit. I will accept everyone else's garbage in my backyard if and only if 
everyone agrees to fund a proper facility. It should be possible to make this look good. It does 
NOT have to be a value‐killing eyesore. 

I would prefer no changes 

Including a building addresses one of the main concerns, that being unsightly and messy 
garbage in an area right in the center of the village. I am strongly in favour of the building 
option. 

1. Underground electrical service 2. Sprinkler/fire suppression in building? 3. Signage directing

visitors to facility.

already paying for similar service, with no guarantee lease will be renewed! Save us the cost of 
moving/renewing which Apex will certainly take advantage of! 

Inappropriate location, very short sighted, obviously no qualified planner on staff. Apex 
Mountain Resort already is short on parking and this location will further reduce parking by 25 
spots. Going to be lots of vexed people getting towed from the Keremeos Creek Strata parking 



who already owns about one third of current parking lot. Transfer station needs to go at old 
gravel pit and will end up there if the resort ever changes hands. 

great presentation at Apex 

With regards to commercial garbage, as a previous owner of The Trading Post, I don't think 
adding more burden to the small businesses at Apex is a good plan. Apex Mountain Resort will 
take any increase in costs and pass it directly to the small businesses that lease from them. I 
paid $100 a month for garbage for the four months that the store was open. It worked out to 
be almost $5 per bag. It is very tough to make a go of a seasonal business at Apex and if you 
charge Apex Resort more they will just pass it on to The Edge, The Gunbarrel and the Trading 
Post. The hotel used a separate bin supplier other than Apex Mountain Resorts because Apex 
charged so much it made more sense rent bins and pay for dumping. The other main issue is 
the garbage that is around the bins. It is beyond disgusting and an embarrassment to the Apex 
Community at the moment. I hope there is a provision for workers to clean up in and around 
the building of bins because it will be needed. There has to be mandatory fines for large items 
left behind as well. They installed a camera at the current bins but it hasn't stopped the 
dumping of couches, beds, appliances, etc. It is pretty sad that people don't know better. With 
the RDOS providing garbage removal in the future everyone will know they are paying for 
garbage on their taxes so the illegal dumping of large items is only going to get worse. 

1. Regardless of the option chosen, the facility must be managed better than the current Apex

waste/recycling facility. For years, winter or summer, this facility has been poorly managed.

Overflowing containers, debris allowed to blow into the air and fall into the creek. Current

facility, big mess. New facility, what is going to change with the management and the standard

of care? The current situation is a concerning indication of what will take place with the new

facility unless management changes or improves. 2. Security cameras: absolutely essential at

the Apex site and we understand that these will be included in both options. However you must

ensure that the quality of the camera recording and the area covered must be adequate to
identify all illegal users as abuse and illegal use of this facility WILL definitely occur.

At present, the waste area is extremely loud and attracts crows and other wildlife. As neither 
option will eliminate this, perhaps at least housing the containers in a building will improve 
these problems (as well as be more aesthetically pleasing for the property owners who look 
directly onto this area). Ideally, I would rather see the waste area moved farther away from 
occupied units to a more remote area. 

Given the harsh weather conditions at Apex, a building makes the most sense to us and isn't 
that much more expensive. Thank you 

We have owned property at apex for thirty years and have never had difficulty taking care of 
our own garbage and recycling. We will not use the new facility 

We will never use this! 



‐ a few design features to ensure it fits in with local residences would be money well spent (e.g. 
exposed timbers, etc.) 

Hello, I am submitting my suggestion for a more equitable method of sharing the costs of the 
solid waste station proposed by the RDOS. 
I hope you will consider this idea instead of mil rate based on assessed value. 

1. A flat rate for lots with single family residences‐‐ duplex / triplex would be per unit etc.
2. A flat unit rate for commercial hotel based on number of "units"
3. a rate for food/beverage services based on size or seats i.e. the Edge wouldn't pay as much
as the Gunbarrel 4.  Empty lots a base price (low low) until built upon

 The RDOS can do better than what they presented to us.  
The RDOS solution as presented is not equitable or fair in my opinion. 

Hello, not sure if it is possible to add my voice to the transfer station at Apex.  If so: 

I am opposed to this added cost as most people are seasonal occupants and simply take their 
garbage down the hill to their homes. 

Not sure why we seasonal occupants would want to pay for Apex permanent resident garbage 
collection and those that rent properties that might produce a lot of garbage, my thoughts. 

A response would be appreciated. 

I have thought about the payment system proposed for Apex.  I don't understand why the 
method of payment should be any different here than for any other community.  I have lived in 
the RDOS in Naramata, and now live at Hasula also in the RDOS.  The system used for these 
areas works well, why the proposed change to the tax system.  I think that this is very unfair as 
some who have condo's will generate as much solid waste as a cabin but pay much less as their 
property value is less. That to me is inherently unfair.  I am fully in favor the transfer station and 
the building, it is only the financing of the project that I find troublesome. 



Thanks for taking my call and your understanding of our position regarding the taxation model 
being considered for Apex Property owners to fund the waste transfer station.  As stated, I 
have a BC assessed home valued at $479,000  X  0.9611 = $460. /year or $38./month for trash 
and recycling. Over the past 10 years Apex Mt. Resort charged $120 per year for the current 
services.  With the current rates you’re suggesting, we’ll pay 3 times that amount for the same 
service. This is not at all reasonable. We own a 3‐bedroom home that we use maybe 4 ‐ 5 
months a year during ski season. We have two people living here, both seniors, (Julia 68 and 
me 71) and we DON’T RENT out our ski home or rooms. We recycle everything and average 1 
bag of trash every two weeks. We were in favour of Option # 1 but if our costs are significantly 
less we’ll go for Option # 2. Our best choice from a monetary standpoint would be to let Apex 
Mt.  to continue their service. Again, payment determined by home value and mil rate is totally 
unacceptable and unfair. Many property owners rent out their ski homes, rooms, condos and 
apartments, using the solid waste services in much more volume then we. As well, with a 
shortage of apartments and condos in Penticton, there is now a sizable increase in full time 
renters at Apex for 12 months a year. The Waste Transfer Station, whatever it ends up being, 
should be cost shared EQUALLY to EVERY home, business, condo/apartment in every stratum. 
This would be far fairer to the likes of us who are not using the service to the extent that our 
share of the cost would indicate. 10 years of work has gone into this Waste Transfer Station 
and that effort is appreciated. However, it seems that equitable funding for this project is still a 
concerning and fundamental issue that needs further exploration. We feel so strongly about 
this that we will refuse to pay the full amount for this station if it is assessment value. We will 
instead base our payment on our usage and submit monies that cover our usage in a manner 
that is fair and equitable to us. 

I have reviewed the information recently distributed by RDOS on the Waste Transfer Station 
and the Dec. 6th/16 letter of C. Baughen.  As a property owner I understand the rationale of 
having all property owners being held responsible for the capital outlay to establish the station.  
But it concerns me that owners of undeveloped property are being to be charged for the 
ongoing operating costs of said waste station.  It is patently obvious that such property owners 
gain no benefit from the day to day operation of the station and therefore should not have to 
pay such annual fees.  I would further point out that our annual property taxes recognize the 
distinction by not assessing taxes against anything beyond the theoretical capital value of 
property.  Again, the proposed payment methodology proposed in Mr. Baughen’s letter 
amounts to a fee being charged the property owners in question without the receipt of any 
benefit.   Holding or developing property at Apex is already financially onerous, particularly 
given the loss of resale value over the past ten years.  I hope your endeavour does not add to 
holding costs. 



Regional District of Okanagan‐Similkameen 
Apex Mountain Waste Transfer StaƟon 

 

Keeping the Community Informed 

Survey and Open House Results 

In October 2016 the RDOS released an online and paper survey to the residents and businesses at Apex Mountain Resort 
regarding two design opƟons for the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer StaƟon. The RDOS hosted two open houses to 
review the design opƟons, cost, construcƟon Ɵmelines, and to answer quesƟons from residents and businesses.  

The open houses and survey comments idenƟfied some key issues that residents and businesses would like considered: 

 Illegal dumping at the current site occurs frequently. Materials include building materials, electronics and furniture. 
Some property owners would like opƟons for large item disposal at the Mountain.  Others would like surveillance 
cameras and fines for people that illegally dump materials. 

 
Some property owners were concerned about using property value as the basis for payment.  For example a cabin 

valued at $450,000 could pay over $430 a year compared to a $100,000 condo paying $96. Some requests were 
made to share costs more equitably between units.  

  
A few residents and businesses quesƟoned the need for a new waste transfer staƟon. People that did not want a 

waste transfer staƟon generally opted for the lowest cost approach (No Building). 
 
Environmental issues discussed included windblown liƩer, materials geƫng in the neighbouring creek and wildlife. 
 
Concerns about smell and noise for units close to the site were expressed along with some opposiƟon to the site 

locaƟon in general. 
 

Next Steps 

Due to the survey results, the RDOS is now finalizing design for a building at the waste transfer site. Samples of the type 
of proposed building can be found on the reverse side of this newsleƩer. Building colours and design will be chosen to 
work with the Apex Mountain Resort Village and will take the various issues idenƟfied into consideraƟon. The RDOS 
expects to hire a contractor in late spring for construcƟon over summer 2017. The Regional District will also be 
requesƟng quotes from companies regarding pricing for the compacƟon and transport of waste and recycling.  

Other upcoming steps include creaƟng rules, regulaƟons and fines for the site, hiring a maintenance contractor to ensure 
the site stays clean, and reviewing potenƟal opƟons for payment, such as a fee for service rather than taxes.  

Regional District staff intend to provide an update regarding the Waste Transfer StaƟon at the Mountain later this spring.  

February 2017 

Survey Results  Op on A: Building Op on B: No Building 

106 Surveys Received 66% 34% 



  February 2017 Apex Waste Transfer StaƟon  

Contact: Cameron Baughen, Solid Waste Management Coordinator  Contact: Tom Siddon, Electoral Area “D” Director  
Email: apexsurvey@rdos.bc.ca                                             Email: tsiddon@rdos.bc.ca 
Phone: 250.490.4203                                             Phone: 250.809.2548 
Visit our website at : www.rdos.bc.ca  

For historical informaƟon on this project please visit the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer StaƟon 
page at www.rdos.bc.ca   

Apex Mountain Waste Transfer StaƟon  
sample rendering—close view 

Apex Mountain Waste Transfer StaƟon  
Sample rendering—far view 

Samples of Metal Buildings 
(above and below) 

 

Building colours and design will be chosen to 
work with the Apex Mountain Resort Village 



 

 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
 
INFORMATION RELEASE 
 
August 29, 2017 
 

Construction of Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station To Finish 2018 
 

 
The Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen will complete the construction of a waste transfer 
station at Apex Mountain Resort in 2018. The waste transfer station will provide garbage and 
recycling service for the homes and businesses at the ski hill.  
 
Completion in 2018 is due to a number of factors including a change of ownership of the resort, 
higher than estimated construction pricing, internal capacity issues due to Staff working on flooding 
and fires and a lack of clarity on how the project will be financed. RDOS Staff determined that 
finishing construction in 2017 was not financially feasible with the short building season at the ski 
hill. Proceeding this year would have cost residents more money than waiting until next summer. 
 
The facility is now slated for completion next year. Works completed this year include power 
upgrades to the site. Updated information will be shared on the RDOS website. For more 
information visit www.rdos.bc.ca, email info@rdos.bc.ca, call 250-490-4129 or toll free 1-877-610-
3737.  
 

#### 
 
  
Karla Kozakevich, Chair 
Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
 
 
  

Distribution:  For Internal Use Only:  
All Media  Approval Checklist  
All Directors  Department Manager  
B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer  Area Director(s)  
RDOS Intranet  OCAO  
RDOS Internet  Posted  
CivicInfo  File: Document2  

 
 

http://www.rdos.bc.ca/
mailto:info@rdos.bc.ca


 
   
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station - Proposed Fees and Tax Structure  
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
THAT for the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station the Regional District of Okanagan-
Similkameen recover capital costs from taxation and operational costs as a fee for service. 
 
Purpose: 
To describe the cost recovery options available associated with construction and operation of the 
Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station.  Further, to allow staff to complete budget planning for 
the 2018-2022 period. 
 
Reference: 
RDOS – Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station 
Apex Mountain Solid Waste Transfer Station Local Service Establishement Bylaw 
 
Business Plan Objective:  
Objective 3.3.4 Implementing the Solid Waste Management Plan 
 
Background: 
In 2016 and 2017, Staff consulted with property owners at Apex Mountain regarding the 
construction and operation of the Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station. Estimated costs were 
presented based on all capital and operational charges being placed on taxes, and were calculated 
using both land and improvements. 
 
Concerns were raised by residents related to placing all charges on taxes.  Bare land owners felt 
they would be contributing to a service they would not be using. The hotel at Apex wanted to 
continue their own bin service and felt contributing to a service they would not use would be 
unfair. Home owners with more valuable cabins felt that they were unfairly paying more towards 
the service than those in smaller units even though waste generation per dwelling may be similar.   
 
Analysis: 
Capital charges being placed on taxation and operational charges being applied to only properties 
using the service is common for water and waste water utilities operated by the RDOS.  The 
rationale is as follows:  
 

· Properties with no improvements are not charged operational costs but do contribute to a 
community asset that will be used once their property is developed; 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/D. Apex_Fees_Bylaw.Docx 
File No: 5330.20 Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station 
Page 2 of 3 
 

· Entities not using the service may choose to use the service at a later date and shall have 
contributed a fair portion to the capital costs.  

 
There are 598 taxable units (mix of properties and strata units) identified at Apex Mountain.  Of 
these approximately 488 are residential units.   
 
Using both taxation and fee for service as a cost recovery mechanism increases the overall costs for 
most users of the system as the costs are spread over 100 less properties.  The financial analysis 
completed is presented in the tables below. 
 

Table 1: Basis for Residential Charge Estimates 
Estimated Costs Cost Notes 
Total Capital Costs $592,790 Engineering, Construction 
Annual Capital Payments $71,278 Amortized over 10 years at 3.5% interest 

Annual Apex Mountain Contribution ($5,061) 
7.1% of capital cost based on estimated 
volume of waste produced as compared to 
recovered funds from taxation 

Remaining Annual Capital Cost $66,217 Amortized over 10 years 
   
Annual Operational Cost $62,100 Revised full year cost for 2019 

Annual Apex Mountain Contribution ($4,409) 
7.1% of operational cost based on estimated 
volume of waste produced as compared to 
recovered funds from taxation 

Remaining Annual Operational Cost $57,691  
 

 
Table 2: Recovery of Capital and Operational Costs By Taxation Only 

Residential Taxable Mil Rate - 
Capital and Operational Costs 
($123,098) 

1.0677 per $1000 land 
and improvements; 
$208 average property 

Capital costs amortized over 
10 years  
Average cost per home 

 

 
Table 3: Recovery of Capital Cost by Taxation and Operating Cost by Utility Billing (Charge per 
Housing Unit)  

Residential Taxable Mill Rate 
Capital Only 

0.5706 per $1000 land 
and improvements; 
$111 average property 

Amortized costs over 10 years 
 
Capital portion 

Residential Operational Charges $114 per home Operational cost portion 
Additional Utility Billing Costs  $1.80 per home Staff time/mailing per home 
Average Residential Cost $226.80 average per 

home 
Overall average cost per home 

 
Initiating utility billing for the Apex Mountain Waste Trasfer Station will have additional “year-one” 
costs.  These costs have been estimated at $5,000 or an equivalent of $10.40 per home.  
 
 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/D. Apex_Fees_Bylaw.Docx 
File No: 5330.20 Apex Mountain Waste Transfer Station 
Page 3 of 3 
 

Respectfully submitted:                                                             Endorsed By: 
 
 
Cameron Baughen                                                                        Janine Dougall 
___________________________________________          ______________________________ 
C. Baughen, Solid Waste Management Coordinator             Janine Dougall, Public Works Manager 

 

 

There would be no change in what Apex Mounatin Resort pays in either scenario (full taxation 
versus taxation and fees).  
 
Alternatives: 
Recover capital and operational costs by taxation only. 
 
Communication Strategy: 
RDOS Staff will conduct consultation with Apex Mountain property owners this winter regarding the 
construction of the waste transfer station and the cost recovery mechanism option chosen by the 
Board for implementation.  
 

 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/E. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 1 of 6 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Award of Predesign for Skaha Estates Sewer Expansion Project 
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
This recommendation is to come forward later in the day, at the Board Meeting of October 19, 2017 
THAT the Board of Directors reallocate the Regionally Significant Project Gas Tax Funds allocated 
for the “Okanagan Falls Wetlands Enhancement” project to the “Predesign of the Skaha Estates 
Sewer Extension to Okanagan Falls” project in the amount of $360,911; 
 
THAT the Board of Directors approve the expenditure of up to $360,911 for consulting services to 
Tetra Tech Canada Inc. for the Predesign phase of the “Skaha Estates Sewer Extension to 
Okanagan Falls” project; and 
 
THAT the Board of Directors execute a consulting services agreement with Tetra Tech Canada Inc. 
for the Predesign Services detailed in the Request for Proposals and the submitted Proposal for 
the “Skaha Estates Sewer Extension to Okanagan Falls” project. 
 
Purpose: 
Retain a consultant to carry out professional services required to prepare the predesign and 
updated costing of the new sewer system to allow a referendum process to proceed for the 
establishement of the Skaha Estates service area. It is anticipated that a future report will come to 
the Board after a successful referendum for the additional  award of required consulting services. 
 
Reference: 
In accordance with the Purchasing and Sales Policy, the Regional District Board of Directors shall 
approve all purchases over $50,000. 
 
Business Plan Objective: (Tie to current RDOS Business Plan) 
Key Success Driver #3 – Build a Sustainable Region 
Goal 3.3: To develop an environmentally sustainable region with Objective 3.3.5 to bring the Skaha 
Estates and Kaleden areas into the Okanagan Falls wastewater treatment system. 
 

  



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/E. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 2 of 6 
 

Background: 
There are two main components to discuss within this board report. The first is in regards to the 
Okanagan Falls Wetland project and the other with the Skaha Estates Sewer Extension project.  
 
Wetlands Project 
The Okanagan Falls Wetland Enhacement project has been in the future vision for wastewater 
treatment in the area since the idea was initially discussed during the development of the 
‘Okanagan Falls Sewage Treatment Plant - Strategic Review’ in 2005. It was considered an 
enhancement option to potentially benefit the natural wetlands in the area. As the project 
proceeded, the wetland option was brought forward as an optional, future treatment that could be 
added when the time was right.  
 
Of note, the Operating Certificate for the Okanagan Falls Wastewater Treatment Plant does not 
require installation or utilization of a wetland for treatment before the effluent is released into the 
Okanagan River.    
 
In 2010, during completion of the Liquid Waste Management Plan and the Predesign of the new 
Wastewater Treatment Plant, the wetlands enhancement project was determined to be 
unaffordable at the time. The natural wetland area across the Okanagan River was not suitable and 
the Regional District did not have another location available. The plans were put on hold until a 
future undetermined date. 
 
In 2012, funds were allocated from the Regionally Significant Projects (RSP) gas tax funds in an 
effort to move the wetland project along. In total, $360,911 was allocated to the wetland project. 
Initial designs and estimates place the costs at about $1.0 Million plus the cost of purchasing land. 
As part of the rules surrounding the RSP funds, the securing of complete funding for the wetland 
project is required prior to the RSP agreement execution. To date, although the funds are allocated 
to the wetlands project, the Regional District does not have an agreement for the RSP funds with 
UBCM as the total project costs have not been secured in full.   
 
In 2016, the Regional District was provided an opportunity to purchase a 4.2 hectare piece of 
property for constructing an engineering wetland. The property was purchased and plans were 
initiated to design a system for reduction of endocrine disruptors or other micropollutants. A 
significant amount of research all across the globe is underway to look at the effects and treatment 
options for various micropollutants. To date however, there are still many unanswered questions 
on the most efficient ways of reducing these pollutants and as such the best layout within a 
constructed wetland area is largely unknown.  
 
The Regional District has sought out additional funding sources, however the efforts have been 
unable to secure additional funds at this time to carry out the wetlands enhancement project to 
completion. The previously allocated RSP funds are expiring on September 30, 2018. These funds 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/E. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 3 of 6 
 

will not be able to be utilized for construction of a wetland within this timeframe and as such, it is 
recommended that these funds be relocated to a different project.    
 
Skaha Estates Sewer System 
The addition of the Skaha Estates and Kaleden communities into the Okanagan Falls sewer system 
has been discussed since the late 1980’s when the first Liquid Waste Management Plan was 
completed for the area.  In 2014, the Board of Directors made the sewering of Skaha Estates and 
Kaleden the top priotiy for the Regional District.   
 
In 2015, an application was submitted to the Building Canada Fund – Small Communities Fund (BCF-
SCF) for the sewering project. Unfortunately this application was denied, however the Regional 
District was encouraged to reapply in the following year. In 2016, a revised application was 
submitted breaking the project into distinct phases; Phase 1 for Skaha Estates and Phase 2 for the 
Kaleden area. In March of 2017, the BCF-SCF grant was approved for Phase 1.  
 
The submitted application to the BCF-SCF program requested a grant of about $8.4 Million. The 
approved grant to the Regional District was about $6.6 Million, which leaves a shortfall in funding of 
$2.2 Million. The project has significant challenges with rock through out the Skaha Estates 
community and along Eastside Road.  A large contingency was added in the grant submission for 
the removal of rock however with the reduced funding received, there is concern on whether the 
grant is sufficient to cover all of the rock removal required without increasing the cost to each 
property owner substantially. Initial discussions with the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure indicate potential opportunities for partnering on some work in the area that could 
reduce the Regional District costs.  
 
The initial plan was to utilize the preliminary design created for the grant application and move 
towards holding a referendum for Skaha Estates within about eight months. The creation of the 
service area and borrowing bylaw would then be completed. With the reduced grant received, the 
initial project plan and potential risks were re-evaluated and an alternative approach is 
recommended. 
 
Analysis: 
The addition of sewers to the Skaha Estates community has many challenges. After the reduced 
grant was received, a review of the preliminary design was conducted to evaluate where potential 
increased risks could raise the project costs to unaffordable levels.  
 
At this time to successfully move the Skaha Estates sewer project forward, it is recommended to 
complete a full predesign to quantify some key risks affecting the project costs. Specifically the 
geotechnical studies and archeological assessments, as well as confirming the exact layout including 
elevations of the sewer system. The cost to complete all of these predesign components is 
estimated at about $347,000. After completion of the predesign work in mid-2018, the Regional 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/E. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 4 of 6 
 

District would have an increased confidence in the projected estimates prior to initiating a 
referendum process.  
 
With the refinement of the predesign and updated costs, one of the following outcomes will occur: 

1. Predesign indicates Skaha Estates sewer project has sufficient funding to move forward with 
the grant received. Successful referendum is completed. Project will proceed as planned. 

2. Predesign indicates Skaha Estates sewer project does not have sufficient funds to move 
forward with the reduced grant funding. Additional funding must be secured either through 
additional grants or increased contributions from the residents. 

3. Predesign indicates Skaha Estates sewer project does not have sufficient funds to move 
forward with the reduced grant funding, no additional grants are available and residents do 
not approve the required contribution amount. The sewering project for Skaha Estates is 
then abandoned and the sewer expansion project for Kaleden is initiated. The installation of 
the sewer system for Kaleden is expected to be much less than in Skaha Estates due to the 
more favorable ground conditions. 

 
Options for Funding the Recommended Predesign Work: 
In a typical capital infrastructure project that receives Federal & Provincial grant program funding, 
the predesign expenses would be paid from the received grant. In this case it would be the BCF-SCF 
grant received for the Skaha Estates sewering project. This grant covers 2/3 of project expenses, 
leaving 1/3 to be paid by the service area residents. As the Skaha Estates sewer area is not yet a 
formal service area, the 1/3 of the costs (about $116,000) would need to be allocated to the Rural 
Projects Area D budget in 2018.  

· If the detailed predesign indicates sufficient monies are available, the 1/3 of the costs owed 
by the property owners could be rolled into the newly created service area in 2019 or 2020. 
Rural Projects Area D would have to cover the expenses until that time. 

· If the detailed predesign indicates that the budget may not be sufficient and adequate 
funding may not be available, the Rural Projects Area D would need to cover the cost of at 
least $116,000 or potentially the entire predesign expense of $347,000. 

 
The wetlands enhancement project will not be able to utilize the $360,911 allocated to it from the 
Regionally Significant Program (RSP) funds prior to the expiration of September 2018. Discussions 
with UBCM indicate the RSP funding is eligible to be reallocated to the Skaha Estates sewer project 
for the predesign as it will ultimately result in construction of new infrastructure.  
 
Given the above it is recommended that the RSP funds be reallocated from the wetlands 
enhancement project to the Skaha Estates sewer project for immediate use. The RSP funding would 
cover 100% of the costs to complete the predesign work. 
 
 
 
 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/E. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 5 of 6 
 

Consultant Selection 
In preparation of proceeding with the predesign, detailed design and ultimately construction of the 
Skaha Estates sewer expansion project, a Request for Qualifications and Expression of Interest for 
obtaining a consultant was released and eleven submissions were received on June 30, 2017.  The 
eleven submissions were evaluated by three staff members to determine the shortlist of four 
consultants. The four shortlisted consultants were Associated Engineering, McElhanney Consulting 
Services, Stantec and Tetra Tech Canada.  
 
These four shortlisted consultants received the full Request for Proposal (RFP) document used for 
selecting the consultant team for bringing sewers to Skaha Estates.  Proposals were received on 
August 31, 2017. A team of five staff members independently evaluated and ranked the four 
proposals based on evaluation criteria presented in the RFP document.  Following the individual 
evaluation, the team met to share and discuss results.  
 
Each proposal had strengths and weaknesses. The most significant issues identified in the received 
proposals included insufficient detail on methodology and what deliverables were included, 
insufficient communications planning for the scope of work, and lack of clarity in the document. 
Significant strengths were also observed in the proposals including an analysis of specific project 
challenges, extensive communications and engagement plan, and a very detailed methodology for 
the project approach.  
 
In the RFP, the overall budget was provided to the consultant. As a result, the methodology was the 
most critical aspect of the work. The team ranked the proposals with and without the points for the 
price and the ranking results were the same when costs were considered. 
 
The following table provides the overall ranking of received proposals: 

CONSULTANT RANK 
Tetra Tech Canada 1 
McElhanney Consulting Services 2 
Associated Engineering 3 
Stantec 4 

 
At this time, it is necessary to secure the consultant for completing the work on the Skaha Estates 
sewer expansion project. As discussed previously it is recommended to proceed with the predesign 
at this time to determine the ultimate design and construction plan with updated costs for the 
Skaha Estates area. Following the predesign stage, a report will return to the Board to award 
subsequent work to the contracted consultant, Tetra Tech Candada. 
 
Alternatives: 

1. The Board may decide to not reallocate the funding from the Regionally Significant Project 
gas tax funds and approve the expenditure of $120,000 to $360,000 from the Rural Projects 
Area D budget in order to move the Skaha Estates sewer project forward. 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/E. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 6 of 6 
 

2. The Board may decide to abandon the Skaha Estates sewer project and direct staff to enter 
into discussions with the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (formerly the Ministry of 
Community, Sports and Cultural Development) on seeking approval to change the scope of 
the awarded project to the Kaleden sewer expansion.  

 
Communication Strategy:  
In order to undertake a project of this magnitude, community members must be kept well informed 
and feel included in the process. The goal is to have a positive process that people are excited about 
to lead to a common vision and cohesiveness. The latest public meetings held in April 2016 
reaffirmed the desire of both communities to have sewers installed. 
 
At the start of the predesign, the community will be engaged and contact will be made as often as 
possible through newsletters, website updates, emails, site visits and open houses.  
 
Respectfully submitted:                                                   Endorsed by: 
 
Liisa Bloomfield                                                                  Janine Dougall 
__________________________ 
L. Bloomfield, Engineer                                                     Janine Dougall, Public Works Manager 

 



Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/F. Q3activityreport.Docx  
Page 1 of 6 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  

 

TO: Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Third Quarter Activity Report – For Information Only 

 
ACTIVITIES COMPLETED IN Q3 2017: 

SOLID WASTE  

· Apex Mountain Transfer Station – Design is complete.  Confirmed acceptability of site location 
with new owners. Crown Statutory Right-of-Way for the power was completed and accepted 
by the Surveyor General’s Office, now awaiting registration. 

· Curbside Collection Contract –Contract awarded to Waste Connections of Canada (current 
service provider) for 7 years. 

· Organic Feasibility Study – Letter sent to District of Summerland regarding potential siting at 
Summerland Landfill.  

· Campbell Mountain Landfill Biocover Pilot – Test plots installed. Two plots have two different 
mixes using the Iona Island biosolids, one mix using the City of Penticton biosolids and one 
empty control plot. The four plots are sized 25m x 25m. First post installation sampling event 
carried out in mid-June. July and September Sampling Rounds completed, Interim Report 
completed in August and submitted to Ministry of Environment. 

· Campbell Mountain Landfill Leachate – Test well drilled and initial pump test completed. 
Tender was released, contractor retained and construction of the drainage collection and 
pond storage system has started.  Investigating available storage and leachate treatment 
options including poplar tree plantation irrigation. 

· Keremeos Landfill Closure Plan – Closure plan finalized and submitted to the Ministry of 
Environment for review and approval. Waiting for feedback. 

· Keremeos Transfer Station – Contracts awarded for Operations and Bin Management to 
Dutchies Transfer an (2005) Ltd. and Smithrite Disposal Ltd. respectively.  

· Landfill lifecycle cost for Oliver and Okanagan Falls Landfills – Gap and information analysis 
report was reviewed by staff and final report is in preparation by consultant. 

· The WildSafeBC program has been ongoing throughout all three quarters, with presentations 
at schools, local Guides and Scouts, SPCA Spring Camp, as well as radio interviews and articles 
in local media. The extreme dry conditions this summer has generated about a 10% increase in 
calls to the program causing an uptick in calls for presentations this fall.  

· Business and Multi-Family Recycling Consultation – GreenStep Solutions, hired by the RDOS, 
conducted workshops with businesses in Osoyoos and Penticton to identify barriers and 
potential programs to increase recycling.  

 

 



Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/F. Q3activityreport.Docx  
Page 2 of 6 
 

WATER 

· Faulder – Obtained IHA approval of uranium removal and rescinded Water Quality Advisory. 
· Olalla Water System Upgrades Phase 2 – Construction has begun on the Phase 2 watermain 

replacement project. Communications have been ongoing with residents of Olalla. 
· Regional Water Use Regulation and Conservation Bylaw – Work continued on developing draft 

bylaw and identifying major issues for consultation with Environment and Infrastructure 
Committee and public.  

· Missezula Lake Water Works District – Assessment of water system and operations nearing 
completion. Assessment report by consultant expected in Q4. 

· Naramata Standby Generators – Construction work, commissioning and staff training 
complete at all three generator locations. Project came in on budget.  

· Naramata Water System Rehabilitation Project – Construction has begun on the Hayman 
Road, Stonehouse, Naramata Road and Side Road projects. Continuous communications have 
been occurring with residents and businesses of Naramata. 

· Naramata – Retroactive Right of Way acquisition for water main ongoing. 
· Sun Valley Water System – Preparation of Request for Proposals underway for installation of a 

SCADA and communications system to allow for remote monitoring and controls. 
· Willowbrook Water System – Crown Land Tenure application continuing for road access to the 

reservoir site. Preparation of Request for Proposals underway for installation of Phase 1 for a 
SCADA and communications system to allow for remote monitoring and controls. 

SEWER 

· Okanagan Falls sewer liftstations – Request for Proposals under development to install 
alarming and communications to three liftstations and selected manholes near the lakeshore. 

· Skaha Estates & Kaleden Sewer Expansion – Project planning continues. Request for Proposals 
was released to 4 shortlisted consultants. Proposals were received and analysis is complete. 
Recommendations to be brought forward to the Board in Q4.  

OTHER PROJECTS/PROGRAMS 

· Similkameen Watershed Plan – Final report to be presented to the Board in Q4. 
· Mosquito Program – the program is complete for the year.  
· OBWB Drought and Flood Risk Mitigation and Management Plan Phase 2: the Draft Gap 

Analysis has been completed and will be presented to the Board in Q4.  Work has begun on 
the Plan(s) component of the project.    

· RBC Blue Water Project Grant: Protecting our Natural Assets - 8 Riparian workshops, videos, 
and material deliverables are completed and final report has been submitted to funder.   

· The annual OBWB “Make Water Work” program, and “Don’t Move A Mussel” program 
launched at the end of Q2 and the RDOS has completed all outreach objectives.  

· Asset Management Investment Plan (AMIP) – Phase 2 Report finalized and presented to the 
Board.  Grant application was submitted to complete next phase of asset management 
planning.  

· Vaseux Lake Land Use and Water Quality Assessment – Request for Proposals was developed 
and a consultant was retained to begin the assessment of sources of nutrients or sediment 
contributing to the increased milfoil and algae growth in the lake.  



Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/F. Q3activityreport.Docx  
Page 3 of 6 
 

· Shinish Creek Diversion – Site visit completed by staff. Review underway for determining 
future required work.  

SUBDIVISION 

Subdivision Referrals 

· 14 referrals received to date for 2017  
· 43 referrals ongoing and pending applicants’ action 

Ongoing Major Subdivisions:   

· Naramata Benchlands  
o Phase 2, Outlook - 42 strata lots, Letter of Approval (LoA) issued  
o Phase 3, No subdivision application yet, Developer in zoning amendment process 

· Kettle Ridge  
o Phase 2, 20 fee simple lots, LoA issued  
o Phase 3A, 17 fee simple lots, under construction 
o Phase 3B, 20 fee simple lots, pending Phase 3A completion   

· Reflection Point  
o Phase 2, Proposed bare land strata – pending developer 

· St Andrews - Phase 4 - 25 bare land strata lots 
o Existing Land Use Contract development, issued revised Letter or Requirement (LoR)  

· Twin Lakes Golf Resort  
o OCP and Zoning amendment submitted for a 50 unit building strata development (first 

phase). 
o OCP and Zoning amendment to consider other existing land use designations 

Other Projects: 

· Fire Flow Responsibility and Authorities 
o In discussions with Okanagan Falls Irrigation District 

· Service Area Petitions 
o Gallagher Lake water and sewer 

· Planning development application referrals, on-going  

· Naramata DCC and Capital Plan 
o Confirm direction with Province 
o Review and revise consultant report  
o New DCC Bylaw 

·  (Subdivision) Works and Services Bylaw 
o Pending, Project again going out to RFP for new consultant 

· Gallagher Lake Village, Phase 3 
o Infrastructure as-constructed drawing submitted for review 

  



Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/F. Q3activityreport.Docx  
Page 4 of 6 
 

 

ACTIVITIES PLANNED FOR Q4 2017: 

SOLID WASTE  

· Apex Mountain Transfer Station – Update capital and operational budgets in anticipation of 
2018 construction and operation.  Develop methodology for cost recovery.  Submit proposed 
solid waste management plan amendment to Ministry of Environment to account for 
additional capital costs.  Fortis to install power to the site.  

· Organic Feasibility Study – Further assessments of proposed locations to be completed as 
required. Assistance will be provided to the District of Summerland as requested in the event 
they move forward with public consultation regarding the compost site at the Summerland 
Landfill.  

· Campbell Mountain Landfill Biocover Pilot – Monitoring of biocover test plots will continue 
over Q4. 

· Campbell Mountain Landfill Leachate – Quarterly monitoring will continue with down gradient 
monitoring wells and requirements for the Contaminated Site Regulations will continue to be 
met. Construction of drainage system and leachate pond will continue until weather prevents 
further construction efforts at which time the work will be delayed until spring 2018. 

· Keremeos Landfill Closure Plan – Waiting for plan approval from Ministry of Environment. 
Estimated cost for closure works to be communicated to Village of Keremeos, Area B and Area 
G to work into 2018/2019 budgets. 

· Landfill lifecycle cost for Oliver and Okanagan Falls Landfills – Final lifecycle cost report will be 
brought to the Board for information. 

· RDOS WildSafeBC continues to be active throughout the winter with outreach and 
collaboration. 

· Business and Multi-Family Recycling Consultation - GreenStep Solutions to provide initial 
consultation report regarding improving recycling from businesses and multi-family units.  

· Requests for Proposals to be prepared for Landfill Emergency Response Plans and Landfill 
Commercial Recycling Collection.   

WATER 

· Regional Water Use Regulation and Conservation Bylaw, Regional Water Conservation 
Strategy and Cross Connection Control Bylaw – Host 6 open houses to present summary of 
concepts of draft Bylaws and receive feedback and comments from the community.  Amend 
draft Bylaws, as required, based on public feedback received.  Have legal review of the draft 
Bylaws completed, then bring all 3 Bylaws to the Board for first and second reading.  

· Naramata Standby Generators – Potential graphic wrap to be added to generator at the Raw 
Water Pumphouse. 

· Naramata Water System Rehabilitation Project – The Hayman Road, Stonehouse, Naramata 
Road and side roads and Juniper Drive projects will continue construction with completion 
expected in Q4. The watermain replacement project along Mill Road will be constructed in Q4. 
Communications will be ongoing with residents and businesses of Naramata. 

· Olalla Water System Upgrades Phase 2 – Construction of the phase 2 upgrades will continue 
with construction expected to be completed in Q4. Communications will be ongoing with 
residents of Olalla.  



Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/F. Q3activityreport.Docx  
Page 5 of 6 
 

· Sun Valley Water System – RFP will be completed for the upgrading/addition of SCADA and 
communication equipment for the pumphouse. Work is expected to begin in Q4. 

· Willowbrook Water System – Crown Land Tenure application continuing for road access to the 
reservoir site. RFP will be completed for Phase 1 of the upgrading/addition of SCADA and 
communication equipment to the water system. 

· Missezula Water – Completion of condition assessment is anticipated for Q4. Report will be 
brought to the Board in Q1 2018. 

SEWER 

· Okanagan Falls sewer liftstations – RFP will be completed and issued for the addition of 
communication equipment for three liftstations and several manholes along the lakeshore. 
Work will begin in Q4. 

· Skaha Estates & Kaleden Sewer Expansion – Work will continue on this project as required. 

OTHER PROJECTS/PROGRAMS 

· Asset Management Assessment and Improvement Plan – Waiting for approval from the grant 
application. 

· Similkameen Watershed Plan – Presentation to the Board will be competed on the final report.  
Final grant reporting to be completed following Board presentation. 

· OBWB Drought and Flood Risk Mitigation and Management Plan Phase 3 – Work will continue 
on plan development.  

· Water Conservation Outreach will continue in Q4 with a region-wide year end mailer 
summarizing the extreme weather - flood and drought conditions of 2017.  

· The West Bench Leak Detection Program is continuing in Q4. Leaks have been reducing in 
numbers as the program continues.   

· A Heritage Canada, Canada 150 grant of $45,000 was awarded to the RDOS in Q2. The project 
continues to be an excellent collaboration with ONA, Enowk’n, LSIB, PIB, and USIB. The 
riparian rehabilitation work includes using the First Nations keystone species Black 
Cottonwood as an intergenerational, student inspired planting project.   

· The RDOS will continue to be on the oversight committee and in-kind partner with the BC 
Climate Adaptation for Agriculture Initiative. Five Provincially funded projects totalling 
$360,000 targeting on farm water management are underway. Projects 1, 2 and 3 valued at 
$260,000 - Water conservation oriented; messaging and social media app development pilots 
in the region, to better access producers in the way they wish to be engaged. A farm visitation 
project to connect agriculture with drought planning education and tools, better use of on-
farm water, and purveyor/producer communication strategies to assist producers directly 
addressing unique issues. A collaboration project with Environment Canada and Washington 
State University to supply producers more accurate weather forecasting to reduce water 
consumption and maximize the timing to reduce the number of chemical applications required 
for crop production.     
Project 4 – Approximately $40,000 – FireSmart for Agriculture project.  Producers in Electoral 
Area E are in the pilot area. This project will now transition to RDOS Protective Services 
umbrella. 
Project 5 – Approximately $30,000 - Invasive Species website development in partnership with 
RDOS and OASISS which will allow for one stop species identification and mitigation measures, 
GIS mapping and interactive features. It will be used by more than producers (broad spectrum 



Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Environment/F. Q3activityreport.Docx  
Page 6 of 6 
 

public use), and we expect this to be leading edge technology.  Projects began in Q1 and will 
continue in Q3, Q4 and complete in Q1 2018.      

· Grant writing for water conservation outreach projects for 2018 will commence in Q4. The 
Public Works Projects Coordinator has provided an Expression of Interest document to the 
Real Estate Foundation of BC for funds to amalgamate all the water conservation and 
stewardship outreach projects undertaken over the past 6 years into a single compendium for 
new and existing residents in the region. This will be in partnership with other local 
conservation groups and the OBWB. Grant applications to the OBWB Water Quality/Water 
Improvement program have yet to be determined, as applications are due in Q1 2018.  

· Vaseux Lake Land Use and Water Quality Assessment –Work in ongoing with the assessment 
process on the lake. Meetings will be held with local residents. 

· Shinish Creek Diversion – Plans for future work and budget implications will be determined. 

 
 

Respectfully submitted: 
 
Janine Dougall 
___________________________________________  
J. Dougall, Public Works Manager 



BOARD of DIRECTORS MEETING 
Thursday, October 19, 2017 

1:00 p.m. 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

A. ADOPTION OF AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION 1 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)
THAT the Agenda for the Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital District Board
Meeting of October 19, 2017 be adopted.

B. MINUTES
1. OSRHD Board Meeting – June 15, 2017 [Page 262]

RECOMMENDATION 2 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)
THAT the Minutes of the June 15, 2017 Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital 
District Board Meeting be adopted. 

C. DELEGATION
1. Carey Bornn, Executive Director, South Okanagan-Similkameen Medical Foundation

Mr. Bornn will address the Board to present an update on the Penticton Regional 
Hospital Tower Project. 

D. FINANCE

1. 2016 Audited Financial Statements [Page 264]
a. Consolidated Financial Statements – December 31, 2016 [Page 266] 

Auditors from White Kennedy Chartered Professional Accountants will be present. 

RECOMMENDATION 3 (Weighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority) 
THAT the 2016 Audited Financial Statements of the Okanagan-Similkameen 
Regional Hospital District as of December 31, 2016 be received; and,  

THAT the OSRHD Board adopt all reported 2016 transactions as amendments to 
the 2016 Final Budget. 

E. ADJOURNMENT



 
Minutes are in DRAFT form and are subject to change pending 

approval by the Regional District Board 
   BOARD of DIRECTORS MEETING 
Minutes of the Inaugural Board Meeting of the Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital Board 
(OSRHD) of Directors held at 10:33 am on Thursday, June 15, 2017, in the Boardroom, 101 Martin 
Street, Penticton, British Columbia. 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  
Chair M. Brydon, Electoral Area “F” 
Director F. Armitage, Town of Princeton 
Director M. Bauer, Village of Keremeos  
Director T. Boot, District of Summerland 
Director G. Bush, Electoral Area “B” 
Director E. Christensen, Electoral Area “G” 
Director B. Coyne, Electoral Area “H” 
Director M. Doerr, Alt. Town of Oliver 

 
Director A. Jakubeit, City of Penticton  
Director H. Konanz, City of Penticton 
Director K. Kozakevich, Electoral Area “E” 
Director A. Martin, City of Penticton 
Director M. Pendergraft, Electoral Area “A” 
Director C. Rhodes, Alt. Town of Osoyoos 
Director T. Schafer, Electoral Area “C” 
Director T. Siddon, Electoral Area “D” 
Director P. Waterman, District of Summerland 

MEMBERS ABSENT: 
Vice Chair J. Sentes, City of Penticton 
Director R. Hovanes, Town of Oliver 

 
Director S. McKortoff, Town of Osoyoos 

STAFF PRESENT: 
B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer  
C. Malden, Manager of Legislative Services 

 
 

 
A. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

RECOMMENDATION 1 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)   
IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
THAT the Agenda for the Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital District Board 
Meeting of June 15, 2017 be adopted. - CARRIED 

 
 

B. MINUTES 
1. OSRHD Board Meeting – March 16, 2017 

 
RECOMMENDATION 2 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)   
IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
THAT the Minutes of the March 16, 2017 Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital 
District Board Meeting be adopted. - CARRIED 

 
 
C. DELEGATIONS  

1. Aarin Frigon, Project Manager, South Okanagan Similkameen Division of Family 
Practice 
 
Ms. Frigon addressed the Board to discuss doctor recruitment. 



OSRHD Board of Directors Meeting - 2 - June 15, 2017 
 
 
D. ADJOURNMENT 

By consensus, the meeting adjourned at 11:09 a.m. 
 

 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
 
________________________ 
M. Brydon 
OSRHD Board Chair  

CERTIFIED CORRECT:  
 
 
 
_________________________ 
B. Newell 
Corporate Officer 

 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/OSRHD/C.1. RHD 2016 Audited Financial Stmt 
Admin Report.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 1 of 1 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital Board 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: 2016 Audited Financial Statements 
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
 
THAT the 2016 Audited Financial Statements of the Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital 
District as of December 31, 2016 be received; 
 
AND THAT the OSRHD Board adopt all reported 2016 transactions as amendments to the 2016 
Final Budget. 
 
Business Plan Objective:  
Objective 1.1.1: By providing the Board with accurate, timely financial information. 
 
Analysis: 
Please note that the attached 2016 Financial Statements are not on letterhead or signed by the 
auditors or RDOS representatives.  Canadian Audit Standards requires the auditors to keep the 
audit file open until the Board has received and taken ownership of the financial statements.  
Ownership transfers with the passing of the above noted resolution.    
 
The 2016 Financial Statements for the OSRHD are presented with an unqualified audit opinion. This 
means that in the opinion of our auditors, our financial statements represent fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the RDOS in accordance with GAAP (Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles) and PSAS (Public Sector Accounting Standards). 
 
There were no issues identified during the audit. 
 
Communication Strategy:  
Audited financial statements are available to the public on the RDOS website. 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
“Maureen Hayter” 
___________________________________________ 
M. Hayter, Finance Manager 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/OSRHD/C.1. RHD 2016 Audited Financial Stmt 
Admin Report.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 

 



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT

Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2016

Contents

Page

Independent Auditors' Report 1 - 2

Statement of Financial Position 3

Statement of Operations 4

Statement of Net Financial Assets 5

Statement of Cash Flows 6

Notes to Financial Statements 7 - 10

Schedule 1 - Debenture Debt 11



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors of the Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital District

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Okanagan- Similkameen Regional Hospital
District, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statement
of operations, net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian Public Sector accounting principles, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from  material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian auditing standards.  Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the  overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

(1)



Independent Auditors' Report to the Chairman and Directors of Okanagan-Similkameen Regional
Hospital District  (continued)

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital District as at December 31, 2016, and the results of its
operations, net financial assets and  its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
Public Sector accounting principles.

Penticton, British Columbia
October 19, 2017 CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

(2)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2016

2016 2015
  $ $

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash  (Note 2) 587,226 4,080,501
Municipal Finance Authority deposits (Note 3) 104,081 106,382
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 133,266 100,408
Portfolio investments (Note 5) 18,911,969 36,614,921

19,736,542 40,902,212

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Municipal Finance Authority debt reserve (Note 3) 104,081 106,382
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (Note 6) 432,531 1,048,547
Debenture debt  (Note 7) (Schedule 1) 614,761 734,971

1,151,373 1,889,900

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 18,585,169 39,012,312

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 93,000 93,000

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 18,678,169 39,105,312

REPRESENTED BY:
Equity in tangible capital assets 93,000 93,000
Restricted surplus (Note 9) 19,199,930 39,747,283
Unrestricted deficit (614,761) (734,971)

18,678,169 39,105,312

Approved on behalf of the Board:

_____________________________

_____________________________

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements

(3)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Statement of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2016

Actual Budget Actual
2016 2016 2015

$ $ $

REVENUES
Tax requisitions 5,839,485 5,839,480 5,551,962
Interest income 581,443 255,000 802,720
Actuarial earnings 58,024 - 121,451
Grants in lieu of taxes 43,066 25,000 62,117
MFA debt surplus 3,238 - 521,333

6,525,256 6,119,480 7,059,583
EXPENSES

Capital projects 26,462,577 13,305,600 1,940,631
Grant to Okanagan-Similkameen Health Region 399,400 399,400 435,000
Interest on debentures 47,250 62,250 150,676
Administrative overhead 37,422 69,500 53,989
Professional fees 5,750 6,000 5,650

26,952,399 13,842,750 2,585,946

EXCESS FOR THE YEAR (20,427,143) (7,723,270) 4,473,637

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, beginning of year 39,105,312 39,105,312 34,631,675

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, end of year 18,678,169 31,382,042 39,105,312

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements

(4)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Statement of Net Financial Assets
Year Ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015

$ $

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES (20,427,143) 4,473,637

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 39,012,312 34,538,675

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF THE YEAR 18,585,169 39,012,312

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements

(5)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015

$     $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Excess of revenues over expenses (20,427,143) 4,473,637
Change in non-cash operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (32,857) 1,300,446
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (616,020) 100,982

(21,076,020) 5,875,065

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Repayment of debenture debt (62,184) (93,944)
Reduction of debenture debt by actuarial adjustments (58,025) (121,451)

(120,209) (215,395)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY

Net increase in portfolio investments 17,702,954 (5,761,853)

NET DECREASE IN CASH (3,493,275) (102,183)

CASH, beginning of year 4,080,501 4,182,684

CASH, end of year 587,226 4,080,501

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements

(6)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016

General

The Okanagan-Similkameen Regional Hospital District (Regional Hospital District) is a governing
agency of the hospitals in the Okanagan and Similkameen Health region and is incorporated under
the Hospitals District Act. Its principal activities include financing capital construction projects and
capital equipment purchases for health care facilities within the Okanagan-Similkameen Health
Region.

Basis of Presentation

The Regional Hospital District's accounting policy is to follow Canadian Public Sector accounting
principles for British Columbia Regional Hospital Districts as prescribed by the Public Sector
Accounting Board (PSAB), and to apply such principles consistently.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS
Portfolio investments consist of both Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia (MFABC) and
Valley First Credit Union short term bonds and money market instruments. These investments are
carried at market value, which approximates cost.

DEBENTURE DEBT CHARGES
Debt charges are recorded as a reduction of debenture debt in the period in which they are paid.  In
accordance with PSAB, the Regional Hospital District has accrued interest charges from the dates
of the last payment to the end of the fiscal year.

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not
intended for sale in the normal course of operations. Such non-financial assets include tangible
capital assets.

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets are the physical assets owned by the Regional Hospital District and are
stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Donated tangible capital assets are reported at fair
market value at the time of the donation.
Tangible capital assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis using
cost, less any salvage value. No assets are being amortized in the current period.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Taxation revenues are recognized at the time property tax requisitions or the fiscal year become
receivable.

Grants and interest income are recognized on an accrual basis when they are earned.

MFABC debt surplus and actuarial earnings are recognized as revenue of the General Fund in the
year received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection
is reasonably assured.

(7)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

CAPITAL PROJECT EXPENSES
The Regional Hospital District has no claim on the assets purchased as part of capital project
expenses and, as such, has adopted the policy of expensing these amounts. The debenture debt
interest expense associated with these capital projects is considered to be a normal part of
operations.

GRANTS TO OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN HEALTH REGION
Capital grants are recorded in the accounts when approved to the extent that qualifying expenses
are incurred.  It is the Regional Hospital District's policy to expense the grant amounts when paid, as
there is no claim of ownership on the assets purchased with these funds.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Regional Hospital District's financial instruments consist of cash, portfolio investments,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and debenture debt. Unless otherwise
noted, it is management's opinion that the Regional Hospital District is not exposed to significant
interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.  The fair values of these
financial instruments approximate their carrying values, unless otherwise noted.

BUDGET FIGURES
The budget figures are from the Annual Budget Bylaw that is adopted annually. Subsequent
amendments, if any, have been made by the Board to reflect changes in the budget as required by
law.

MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. Cash

The Regional Hospital District has a line of credit with Valley First Credit Union in the amount of
$500,000, bearing interest at prime rate, currently 2.95%, which is due on demand, and secured by
a general security agreement. At year end, the line of credit was unutilized (2015 - nil).

(8)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016

3.  Municipal Finance Authority Deposits

The Regional Hospital District issues its debt instruments through MFABC.  As a condition of these
borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds are withheld by MFABC as a debt reserve fund.
The Regional Hospital District also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture,
whereby the Regional Hospital District may be required to loan certain amounts to MFABC.  These
demand notes are contingent in nature and are not reflected in the accounts.
The details of the cash deposits and demand notes at the year end are as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Demand Notes 68,029 70,211
Cash Deposits 36,052 36,171

104,081 106,382

4. Accounts Receivable
2016 2015

$ $

Due from Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 102,721 -
MFA Debt Interest Accrual (net of actuarial earnings) 15,368 12,142
Federal government grant-in-lieu of taxes 7,305 7,168
Provincial government grant in lieu of taxes 4,609 4,166
The Corporation of the Village of Keremeos 3,000 -
GST rebate 263 -
Regional government grant in lieu of taxes - 65,092
The Corporation for the City of Penticton grant in lieu of taxes - 11,840

133,266 100,408

5. Portfolio Investments

The book value of the portfolio investments at period end is $19,057,904 (2015 - $36,614,921).

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
2016 2015

$ $

Regional government payables 423,031 1,027,415
Trade payables 5,500 5,000
Wages payable 4,000 2,500
Due to Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen - 13,632

432,531 1,048,547

(9)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016

7. Debenture Debt

The Regional Hospital District obtains debenture debt through the MFABC to finance capital
projects. Financing is secured by deposits and claims against specific property. The maturity dates
and interest rates of the debenture debt vary and depend on the date of issue of the debt
instrument.  Debenture debt is comprised of numerous issues as detailed on the attached Schedule
1 - Debenture Debt. The minimum principal repayments over the next five years are estimated as
follows:

$

2017 60,037
2018 60,037
2019 60,037
2020 60,037
2021 35,208
Subsequent 339,405

614,761

The financing for Regional Hospital District's capital projects is the responsibility of the MFABC.  All
debt servicing is recorded net of the provincial grant portions.

8. Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets consist of land only and as such there are no assets subject to amortization.

9. Restricted Surplus

The Section 20(4) contingency reserve fund represents an appropriation of surplus for specific
purposes which are established and approved by the Board.

2016 2015
$ $

Appropriation of surplus for capital health requests 18,894,738 39,450,111
Reserved for South Similkameen Health Centre 305,195 297,174

19,199,933 39,747,285

10.Budget Figures

Canadian Public Sector accounting principles require budget amounts be reported on the Statement
of Operations for comparative purposes.

Budget reconciliation
2016

 Budget
$

Excess of revenue over expenses (7,723,270)

Transfer from reserve 12,000,000
Transfer to reserve (4,212,980)
Debt principal repayments (63,750)

Budget balanced -

(10)



OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT
Schedule 1 - Debenture Debt
Year Ended December 31, 2016

MFABC
Issue #

Security
Issue By-law

Maturity
Date

Rate Original
Issue

2016
Net Debt

2015
Net Debt

$ $ $

South Similkameen Health Centre 73 131 2020 2.10% 749,010 209,994   256,969

South Similkameen Health Centre 74 131 2021 3.05% 803,472 279,133 327,243

South Similkameen Health Centre 75 131 2021 3.05% 355,569 123,528 144,818

South Similkameen Health Centre 77 131 2022 3.05% 5,170 2,106 2,400

SGH - Fire sprinkler 624 109 2016 7.875% 57,075 - 3,541

3,447,320 614,761 734,971

(11)



REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
BOARD of DIRECTORS MEETING 

Thursday, October 19, 2017 
1:30 p.m. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
RECOMMENDATION 1 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)
THAT the Agenda for the RDOS Board Meeting of October 5, 2017 be adopted.

1. Consent Agenda – Corporate Issues
a. Naramata Parks & Recreation Commission – September 28, 2017 [Page 282]

THAT the Minutes of the September 18, 2017 Naramata Parks & Recreation 
Commission be received.

b. Similkameen Recreation Commission – September 26, 2017 [Page 286]
THAT the Minutes of the September 26, 2017 Similkameen Recreation 
Commission be received.

c. Environment and Infrastructure Committee – October 05, 2017 [Page 288]
THAT the Minutes of the October 05, 2017 Environment and Infrastructure 
Committee be received.

d. RDOS Regular Board Meeting – October 05, 2017 [Page 290]
THAT the minutes of the October 05, 2017 RDOS Regular Board meeting be 
adopted. 

RECOMMENDATION 2 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority) 
THAT the Consent Agenda – Corporate Issues be adopted. 

2. Consent Agenda – Development Services
a. Development Variance Permit Application – Electoral Area “H” [Page 298]

i. Permit No. H2017.139-DVP [Page 301] 

THAT the Board of Directors approve Development Variance Permit No. 
H2017.139-DVP. 

RECOMMENDATION 3 (Unweighted Rural Vote – Simple Majority) 
THAT the Consent Agenda – Development Services be adopted. 



Board of Directors Agenda – Regular - 2 - October 19, 2017 

B. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES – Rural Land Use Matters

1. Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 1362 Greyback Mountain Road, Electoral Area “E” [Page 306]
a. Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017 [Page 310]
b. Responses Received [Page 313] 

The public hearing for this item will have been held Thursday, October 19, 2017 at 
9:00 a.m. in the RDOS Board Room located at 101 Martin Street, Penticton. 

RECOMMENDATION 4 (Unweighted Rural Vote – 2/3 Majority)   
THAT Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017, Electoral Area “E” Zoning Amendment Bylaw be 
read a third time and adopted. 

2. Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 28014 Liddicoat Road, Electoral Area “G” [Page 315]
a. Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 [Page 317] 

RECOMMENDATION 5 (Unweighted Rural Vote – Simple Majority) 
THAT Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017, Electoral Area “G” Zoning Amendment Bylaw be 
adopted. 

C. PUBLIC WORKS

1. Award of Predesign for Skaha Estates Sewer Expansion Project [Page 321] 

RECOMMENDATION 6 (Weighted Corporate Vote – Majority)
THAT the Board of Directors reallocate the Regionally Significant Project Gas Tax 
Funds allocated for the “Okanagan Falls Wetlands Enhancement” project to the 
“Predesign of the Skaha Estates Sewer Extension to Okanagan Falls” project in the 
amount of $360,911;

THAT the Board of Directors approve the expenditure of up to $360,911 for 
consulting services to Tetra Tech Canada Inc. for the Predesign phase of the “Skaha 
Estates Sewer Extension to Okanagan Falls” project; and

THAT the Board of Directors execute a consulting services agreement with Tetra 
Tech Canada Inc. for the Predesign Services detailed in the Request for Proposals 
and the submitted Proposal for the “Skaha Estates Sewer Extension to Okanagan 
Falls” project. 



Board of Directors Agenda – Regular - 3 - October 19, 2017 

D. FINANCE

1. Naramata Water System 2017-2021 Five Year Financial Plan Amendment [Page 327] 

RECOMMENDATION 7 (Weighted Corporate Vote – Majority)
THAT the Board of Directors support a Five-year Financial Plan Amendment in the 
amount of $300,000 for the Naramata Water System to fund the purchase of the 
generator.

2. Appointment of Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen Auditor [Page 328]

RECOMMENDATION 8 (Weighted Corporate Vote – Majority)
THAT the Board appoint BDO Canada LLP to provide audit services for the Regional 
District of Okanagan-Similkameen and the Okanagan Similkameen Regional 
Hospital District for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019 with 
a possible two year extension. 

E. LEGISLATIVE SERVICES

1. Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 [Page 330]
a. Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 [Page 333] 

The purpose of this Bylaw is to specify one Dog Control Bylaw, remove reference to 
cats and to wild and domestic sheep, and update it to current legislation and 
practices related to dog (“i.e. canine”) control enforcement. 

RECOMMENDATION 9 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – 2/3 Majority)   
THAT THAT Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 Dog Control Bylaw be read a first time, a second 
time, a third time and adopted. 

2. Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 [Page 343]
a. Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 [Page 345] 

The purpose of this bylaw is to remove sections pertaining to horses, cattle, pigs, 
sheep, goats and rabbits from the three current Animal Control Bylaws. These 
specific livestock and small animal restrictions currently do and will only apply to 
Electoral Areas “B” and “G” as they are the only areas paying into this service. 

RECOMMENDATION 10 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – 2/3 Majority)   
THAT the Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017, be read a first, second and third 
time, and be adopted. 



Board of Directors Agenda – Regular - 4 - October 19, 2017 

F. CAO REPORTS

1. Verbal Update

G. OTHER BUSINESS

1. Chair’s Report

2. Board Representation
a. Developing Sustainable Rural Practice Communities - McKortoff

b. Intergovernmental First Nations Joint Council - Kozakevich, Bauer, Pendergraft

c. Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) – Kozakevich, Bauer

d. Municipal Insurance Association (MIA) - Kozakevich, Bauer

e. Okanagan Basin Water Board (OBWB) – McKortoff, Hovanes, Waterman

a) OBWB Report dated October 5, 2017 [Page 348]
f. Okanagan Film Commission (OFC) – Jakubeit

g. Okanagan Regional Library (ORL) – Kozakevich

h. Okanagan Sterile Insect Release Board (SIR) – Bush

i. Okanagan-Similkameen Health Living Coalition - Boot

j. Southern Interior Beetle Action Coalition (SIBAC) - Armitage

k. Southern Interior Local Government Association (SILGA) – Kozakevich

l. Southern Interior Municipal Employers Association (SIMEA) – Kozakevich, Martin

m. Starling Control - Bush

n. UBCO Water Chair Advisory Committee – Bauer 

3. Directors Motions

4. Board Members Verbal Update

H. CLOSED SESSION

RECOMMENDATION 11 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)
THAT in accordance with Section 90(1) of the Community Charter, the Board close the
meeting to the public to receive minutes of previous In-Camera meetings.

I. ADJOURNMENT



 MINUTES 
Naramata Parks & Recreation Commission 

Monday, September 18, 2017, 6:30 p.m. 
Naramata Fire Hall 

1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA - Call to Order 6:30 pm. 

RECOMMENDATION 
IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
That the Agenda for the Naramata Parks & Recreation Meeting of September 18, 
2017 be adopted and all presentations and reports be received.  

CARRIED (UNANIMOUSLY) 

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

2. APPROVAL OF LAST MEETING MINUTES 

RECOMMENDATION 
IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
That the minutes for the Naramata Parks & Recreation Meeting of July 24, 2017 be 
adopted. 

CARRIED (UNANIMOUSLY) 

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

3. CORRESPONDENCE/DELEGATIONS 
3.1.  Resignation received from Jim Pearmain. 

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

Members Present: Dennis Smith (Chair), Maureen Balcaen, Lyle Resh, Richard 
Roskell, Jeff Gagnon arrived at 6:35 p.m.

Absent: Jacqueline Duncan, Jim Pearmain

Area ‘E’ Director Karla Kozakevich

Staff & 
Contractors:

Justin Shuttleworth (Parks & Facilities), Deb Linton 
(Recreation Coordinator Contractor), Heather Lemieux 
(Recording Secretary), Maureen Hayter (Manager of Finance)

Guests: None

 
Minutes of the Naramata Parks and Recreation Commission Meeting of September 18th, 2017  

Page   of 41



 MINUTES 
Naramata Parks & Recreation Commission 

Monday, September 18, 2017, 6:30 p.m. 
Naramata Fire Hall 

4. RDOS DIRECTOR REPORT - Karla Kozakevich reported:  

4.1. Tree Canada Celebration - The tree event was a success. Naramata Elementary 
School Gr. 4/5, OASISS, Tree Canada representative Bernie Kaplun, members of the 
community, NCA and NPR attended. The plaque will be received from CN and Tree 
Canada and will be installed on a boulder mount. 18 trees were planted in Manitou 
Park, the trees on the north perimeter were setback to avoid irrigation lines.  

4.2. Library toilet - Discussed the port-o-potty at the library. It was decided that no port-
o-potty will be placed in that location next season. Discussed adding security patrols 
to monitor the library area.  

4.3. Toilet at Wharf Park - Discussed long range plans for washroom facilities at Wharf 
Park, septic and odour complaints. 

4.4. Park Name Survey - Discussions have been held with First Nations. First Nation Elders 
are fact checking the name Eagles House. Discussed that the name Eagles House is 
accurate to First Nations and refers to all of Naramata.                                ONGOING 

4.5. Creek Park Land Acquisition - Acquired one of the two properties. The second 
property acquisition is still underway.                                                          ONGOING                                                                                       

4.6. Generator Wraps - Sample images have been sent from the Naramata Museum. 
Discussed image quality and wraps are graffiti resistant. Other higher quality images 
are being looked into.                                                                                 ONGOING 

4.7. Open House - Age-friendly community open house will be held on Wednesday 
September 20th, 2017 from 5:00 p.m. - 9:00 p.m. at the Naramata Community Church 
Hall. 

4.8. Boat Storage Rental Location - Discussed the Dorthy Avenue property as a potential 
location for the boat storage area. The property is a riparian area. An environmental 
assessment and consultation will be completed.                                          ONGOING 

5. RDOS STAFF REPORT - Justin Shuttleworth (RDOS Parks & Facilities Coordinator) & 
Maureen Hayter (Manager of Finance): 

5.1. 2018 Budget Workshop - Maureen Hayter (Manager of Finance) reported on budget 
overviews/timelines, capital asset prioritization, multi-year budgets, services, 
forecasting, line items, procedure when planned projects were not completed in the 
budget year and the budget reading process.  

 
Minutes of the Naramata Parks and Recreation Commission Meeting of September 18th, 2017  

Page   of 42



 MINUTES 
Naramata Parks & Recreation Commission 

Monday, September 18, 2017, 6:30 p.m. 
Naramata Fire Hall 

5.2. 2017 Budget Summary Review & Discussion - Justin Shuttleworth (Parks & Facilities) 
presented the 2017 Budget. Reviewed actuals, forecasts and variances. Discussed 
expenses and revenue, projects and reserves. 

6. RECREATION CONTRACTOR REPORT - Deb Linton (Recreation Coordinator Contractor), 
report submitted.  

6.1. Halloween Budget - Discussed increasing the budget for halloween supplies and 
treats. 

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

7. COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS 

7.1. Woodwackers Report - Negotiations continue with Gorman Bros. Discussed diverting  
water fall run off that is damaging the KVR trail. Logging has not resumed. KVR 
improvements are being discussed with the Province and Gorman Bros. 

7.2. Big Kahuna Slide - Discussed the new slide. ACTION - Justin Shuttleworth to arrange 
installation with a contractor.   

7.3. 2017 Priority Projects - A NPR budget committee was assigned.                   ONGOING  

7.3.1. Manitou Master Plan                                                                          ONGOING 

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

8. BUSINESS ARISING 

8.1. Dedicated Pickleball Court - Discussed project, a local quote comparison and funding 
sources. 

8.2.  Community Sign Review - Plans and mock up have not been received by NPR yet. 
Discussed the various community groups, contributions and potential budget.                                              

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

9. ADJOURNMENT 8:33 pm 

NEXT MEETING: October 23, 2017, 6:30 pm, Naramata Fire Hall 
   

 
Minutes of the Naramata Parks and Recreation Commission Meeting of September 18th, 2017  

Page   of 43



 MINUTES 
Naramata Parks & Recreation Commission 

Monday, September 18, 2017, 6:30 p.m. 
Naramata Fire Hall 

_________________________________________ 
Recreation Commission Chair 

_________________________________________ 
Recording Secretary 

 
Minutes of the Naramata Parks and Recreation Commission Meeting of September 18th, 2017  

Page   of 44



 MINUTES 
Similkameen Recreation Commission 

September 26, 2017 at 7.00pm 
Similkameen Recreation Centre 

209th meeting 
 

  

Members Present:  Charlene Cowling, Marie Marven, Wendy Stewart,  Jennifer Roe, 
Marnie Todd. 

Absent: Tom Robins 
Area Representatives G. Bush (Area B), R. Mayer (Alt Area G), J. Evans (Keremeos) 
Staff: Karl Donoghue,   
Recording Secretary: Karl Donoghue 
Guests: M. Hayter,RDOS 

 

 
1. Approval of Agenda 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
That the Agenda for the Similkameen Recreation Meeting of September 26, 2017 be adopted 
and all presentations and reports be accepted. – CARRIED  

 
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

2. Approval of Last Meeting Minutes 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
That the minutes for the Similkameen Recreation Meeting of September 19, 2017 be adopted. 
– CARRIED  

 
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

3. Correspondence/Delegations/Public Questions  
               M. Hayter, Manager of Finance, RDOS conducted a budget workshop. 
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

4. Staff Reports 
Management report accepted as presented. 
Up date – fire alarms and extinguishers serviced. 
 
User fees discussed. 
 
 



 MINUTES 
Similkameen Recreation Commission 

September 26, 2017 at 7.00pm 
Similkameen Recreation Centre 

209th meeting 
 

  

RECOMMENDATION 
 IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
To increase fees by about 5% for the rink, fitness room and pool. - CARRIED 
 
 
 

5. Survey 17 
Discussed as follows 
Postcards will be in the mail this week and distributed to approx. 1875 property owners, also press 
release will in the newspaper and on Marnie’s rec website. 
 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
6.  Adjournment  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
– CARRIED or DEFEATED 
Opposed: 
 

 
NEXT MEETING: October 24, 2017 
   Similkameen Recreation Centre 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Recreation Commission Chair 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Recording Secretary  
 

 



 
Minutes are in DRAFT form and are subject to change pending 

approval by the Regional District Board 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

Thursday, October 05, 2017 
9:01 a.m. 

 

Minutes 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  
Chair T. Siddon, Electoral Area “D”  
Vice Chair M. Pendergraft, Electoral Area “A” 
Director F. Armitage, Town of Princeton  
Director M. Bauer, Village of Keremeos  
Director T. Boot, District of Summerland 
Director M. Brydon, Electoral Area “F” 
Director G. Bush, Electoral Area “B” 
Director B. Coyne, Electoral Area “H” 
Director E. Christensen, Electoral Area “G” 

 
Director R. Hovanes, Town of Oliver 
Director A. Jakubeit, City of Penticton 
Director K. Kozakevich, Electoral Area “E” 
Director A. Martin, City of Penticton 
Director S. McKortoff, Town of Osoyoos 
Director T. Schafer, Electoral Area “C” 
Director J. Sentes, City of Penticton 
Director P. Waterman, District of Summerland 

MEMBERS ABSENT: 
Director H. Konanz, City of Penticton 

 

STAFF PRESENT:  
B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
C. Malden, Manager of Legislative Services 

 

 
A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

RECOMMENDATION 1  
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Agenda for the Environment and Infrastructure Committee Meeting of October 5, 2017 
be adopted. - CARRIED 

 
 

B. DELEGATION 
1. Nick Marty, Anarchist Mountain Community Society 

 
Mr. Marty addressed the Board to discuss Intervener Status with BCUC on the Fortis 2017 
Rate Design Application. 

 
Director Jakubeit entered the Boardroom at 9:10 a.m. 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the RDOS seek to obtain intervener status with the BCUC on the “2017 Fortis B.C. Rate 
Design Application” and request that the matter be referred to SILGA. - CARRIED 

 
 

  



Environmental and Infrastructure Committee - 2 - October 05, 2017  
 
C. DELEGATION 

1. James Pepper, Natural Resources Director, Penticton Indian Band 
 
Mr. Pepper addressed the Board to discuss illegal dumping on Penticton Indian Band lands. 
 

The Committee recessed at 10:35 a.m. and reconvened at 10:48 a.m. 
 

 
2. Andrew Drouin, President of South Okanagan Trail Alliance and Director of Federation of 

Mountain Clubs of BC 
 
Mr. Drouin was not available to address the Committee. 

 
 

D. DELEGATION 
1. Kirk Stinchcombe, Stustainability Specialist, Econics Water 
2. Rebecca Merserau, Sustainability Specialist, Econics Water 

 
Mr. Stinchcombe and Ms. Merserau addressed the Board to discuss Regional Water Use 
Regulation and Conservation Bylaw, Regional Water Conservation Strategy, and Cross 
Connection Control Bylaw by Econics and RDOS. 

 
a. Regional Water Use Regulation and Conservation Bylaw (RWURCB) Summary – For 

Information Only. 
b. Regional Water Conservation Strategy Summary – For Information Only 
c. Cross Connection Control Bylaw Summary – For Information Only 

 
Director Waterman vacated the Boardroom at 11:17 a.m. 
Director Jakubeit vacated the Boardroom at 12:06 p.m. 
 

 
E. ADJOURNMENT 

By consensus, the Environment and Infrastructure Committee meeting of October 5, 
2017 adjourned at 12:21 p.m. 
 

 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
T. Siddon 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee Chair 

CERTIFIED CORRECT: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
B. Newell 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 



 
Minutes are in DRAFT form and are subject to change pending 

approval by the Regional District Board 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
BOARD of DIRECTORS MEETING 

 
Minutes of the Board Meeting of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen (RDOS) Board 
of Directors held at 12:47 p.m. Thursday, October 5, 2017 in the Boardroom, 101 Martin Street, 
Penticton, British Columbia. 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  
Chair K. Kozakevich, Electoral Area “E” 
Vice Chair M. Bauer, Village of Keremeos 
Director F. Armitage, Town of Princeton 
Director T. Boot, District of Summerland 
Director M. Brydon, Electoral Area “F” 
Director G. Bush, Electoral Area “B” 
Director E. Christensen, Electoral Area “G” 
Director B. Coyne, Electoral Area “H” 
Director R. Hovanes, Town of Oliver 

 
Director A. Jakubeit, City of Penticton 
Director A. Martin, City of Penticton  
Director S. McKortoff, Town of Osoyoos 
Director M. Pendergraft, Electoral Area “A” 
Director J. Sentes, City of Penticton 
Director T. Schafer, Electoral Area “C” 
Director T. Siddon, Electoral Area “D” 
Director P. Waterman, District of Summerland  

MEMBERS ABSENT: 
Director H. Konanz, City of Penticton 

 
 

STAFF PRESENT:  
B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
C. Malden, Manager of Legislative Services  

  
 

 
A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

RECOMMENDATION 1 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority) 
IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
THAT the Agenda for the RDOS Board Meeting of October 5, 2017 be adopted. -  
CARRIED 
 

 
1. Consent Agenda – Corporate Issues 

a. Electoral Area “C” Advisory Planning Commission Appointment 
THAT the Board of Directors appoint Louise Conant and Randy Houle as members 
of the Electoral Area “C” Advisory Planning Commission until November 30, 2018. 
 

b. Electoral Area “D” Advisory Planning Commission – September 19, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the September 19, 2017 Electoral Area “D” Advisory Planning 
Commission be received. 

 
c. Electoral Area “E” Advisory Planning Commission – September 11, 2017 

THAT the Minutes of the September 11, 2017 Electoral Area “E” Advisory Planning 
Commission be received. 
 

d. Kaleden Recreation Commission – September 19, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the September 19, 2017 Kaleden Recreation Commission be 
received. 
 



Board of Directors Meeting – Regular - 2 - October 5, 2017 
 

e. Area “F” Parks and Recreation Commission – April 19, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the April 19, 2017 Area “F” Parks and Recreation Commission 
be received. 
 

f. Similkameen Recreation Commission – September 19, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the September 19, 2017 Similkameen Recreation Commission 
be received. 
 

g. Corporate Services Committee – September 21, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the September 21, 2017 Corporate Services Committee be 
received. 
 

h. Community Services Committee – September 21, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the September 21, 2017 Community Services Committee be 
received. 
 
THAT the Board of Directors provide a letter of support for the Okanagan 
Agricultural Innovation Centre. 
 

i. Environment and Infrastructure Committee – September 21, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the September 21, 2017 Environment and Infrastructure 
Committee be received. 
 

j. Protective Services Committee – September 21, 2017 
THAT the Minutes of the September 21, 2017 Protective Services Committee be 
received. 
 

k. RDOS Regular Board Meeting – September 21, 2017 
THAT the minutes of the September 21, 2017 RDOS Regular Board meeting be 
adopted. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 2 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority) 
IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
THAT the Consent Agenda – Corporate Issues be adopted. - CARRIED 
 
 

  



Board of Directors Meeting – Regular - 3 - October 5, 2017 
 

2. Consent Agenda – Development Services  
a. Development Variance Permit Application – 4850 Weyerhauser Road, Electoral 

Area “D” 
i. Permit No. D2017.113-DVP 
THAT the Board of Directors approve Development Variance Permit No. 
D2017.113-DVP. 
 

b. Development Variance Permit Application – 276 Link Lake Road, Electoral Area “H” 
i. Permit No. H2017.118-DVP 
THAT the Board of Directors approve Development Variance Permit No. 
H2017.118-DVP. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 3 (Unweighted Rural Vote – Simple Majority) 
IT WAS MOVED AND SECONDED 
THAT the Consent Agenda – Development Services be adopted. - CARRIED 

 
 
B. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES – Rural Land Use Matters 

 
1. Early Termination of a Land Use Contract – 8127 River Road, Electoral Area “C” 

a. Bylaw No. 2452.18, 2017 
b. Bylaw No. 2453.31, 2017 
c. Responses Received  
 
To replace Land Use Contract No. LU-4-C-77 with an Administrative and Institutional 
(AI) Zone. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 4 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Bylaw No. 2452.18, 2017, Electoral Area “C” Official Community Plan 
Amendment Bylaw and Bylaw No. 2453.31, 2017, Electoral Area “C” Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw be read a first and second time and proceed to a public hearing; 
and further,  
 
THAT the Board considers the process, as outlined in the report from the Chief 
Administrative Officer dated October 5, 2017, to be appropriate consultation for the 
purpose of Section 475 of the Local Government Act; and further,  
 
THAT, in accordance with Section 477 of the Local Government Act, the Board has 
considered Amendment Bylaw No. 2452.18, 2017, in conjunction with its Financial 
and applicable Waste Management Plans; and further,  
 
THAT the holding of a public hearing be scheduled for the Regional District Board 
meeting of November 2, 2017; and further,  
 
THAT staff give notice of the public hearing in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act. 
CARRIED 
 



Board of Directors Meeting – Regular - 4 - October 5, 2017 
 

2. Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 8332 Gallagher Lake Frontage Road, Electoral Area “C” 
a. Bylaw No. 2453.32, 2017 
b. Responses Received  
 
To allow for the development of indoor self storage up to 692m2 and formalize an 
existing duplex. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 5 (Unweighted Rural Vote – Simple Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Bylaw No. 2453.32, 2017, Electoral Area “C” Zoning Amendment Bylaw be read 
a first and second time and proceed to a public hearing. - CARRIED 

 
RECOMMENDATION 6 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the holding of the public hearing be delegated to Director Schafer or delegate; 
and further,  
 
THAT staff schedule the date, time, and place of the public hearing in consultation 
with Director Schafer; and further,  
 
THAT staff give notice of the public hearing in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act. 
CARRIED 
 
 

3. Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 2804 Liddicoat Road, Electoral Area “G” 
a. Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 
b. Public Hearing report on Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 dated September 

25, 2017 
c. Responses Received 
 
To allow for the development of an accessory dwelling unit as part of a new garage. 
 
Alt. Director Mayer advised via email that the public hearing report reflects an 
accurate account of what took place at the public hearing held September 25, 2017. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 7 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – Simple Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the public hearing report on Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 dated 
September 25, 2017 be received. - CARRIED 

 
RECOMMENDATION 8 (Unweighted Rural Vote – Simple Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017, Electoral Area “G” Zoning Amendment Bylaw be read 
a third time. - CARRIED 
 
 

  



Board of Directors Meeting – Regular - 5 - October 5, 2017 
 

4. Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 3492 Princeton-Summerland Road, Electoral Area “H” 
a. Bylaw No. 2498.12, 2017 
 
To amend the land use on the subject property in order to formalize five RV “pads”. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 9 (Unweighted Rural Vote – Simple Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Bylaw No. 2498.12, 2017, Electoral Area “H” Zoning Amendment Bylaw, be 
adopted. - CARRIED 

 
 

C. LEGISLATIVE SERVICES 
 
1. Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

a. Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 
 
The purpose of this bylaw is to specify one Dog Control Bylaw, remove reference to 
cats and to wild and domestic sheep, and update it to current legislation and 
practices related to dog (“i.e. canine”) control enforcement. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 10 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – 2/3 Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT consideration of Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 be deferred to 
the Board meeting of October 19, 2017. - CARRIED 

 
 
2. Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 

a. Bylaw No. 2673, 2017 
 
The purpose of this bylaw is to remove sections pertaining to horses, cattle, pigs, 
sheep, goats and rabbits from the three current Animal Control Bylaws. These 
specific livestock and small animal restrictions currently do and will only apply to 
Electoral Areas “B” and “G” as they are the only areas paying into this service. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 11 (Unweighted Corporate Vote – 2/3 Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT consideration of Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017, be deferred to the 
Board meeting of October 19, 2017. - CARRIED 

 
 
  



Board of Directors Meeting – Regular - 6 - October 5, 2017 
 

3. Amendment of RDOS Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 2771, 2017 
a.  Bylaw No. 2771.01, 2017 
 
To update the Naramata Cemetery Fees and Charges to comply with requirements 
from Consumer Protection BC. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 12 (Weighted Corporate Vote – 2/3 Majority)   
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen Fees and Charges Amendment 
Bylaw No. 2771.01, 2017 be read a first, second, and third time, and be adopted. 
CARRIED 

 
 
4. Olalla Local Community Commission By-Election Result – For Information Only 

a. Declaration of Election by Acclamation 
 
To advise the Board that Neil Gair was elected by acclamation as a Commissioner on 
the Olalla Local Community Commission. 

 
 
5. Electoral Area “D” Division – For Information Only 

a. Appendix “A” – Public Consultation Summary 
b. Enclosure 1 – Administrative Report of October 6, 2016 
c. Enclosure 2 – Administrative Report of July 20, 2017 

 
 

D. CAO REPORTS  
 
1. Verbal Update 
 
 

E. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
1. Chair’s Report 
 

 
  



Board of Directors Meeting – Regular - 7 - October 5, 2017 
 

2. Directors Motions 
a. Director Knodel – 2017 Fortis Electrical Rate Design Application 

 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Board of Directors seek to obtain intervener status with the BCUC on the 
“2017 Fortis B.C. Rate Design Application" and that administration applies for any 
funding assistance available to assist with obtaining intervener status;  
 
THAT funds be allocated from the Electoral Area Administration cost centre; 
 
THAT the Board of Directors obtain the services of Nick Marty, registered 
intervener, in a joint process with the AMCA, in advocating for a flat rate option; 
 
THAT the matter of intervener status also be referred to SILGA to determine 
support from other interested local governments. 
CARRIED 

 
 

b. Director Siddon – Sharing of Legal Jurisdiction and Maintenance Authority along 
Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure Rights-of-Way in Rural Communities 
 
 
Whereas Electoral Area Directors are regularly challenged by the inadequacy of 
bylaw enforcement and roadside maintenance standards along MOTI Rights of 
Way within unincorporated communities,  
 
And recognizing the need to provide greater jurisdictional clarity with respect to 
such issues as illegal vehicle parking, unauthorized encroachment, signage, 
squatter camping and neglected roadside maintenance such as blocked culverts, 
grass cutting and weed control, 
 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT RDOS staff prepare a negotiating strategy to guide the preparation of a 
Memorandum of Agreement between the RDOS and the Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) to embody an improved “standard of 
shared responsibility” for roadside maintenance and enforcement capacity within 
the rural communities of RDOS; and further, 
 
THAT this agreement incorporate a new form of Roadside Maintenance Service 
for designated rural areas, and a joint funding arrangement with the MOTI. - 
DEFEATED 
Opposed: Directors Armitage, Coyne, Schafer, McKortoff, Sentes, Kozakevich, Bauer, Brydon, 
Boot, Jakubeit, Bush, Martin, Waterman 

 
 

3. Board Members Verbal Update 
 

 



Board of Directors Meeting – Regular - 8 - October 5, 2017 
 
F. ADJOURNMENT 

By consensus, the meeting adjourned at 3:07 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
 
________________________ 
K. Kozakevich 
RDOS Board Chair  

CERTIFIED CORRECT:  
 
 
 
_________________________ 
B. Newell 
Corporate Officer 

 



 
 

                                                         File No: H2017.139-DVP 
Page 1 of 3 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 

TO: Board of Directors 
 
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
DATE: October 19, 2017 
 
RE: Development Variance Permit Application — Electoral Area “H” 
 

Administrative Recommendation: 
THAT the Board of Directors approve Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139–DVP. 
 

Purpose:  To vary the height of a building or structure in the Resource Area (RA) zone in the Electoral Area “H” 
zoning bylaw to accommodate wind turbines and a meteorological tower. 

Owners:   Elkhart Wind GP Ltd. Folio: N/A 

Civic:  Crown Land Legal: N/A 

OCP:  Resource Area (RA) Zone: Resource Area (RA) 

Variances  To vary the maximum height for a building or structure (wind turbines) from 10.0 m to 235 m; and 
Request:   To vary the maximum height for a building or structure (met. tower) from 10.0 m to 150 m. 
 

Proposed Development: 
The applicant wants to establish a renewable clean energy source for British Columbia in accordance 
with the 2007 BC Energy Plan. 

Specifically, the applicant is developing a Wind Farm that will generate 15-20 megawatts of energy 
that is marketable to BC Hydro under the Standing Offer Program. The project will consist of up to 
seven (7) wind turbine generators and 23.5 kilometres of 34.5 kilovolt transmission lines. Only 2 – 3 
appear to be located within the boundaries of the Regional District Okanagan-Similkameen. 

In support of the requested variance, the applicant has stated that “It is not feasible for a modern 
wind energy facility to operate below 10.0 metres in height. Environmental impacts caused by the 
project are only justifiable if the turbines can reach into the high winds to produce large amounts of 
clean electricity.” 
 
Site Context: 
The subject property is approximately 886 hectares of un-surveyed Crown land and is located near 
Elkhart Lodge on Highway 97C. The boundary of the project straddles land between both the RDOS 
and the Thompson-Nicole Regional District. 
 
Background: 

In 2013 the proponent acquired an Investigative Licence for the project area and initiated wind resource 
studies later that year.  



  

 File No: H2017.139-DVP 
Page 2 of 3 

Since early 2015, the proponent has been proceeding with approval for the Project through a permitting 
process with the Ministry of Forest, Land and Natural Resource Operations and is anticipating selling 
energy under BC Hydro’s Standing Offer Program (SOP). 

The SOP encourages the development of clean or renewable power projects of no more than 15 MW 
throughout British Columbia with the benefits of participating in the program being the ability to sell 
electricity to BC Hydro through streamlined processes, streamlined contracts and lower transaction 
costs. 

Importantly, the SOP’s rules require that “if local government land use requirements apply to all or any 
part of the Project site (including all areas where the generating facility and related access roads, 
transmission lines and other Project facilities will be built), that part of the Project site must be 
appropriately zoned for the applicable Project use.” 

In 2017, the Regional District responded to a referral from the province (H2017.076-CROWN) 
regarding the proposed use of the subject area for wind power generation.  The Regional District 
advised that the applicant be made aware that should the project proceed to the next stage of 
development, a variance permit (for height) and watercourse development permit may be needed if 
the constructed road crosses a watercourse. 

Under the Electoral Area “H” Zoning Bylaw No. 2498, 2012, the property is zoned Resource Area (RA) 
zone, which allows for meteorological towers; and section 7.3 permits “utility uses” as permitted in 
every zone.  

Under the Electoral Area “H” Official Community Plan (OCP) Bylaw No. 2497, 2012 is designated as 
Resource Area (RA), and is subject to areas within the Watercourse Development Permit (WDP) area. 
 
Public Process: 
Adjacent property owners will have received notification of this application with written comments 
regarding the proposal being accepted until the commencement of the regular Board meeting. 
 
Analysis: 
When assessing variance requests a number of factors are generally taken into account and these 
include the intent of the zoning; the presence of any potential limiting physical features on the 
subject property; established streetscape characteristics; and whether the proposed development will 
have a detrimental impact upon the amenity of the area and/or adjoining uses.  

In considering this proposal, Administration is aware of the concerns that have accompanied the 
introduction of wind turbines in other communities (i.e. shadow flicker, noise, visual impact, impact 
on migratory bird and bat populations, etc.) and that regulations have been introduced to address 
siting concerns (i.e. by requiring setbacks of four times the tower height from any residence) and 
maximum noise levels. 

In this instance, however, the remote location of the development site on un-surveyed Crown land is 
unlikely to result in any adverse impacts being experienced by adjacent property owners (NOTE: the 
closest privately held parcel is approximately 5 km to the southeast) or users. 

Administration recognises that the Electoral Area Zoning Bylaws do not currently contemplate the 
development of independent wind turbine power projects and that, without a variance to the 



  

 File No: H2017.139-DVP 
Page 3 of 3 

maximum height allowance in the Electoral Area “H” Resource Area Zones, this project cannot 
proceed. 

In light of the supportive policy statements contained within the Electoral Area “H” OCP Bylaw 
regarding renewable energy and energy conservation, Administration supports the proposed 
variances. 
 
Alternatives:  
1. THAT the Board of Directors refer Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139-DVP to the 

Electoral Area “H” Advisory Planning Commission; OR 
2. THAT the Board of Directors deny Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139-DVP. 

 
Respectfully submitted  Endorsed by:     Endorsed by: 

__________________ ________________ _____________________ 
K.Taylor, Planning Technician      C. Garrish, Planning Supervisor      B. Dollevoet, Dev. Services Manager 



Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139-DVP 
Page 1 of 5 

 
 

Development Variance Permit 
 

 
FILE NO.: H2017.139-DVP 

 
Owner: 
 
 
 

Elkhart Wind GP Ltd. 
#301-788 Beatty St. 
Vancouver, BC, V6B 2M1 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS  

1. This Development Variance Permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the bylaws 
of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen applicable thereto, except as 
specifically varied or supplemented by this Permit. 

2. The land described shall be developed strictly in accordance with the terms and 
conditions and provisions of this Permit, and any plans and specifications attached to this 
Permit that shall form a part thereof. 

3. Where there is a conflict between the text of the permit and permit drawings or figures, 
the drawings or figures shall govern the matter. 

4. This Development Variance Permit is not a Building Permit. 
 

APPLICABILITY 

5. This Development Variance Permit is substantially in accordance with Schedules ‘A’, ‘B’ 
and ‘C’ and applies to and only to those lands within the Regional District described below, 
and any and all buildings, structures and other development thereon: 

Legal Description:  Part of District Lot 2819 together with un-surveyed Crown 
land in KDYD 

Civic Address:  Not applicable 

Parcel Identifier (PID):  Not applicable Folio: Not applicable 
 

CONDITIONS OF DEVELOPMENT 

6. The land specified in Section 5 may be developed in accordance with the following 
variance to the Electoral Area “H” Zoning Bylaw No. 2498, 2012, in the Regional District 
of Okanagan-Similkameen: 

a) The maximum height for a building or structure (wind turbines) in Resource Area (RA) 
Zone, as prescribed at Section 11.1.6(a), is varied: 

i) from:  10.0 metres. 



Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139-DVP 
Page 2 of 5 

to:  235.0 metres 

b) The maximum height for a building or structure (meteorological tower) in Resource 
Area (RA) Zone, as prescribed at Section 11.1.6(a), is varied: 

i) from:  10.0 metres. 

to:  150.0 metres 

 
7. COVENANT REQUIREMENTS  

a) Not Applicable 

 
8. SECURITY REQUIREMENTS  

a) Not applicable 

 
9. EXPIRY OF PERMIT 

The development shall be carried out according to the following schedule:  

a) In accordance with Section 504 of the Local Government Act and subject to the terms 
of the permit, if the holder of this permit does not substantially start any construction 
with respect to which the permit was issued within two (2) years after the date it was 
issued, the permit lapses.   

b) Lapsed permits cannot be renewed; however, an application for a new development 
permit can be submitted. 

 
 
 
Authorising resolution passed by the Regional Board on ________________, 2017. 
 
 
 

___________________________________ 
B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139-DVP 
Page 3 of 5 

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
101 Martin St, Penticton, BC, V2A 5J9 
Telephone: 250-492-0237    Email: info@rdos.bc.ca  

Development Variance Permit                  File No. H2017.139-DVP 
Schedule ‘A’ 

 
  

  

  
 
                            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
                            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

NN
PRINCETON 

Subject 
Area 

(APPROXIMATE) 

SUMMERLAND 

KELOWNA 

PENTICTON 



Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139-DVP 
Page 4 of 5 

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
101 Martin St, Penticton, BC, V2A 5J9 
Telephone: 250-492-0237    Email: info@rdos.bc.ca  

Development Variance Permit                  File No. H2017.139-DVP 
Schedule ‘B’ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Variance Permit No. H2017.139-DVP 
Page 5 of 5 

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
101 Martin St, Penticton, BC    V2A 5J9 
Telephone: 250-492-0237    Email: info@rdos.bc.ca  
      
Development Variance Permit                 File No.  H2017.139-DVP 

Schedule ‘C’ 



 
 

                                                         File No: E2017.103-ZONE 
Page 1 of 4 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 

TO: Board of Directors 
 
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
DATE: October 19, 2017 
 
RE: Zoning Bylaw Amendment – Electoral Area “E” 
 

Administrative Recommendation: 

THAT Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017, Electoral Area “E” Zoning Amendment Bylaw be read a third time 
and adopted.  
 

Purpose:  To allow for the development of a “craft distillery”  

Owner:  George Niddery                Applicant: Chad Niddery  Folio: E-04571.010 

Civic:  1362 Greyback Mountain Road Legal: Lot 1, DLs 1032s and 2711, SDSY, Plan 12443 

Zone: Small Holdings Two (SH2)  Proposed Zone:  Small Holdings Two Site Specific (SH2s) 
 

Proposed Development: 
This application is seeking to develop a “craft distillery” that includes a processing, storing, retail and 
tasting area.   

Specifically, it is being proposed to introduce a site specific zoning that will allow for an increase in 
size and use for a home industry to include a “distillery” of up to 270 m2.  The applicant has proposed 
a building of 267.6 m2 in size with approximately 134.5 m2 to be used for warehousing, 53.5 m2 to be 
used for the processing (distilling), 66.9 m2 for the tasting and sales area, and another 53.5 m2 for an 
outdoor patio.  
 
Site Context: 
The subject property is approximately 2.99 ha in area and is located adjacent to the City of Penticton 
boundary, northeast of Campbell Mountain, and approximately 1,450 metres north of the Electoral 
Area “D” boundary.   

The surrounding pattern of development is seen to be characterised by a large Resource Area (RA) 
within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) to the north, and RA and Conservation Area (CA) lands to 
the east and south containing the City of Penticton’s reservoir, and land located within the City of 
Penticton to the west zoned as Forest and Grazing.   
 
Background: 
At its meeting of September 11, 2017, the Electoral Area “E” Advisory Planning Commission (APC) 
resolved to recommend to the Regional District Board that this development proposal be approved 
with the following conditions: that an Environmental Impact Assessment is carried out; and, that a 
written statement committing to on site agricultural use be provided. 



  

 File No: E2017.103-ZONE 
Page 2 of 4 

A Public Information Meeting was held ahead of the APC meeting on September 11, 2017, and was 
attended by eight (8) members of the public. 
At its Meeting of September 21, 2017, the Board gave first and second reading to Amendment Bylaw 
No. 2459.26, 2017.  
A Public Hearing is to be held on October 19, 2017, prior to the regular scheduled Board Meeting.  

All comments received through the public process, including APC minutes are compiled and included 
as a separate item on the Board Agenda. 

Approval from the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) is not required as the 
proposal is situated beyond 800 metres of a controlled area. 
 
Analysis: 

The main considerations in assessing this proposal is whether or not a 270 m2 craft distillery can be 
considered an accessory use and whether or not it fits in with the general character of the 
neighbourhood.   

The proposed location is on a relatively flat area on the south side of Greyback Mountain Road, at the 
back of the property.  The neighbourhood character is seen to be rural in nature with very few 
developed properties nearby; therefore, the proposal would not intrude into the streetscape.  
Conversely, given the relative isolation of the subject property, the development of a craft distillery 
may create issues (e.g. traffic & noise) within the rural neighbourhood. 

In terms of the size of the proposed distillery, while significantly larger than the 100 m2 permitted as a 
home industry, it is still within the range permitted for the retail sales of farm and off –farm products 
that sets a maximum of 300m2, if the property were being used as a farm.  The subject property is not 
assessed as having ‘farm’ status; however, agriculture is a permitted use and the applicant has 
provided a site plan showing where production will occur.   

Conversely, the proposed distillery use is seen to be completely detached from the principal 
residential use of the property and has a larger footprint than the principal use and therefore may not 
be considered strictly as an accessory use.  The location of this proposed use may also be problematic 
given its relative isolation and access, as well as being close to the City of Penticton’s drinking water 
supply reservoir.    
 
Alternatives: 
.1 THAT First and Second Reading of Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017, Electoral Area “E” Zoning 

Amendment Bylaw be rescinded and the bylaw denied.  
 
Respectfully submitted  Endorsed by:      Endorsed by:   
 

ERiechert________          __ 
E.Riechert, Planner  C. Garrish, Planning Supervisor  B. Dollevoet, Dev. Services Manager 
 

Attachments:  No. 1 – Applicant’s Site Plan     

 No. 2 Site Photo (Google Earth)   



  

 File No: E2017.103-ZONE 
Page 3 of 4 

Attachment No. 1 – Applicant’s Site Plan 

    

  



  

 File No: E2017.103-ZONE 
Page 4 of 4 

Attachment No. 2 – Site Photo (Google Streetview)  

      



Amendment Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017 
(E2017.103-ZONE) 

 Page 1 of 3 

 _________________ 
 
 BYLAW NO. 2459.26 
  _________________ 
 
 
 REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
 
 BYLAW NO. 2459.26, 2017 
 
 

A Bylaw to amend the Electoral Area “E” Zoning Bylaw No. 2459, 2008 
         
 

The REGIONAL BOARD of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen in open meeting 
assembled ENACTS as follows: 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Electoral Area “E” Zoning Amendment 
Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017.” 

2. The Zoning Map, being Schedule ‘2’ of the Electoral Area “E” Zoning Bylaw No. 2459, 2008, 
is amended by changing the land use designation on land described as Lot 1, District Lots 
103s and 2711, SDYD, Plan 12443, and shown shaded yellow on Schedule ‘A’, which forms 
part of this Bylaw, from Small Holdings One (SH2) to Small Holdings Two Site Specific 
(SH2s). 

3. The Electoral Area “E” Zoning Bylaw No. 2459, 2008, is amended by: 

i) adding a new section following 15.5.2 under Section 15.5 (Site Specific Small Holdings 
Two (SH2) Provisions) to read as follows: 

.2 in the case of land described as Lot 1, Plan 12443, District Lots 103s and 2711, 
SDYD, and shown shaded yellow on Figure 15.5.2: 

a) a “home industry” use may include a “distillery”, which is defined as 
meaning the distilling of alcoholic beverages or alcoholic products with 
alcoholic content exceeding 1% by volume that is licensed under the 
Liquor Control and Licensing Act to produce spirits, and may include 
tasting, retail sales and outdoor patio areas.  

b) despite Section 7.18.4, the gross floor area of “home industry”, including 
tasting, retail sales and outdoor patio areas shall not exceed 270 m2. 

 



Amendment Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017 
(E2017.103-ZONE) 

 Page 2 of 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ A FIRST AND SECOND TIME this 21st day of September, 2017.  

PUBLIC HEARING held on this 19th day of October, 2017. 

READ A THIRD TIME this ____ day of __________, 2017. 

ADOPTED this this ____ day of __________, 2017. 

 
 
_______________________        ______________________  
Board Chair      Corporate Officer

Figure 15.5.2 

Small Holdings Two 
Site Specific (SH2s) 

(YELLOW SHADED AREA) 

NN



 

Amendment Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017 
(E2017.103-ZONE) 

 Page 3 of 3 

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
101 Martin St, Penticton, BC, V2A-5J9 
Telephone: 250-492-0237    Email: info@rdos.bc.ca  
 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2459.26, 2017 Project No: E2017.103-ZONE 

Schedule ‘A’ 
 

 
 
 

  
   
     
  

Subject 
Property 

 

NN
PENTICTON 

Amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2459, 2008: 
from:  Small Holdings Two (SH2) 
to:  Small Holdings Two Site Specific (SH2s) 

(YELLOW SHADED AREA) 







 
 

                                                         File No: G2017.105-ZONE 
Page 1 of 2 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 

TO: Board of Directors 
 
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
DATE: October 19, 2017 
 
RE: Zoning Bylaw Amendment – Electoral Area “G” 
 

Administrative Recommendation: 

THAT Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017, Electoral Area “G” Zoning Amendment Bylaw be adopted. 
 

Purpose:  To allow for the development of an accessory dwelling unit as part of a new garage. 

Owners:   Robert & Kelly Sanders Agent: N/A  Folio: G-06900.118 

Civic:  2804 Liddicoat Road Legal: Lot R, Plan KAP92023, Section 30, Township 52, SDYD 

Zone:  Resource Area (RA) Proposed Zoning: Resource Area Site Specific (RAs) 
 

Proposed Development: 
This application is seeking to allow for the development of an accessory dwelling on a 4.0 ha parcel 
that will comprise a floor area of approximately 250 m2. 
 
Background: 
At its meeting of August 16, 2017, the Electoral Area “G” Advisory Planning Commission (APC) 
resolved to recommend to the Regional District Board that this development proposal be approved. 

A Public Information Meeting was held ahead of the APC meeting on August 16, 2017, and was 
attended by approximately 10 members of the public. 

At its meeting of September 7, 2017, the Regional District Board resolved to approve first and second 
reading of the amendment bylaw and delegated the holding of a public hearing. 

A Public Hearing was held on September 25, 2017, where approximately 12 members of the public 
attended. 

At its meeting of October 5, 2017, the Regional District Board resolved to approve third reading of the 
amendment bylaw. 

Approval from the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) due to the amendment 
applying to land within 800 metres of a controlled area, was obtained on October  11, 2017. 
 
Alternative: 
THAT first, second and third readings of Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017, be rescinded and the 
bylaw abandoned. 
 
 



  

 File No: G2017.105-ZONE 
Page 2 of 2 

Respectfully submitted:   Endorsed By:  

__________________________  __________________________________ 
C. Garrish, Planning Supervisor  B. Dollevoet, Development Services Manager 



Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 
(G2017.105-ZONE) 

  Page 1 of 4 

 _________________ 
 
 BYLAW NO. 2462.03 
  _________________ 
 
 
 REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
 
 BYLAW NO. 2462.03, 2017 
 
 

A Bylaw to amend the Electoral Area “G” Zoning Bylaw No. 2462, 2008 
         
 

The REGIONAL BOARD of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen in open meeting 
assembled ENACTS as follows: 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Electoral Area “G” Zoning Amendment 
Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017.” 

2. The Zoning Map, being Schedule ‘2’ of the Electoral Area “G” Zoning Bylaw No. 2462, 2008, 
is amended by changing the land use designation of the land described as Lot R, Plan 
KAP92023, Section 30, Township 52, SDYD, and as shown shown shaded yellow on 
Schedule ‘A’, which forms part of this Bylaw, from Resource Area (RA) to Resource Area 
Site Specific (RAs).  

3. The Electoral Area “G” Zoning Bylaw No. 2462, 2008, is amended by: 

i) Replacing Section 11.1.1 (Site Specific Resource Area Provisions) Section 11.0 (Site 
Specific Designations) to read as follows: 

.1 in the case of land described as Lot R, Plan KAP92023, Section 30, Township 52, 
SDYD, and shown shaded yellow on Figure 11.1.1: 

a) the following use shall be permitted on the land in addition to the permitted 
uses listed in Section 10.1.2: 

i) “accessory dwelling”, which is defined as meaning a dwelling unit which 
is permitted as an accessory use in conjunction with a principal use and 
is not located within a building containing a single detached dwelling 
unit. The accessory dwelling is a complete living unit and indicates a 
private kitchen and bath. 

b) despite Section 10.1.6(b), the maximum number of accessory dwelling units 
permitted per parcel shall not exceed one (1). 



Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 
(G2017.105-ZONE) 

  Page 2 of 4 

c) No accessory dwelling shall have a floor area greater than 250.0 m2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Figure 11.1.1 

NN

Resource Area Site 
Specific (RAs) 

LIDDICOAT ROAD 



Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 
(G2017.105-ZONE) 

  Page 3 of 4 

READ A FIRST AND SECOND TIME this 7th day of September, 2017.  

PUBLIC HEARING held on this 25th day of September, 2017. 

READ A THIRD TIME this 5th day of October, 2017. 

Approved pursuant to Section 52(3) of the Transportation Act this ___ day of ______, 2017. 

ADOPTED this ___ day of _________, 2017. 

 
 
_______________________      ______________________  
Board Chair Corporate Officer



 

Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 
(G2017.105-ZONE) 

  Page 4 of 4 

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
101 Martin St, Penticton, BC, V2A-5J9 
Tel: 250-492-0237    Email: info@rdos.bc.ca 
 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2462.03, 2017 Project No: G2017.105-ZONE 

Schedule ‘A’ 
    

 
 
 

  
   
         

Subject 
Property 

 

NN

Amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2462, 2008: 
from:  Resource Area (RA) 
to:  Resource Area Site Specific (RAs) 

(YELLOW SHADED AREA ONLY) 

KEREMEOS 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/C.1. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 1 of 6 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Award of Predesign for Skaha Estates Sewer Expansion Project 
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
This recommendation is to come forward later in the day, at the Board Meeting of October 19, 2017 
THAT the Board of Directors reallocate the Regionally Significant Project Gas Tax Funds allocated 
for the “Okanagan Falls Wetlands Enhancement” project to the “Predesign of the Skaha Estates 
Sewer Extension to Okanagan Falls” project in the amount of $360,911; 
 
THAT the Board of Directors approve the expenditure of up to $360,911 for consulting services to 
Tetra Tech Canada Inc. for the Predesign phase of the “Skaha Estates Sewer Extension to 
Okanagan Falls” project; and 
 
THAT the Board of Directors execute a consulting services agreement with Tetra Tech Canada Inc. 
for the Predesign Services detailed in the Request for Proposals and the submitted Proposal for 
the “Skaha Estates Sewer Extension to Okanagan Falls” project. 
 
Purpose: 
Retain a consultant to carry out professional services required to prepare the predesign and 
updated costing of the new sewer system to allow a referendum process to proceed for the 
establishement of the Skaha Estates service area. It is anticipated that a future report will come to 
the Board after a successful referendum for the additional  award of required consulting services. 
 
Reference: 
In accordance with the Purchasing and Sales Policy, the Regional District Board of Directors shall 
approve all purchases over $50,000. 
 
Business Plan Objective: (Tie to current RDOS Business Plan) 
Key Success Driver #3 – Build a Sustainable Region 
Goal 3.3: To develop an environmentally sustainable region with Objective 3.3.5 to bring the Skaha 
Estates and Kaleden areas into the Okanagan Falls wastewater treatment system. 
 

  



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/C.1. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 2 of 6 
 

Background: 
There are two main components to discuss within this board report. The first is in regards to the 
Okanagan Falls Wetland project and the other with the Skaha Estates Sewer Extension project.  
 
Wetlands Project 
The Okanagan Falls Wetland Enhacement project has been in the future vision for wastewater 
treatment in the area since the idea was initially discussed during the development of the 
‘Okanagan Falls Sewage Treatment Plant - Strategic Review’ in 2005. It was considered an 
enhancement option to potentially benefit the natural wetlands in the area. As the project 
proceeded, the wetland option was brought forward as an optional, future treatment that could be 
added when the time was right.  
 
Of note, the Operating Certificate for the Okanagan Falls Wastewater Treatment Plant does not 
require installation or utilization of a wetland for treatment before the effluent is released into the 
Okanagan River.    
 
In 2010, during completion of the Liquid Waste Management Plan and the Predesign of the new 
Wastewater Treatment Plant, the wetlands enhancement project was determined to be 
unaffordable at the time. The natural wetland area across the Okanagan River was not suitable and 
the Regional District did not have another location available. The plans were put on hold until a 
future undetermined date. 
 
In 2012, funds were allocated from the Regionally Significant Projects (RSP) gas tax funds in an 
effort to move the wetland project along. In total, $360,911 was allocated to the wetland project. 
Initial designs and estimates place the costs at about $1.0 Million plus the cost of purchasing land. 
As part of the rules surrounding the RSP funds, the securing of complete funding for the wetland 
project is required prior to the RSP agreement execution. To date, although the funds are allocated 
to the wetlands project, the Regional District does not have an agreement for the RSP funds with 
UBCM as the total project costs have not been secured in full.   
 
In 2016, the Regional District was provided an opportunity to purchase a 4.2 hectare piece of 
property for constructing an engineering wetland. The property was purchased and plans were 
initiated to design a system for reduction of endocrine disruptors or other micropollutants. A 
significant amount of research all across the globe is underway to look at the effects and treatment 
options for various micropollutants. To date however, there are still many unanswered questions 
on the most efficient ways of reducing these pollutants and as such the best layout within a 
constructed wetland area is largely unknown.  
 
The Regional District has sought out additional funding sources, however the efforts have been 
unable to secure additional funds at this time to carry out the wetlands enhancement project to 
completion. The previously allocated RSP funds are expiring on September 30, 2018. These funds 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/C.1. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 3 of 6 
 

will not be able to be utilized for construction of a wetland within this timeframe and as such, it is 
recommended that these funds be relocated to a different project.    
 
Skaha Estates Sewer System 
The addition of the Skaha Estates and Kaleden communities into the Okanagan Falls sewer system 
has been discussed since the late 1980’s when the first Liquid Waste Management Plan was 
completed for the area.  In 2014, the Board of Directors made the sewering of Skaha Estates and 
Kaleden the top priotiy for the Regional District.   
 
In 2015, an application was submitted to the Building Canada Fund – Small Communities Fund (BCF-
SCF) for the sewering project. Unfortunately this application was denied, however the Regional 
District was encouraged to reapply in the following year. In 2016, a revised application was 
submitted breaking the project into distinct phases; Phase 1 for Skaha Estates and Phase 2 for the 
Kaleden area. In March of 2017, the BCF-SCF grant was approved for Phase 1.  
 
The submitted application to the BCF-SCF program requested a grant of about $8.4 Million. The 
approved grant to the Regional District was about $6.6 Million, which leaves a shortfall in funding of 
$2.2 Million. The project has significant challenges with rock through out the Skaha Estates 
community and along Eastside Road.  A large contingency was added in the grant submission for 
the removal of rock however with the reduced funding received, there is concern on whether the 
grant is sufficient to cover all of the rock removal required without increasing the cost to each 
property owner substantially. Initial discussions with the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure indicate potential opportunities for partnering on some work in the area that could 
reduce the Regional District costs.  
 
The initial plan was to utilize the preliminary design created for the grant application and move 
towards holding a referendum for Skaha Estates within about eight months. The creation of the 
service area and borrowing bylaw would then be completed. With the reduced grant received, the 
initial project plan and potential risks were re-evaluated and an alternative approach is 
recommended. 
 
Analysis: 
The addition of sewers to the Skaha Estates community has many challenges. After the reduced 
grant was received, a review of the preliminary design was conducted to evaluate where potential 
increased risks could raise the project costs to unaffordable levels.  
 
At this time to successfully move the Skaha Estates sewer project forward, it is recommended to 
complete a full predesign to quantify some key risks affecting the project costs. Specifically the 
geotechnical studies and archeological assessments, as well as confirming the exact layout including 
elevations of the sewer system. The cost to complete all of these predesign components is 
estimated at about $347,000. After completion of the predesign work in mid-2018, the Regional 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/C.1. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 4 of 6 
 

District would have an increased confidence in the projected estimates prior to initiating a 
referendum process.  
 
With the refinement of the predesign and updated costs, one of the following outcomes will occur: 

1. Predesign indicates Skaha Estates sewer project has sufficient funding to move forward with 
the grant received. Successful referendum is completed. Project will proceed as planned. 

2. Predesign indicates Skaha Estates sewer project does not have sufficient funds to move 
forward with the reduced grant funding. Additional funding must be secured either through 
additional grants or increased contributions from the residents. 

3. Predesign indicates Skaha Estates sewer project does not have sufficient funds to move 
forward with the reduced grant funding, no additional grants are available and residents do 
not approve the required contribution amount. The sewering project for Skaha Estates is 
then abandoned and the sewer expansion project for Kaleden is initiated. The installation of 
the sewer system for Kaleden is expected to be much less than in Skaha Estates due to the 
more favorable ground conditions. 

 
Options for Funding the Recommended Predesign Work: 
In a typical capital infrastructure project that receives Federal & Provincial grant program funding, 
the predesign expenses would be paid from the received grant. In this case it would be the BCF-SCF 
grant received for the Skaha Estates sewering project. This grant covers 2/3 of project expenses, 
leaving 1/3 to be paid by the service area residents. As the Skaha Estates sewer area is not yet a 
formal service area, the 1/3 of the costs (about $116,000) would need to be allocated to the Rural 
Projects Area D budget in 2018.  

· If the detailed predesign indicates sufficient monies are available, the 1/3 of the costs owed 
by the property owners could be rolled into the newly created service area in 2019 or 2020. 
Rural Projects Area D would have to cover the expenses until that time. 

· If the detailed predesign indicates that the budget may not be sufficient and adequate 
funding may not be available, the Rural Projects Area D would need to cover the cost of at 
least $116,000 or potentially the entire predesign expense of $347,000. 

 
The wetlands enhancement project will not be able to utilize the $360,911 allocated to it from the 
Regionally Significant Program (RSP) funds prior to the expiration of September 2018. Discussions 
with UBCM indicate the RSP funding is eligible to be reallocated to the Skaha Estates sewer project 
for the predesign as it will ultimately result in construction of new infrastructure.  
 
Given the above it is recommended that the RSP funds be reallocated from the wetlands 
enhancement project to the Skaha Estates sewer project for immediate use. The RSP funding would 
cover 100% of the costs to complete the predesign work. 
 
 
 
 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/C.1. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 5 of 6 
 

Consultant Selection 
In preparation of proceeding with the predesign, detailed design and ultimately construction of the 
Skaha Estates sewer expansion project, a Request for Qualifications and Expression of Interest for 
obtaining a consultant was released and eleven submissions were received on June 30, 2017.  The 
eleven submissions were evaluated by three staff members to determine the shortlist of four 
consultants. The four shortlisted consultants were Associated Engineering, McElhanney Consulting 
Services, Stantec and Tetra Tech Canada.  
 
These four shortlisted consultants received the full Request for Proposal (RFP) document used for 
selecting the consultant team for bringing sewers to Skaha Estates.  Proposals were received on 
August 31, 2017. A team of five staff members independently evaluated and ranked the four 
proposals based on evaluation criteria presented in the RFP document.  Following the individual 
evaluation, the team met to share and discuss results.  
 
Each proposal had strengths and weaknesses. The most significant issues identified in the received 
proposals included insufficient detail on methodology and what deliverables were included, 
insufficient communications planning for the scope of work, and lack of clarity in the document. 
Significant strengths were also observed in the proposals including an analysis of specific project 
challenges, extensive communications and engagement plan, and a very detailed methodology for 
the project approach.  
 
In the RFP, the overall budget was provided to the consultant. As a result, the methodology was the 
most critical aspect of the work. The team ranked the proposals with and without the points for the 
price and the ranking results were the same when costs were considered. 
 
The following table provides the overall ranking of received proposals: 

CONSULTANT RANK 
Tetra Tech Canada 1 
McElhanney Consulting Services 2 
Associated Engineering 3 
Stantec 4 

 
At this time, it is necessary to secure the consultant for completing the work on the Skaha Estates 
sewer expansion project. As discussed previously it is recommended to proceed with the predesign 
at this time to determine the ultimate design and construction plan with updated costs for the 
Skaha Estates area. Following the predesign stage, a report will return to the Board to award 
subsequent work to the contracted consultant, Tetra Tech Candada. 
 
Alternatives: 

1. The Board may decide to not reallocate the funding from the Regionally Significant Project 
gas tax funds and approve the expenditure of $120,000 to $360,000 from the Rural Projects 
Area D budget in order to move the Skaha Estates sewer project forward. 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/C.1. Skaha Estates Sewer 
Award.Docx  
File No: 5330.20 D 
Page 6 of 6 
 

2. The Board may decide to abandon the Skaha Estates sewer project and direct staff to enter 
into discussions with the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (formerly the Ministry of 
Community, Sports and Cultural Development) on seeking approval to change the scope of 
the awarded project to the Kaleden sewer expansion.  

 
Communication Strategy:  
In order to undertake a project of this magnitude, community members must be kept well informed 
and feel included in the process. The goal is to have a positive process that people are excited about 
to lead to a common vision and cohesiveness. The latest public meetings held in April 2016 
reaffirmed the desire of both communities to have sewers installed. 
 
At the start of the predesign, the community will be engaged and contact will be made as often as 
possible through newsletters, website updates, emails, site visits and open houses.  
 
Respectfully submitted:                                                   Endorsed by: 
 
Liisa Bloomfield                                                                  Janine Dougall 
__________________________ 
L. Bloomfield, Engineer                                                     Janine Dougall, Public Works Manager 

 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/D.1. Naramata Water Budget 
Amendment Administrative Report.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 1 of 1 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Board of Directors 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE:   Naramata Water System 2017-2021 Five Year Financial Plan Amendment 
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
 
THAT the Board of Directors support a Five-year Financial Plan Amendment in the amount of 
$300,000 for the Naramata Water System to fund the purchase of the generator. 
 
Reference: 
Bylaw 2767, 2017 2017-2021 Five Year Financial Plan 
 

Background: 
Amendments to the approved Five-year Financial Plan are brought forward as supporting 
resolutions with bylaw amendments taking place in aggregation annually. 
 
Analysis: 
During the time that the 2017 budget was being prepared it was anticipated that there would be 
expenditures incurred in the last quarter of 2016 and that these costs would be funded by the 
Community Works Gas Tax fund as was approved in the 2017-2021 Five Year Financial Plan.  Costs 
relating to the purchase of the generator were delayed and as a result were not incurred until 2018.  
Due to this fact, the Community Works Gas Tax funding, which was required to fund a portion of 
the project, was not carried forward to 2018.  This will not have any impact on the balance of the 
Community Works Gas Tax as this amount had already been committed.    
 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
“Maureen Hayter” 
___________________________________________ 
M. Hayter, Finance Manager 
 

 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/D.2. Audit Services RFP 
Administrative Report.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 1 of 2 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Board of Directors 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Appointment of Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen Auditor 
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
 
THAT the Board appoint BDO Canada LLP to provide audit services for the Regional District of 
Okanagan-Similkameen and the Okanagan Similkameen Regional Hospital District for the fiscal 
years ending December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019 with a possible two year extension . 
 
 
Reference: 
Local Government Act 377(1) 
Community Charter Part 6; Division 2, 169(1) 
 
 
Business Plan Objective:  
Objective 1.1.1      By providing the Board with accurate, current financial information. 
 
 
Background: 
Every three to five years the Regional District requests proposals from qualified audit firms in the 
Okanagan Similkameen.  A Request For Proposal (RFP) was issued on September 8, 2017 using a 
standard template developed by the Auditor General of BC. 
 
 
Analysis: 
Five proposals were received and evaluated on the following criteria: 

1. Capability of audit firm and audit team – 45% 
2. Proposed audit strategy – 35% 
3. Price – 20% 

 
The successful proponent was BDO Canada LLP. 
 
 
 



 

Https://Portal.Rdos.Bc.Ca/Departments/Officeofthecao/Boardreports/2017/20171019/Boardreports/D.2. Audit Services RFP 
Administrative Report.Docx File No: Click here to enter 
text. 
Page 2 of 2 
 

Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
“Maureen Hayter” 
___________________________________________ 
M. Hayter, Finance Manager 
 

 



 

 
https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/BoardReports/E.1. Bylaw 2671, 2017 REPORT 
(DogControlBylaw).docx 
Page 1 of 3 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Board of Directors 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 2671, 2017  
 
Administrative Recommendation: 
THAT Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 Dog Control Bylaw be read a first time, a second time, a third time 
and adopted. 
 
Purpose: 
The purpose of this Bylaw is to specify one Dog Control Bylaw, remove reference to cats and to wild 
and domestic sheep, and update it to current legislation and practices related to dog (“i.e. canine”) 
control enforcement. 
 
Reference: 
Part 9, Division 5, of the Local Government Act [RSBC 2015] Chapter 1 
Section 48 and 49 of Community Charter [SBC 2003] Chapter 26 
 
Business Plan Objective:  

1. Optimize Customer Experience by improving our customer rating and by meeting the public 
need through the development and implementation of key services: 

· Majority of current complaints relate to dogs at large and dogs that display 
aggressive behavior; 

2. To Provide Governance and Oversight in a Representative Democracy by encouraging 
electoral areas to work together: 

· Currently confusing to have three separate bylaws;  
· A dog’s behaviors are the same between Electoral Areas and so the regulations 

should be the same; 
· One bylaw helps for consistency purposes and liability issues. 

 
Background: 
The intent to draft a consolidated Dog Control Bylaw was introduced to the Planning and 
Development Committee on February 11, 2016. Discussion ensued at this meeting with concerns 
being raised about the probability of losing the ability to control livestock numbers and to restrict 
them from being at large in the two Electoral Areas not subject to zoning bylaws. To address this, a 
separate Animal Control Bylaw has been prepared to regulate livestock and small animals within 
Electoral Areas “B” and “G” and follows this report. 



 

 
https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/BoardReports/E.1. Bylaw 2671, 2017 REPORT 
(DogControlBylaw).docx 
Page 2 of 3 
 

On February 16, 2017, the two proposed bylaws were presented to the Board and Administration 
was requested to solicit and obtain comments from the respective Recreation Commissions within 
the RDOS area. Administration has since met with the Naramata Recreation Commission, the 
Kaleden Recreation Commission, Okanagan Falls Recreation Commission, and the Electoral Area 
“G” Director’s Advisory Panel. The Commissions’ feedback was overall supportive and resulted with 
an amendment being incorporated into the bylaw as suggested from Electoral Area “G”. 
 
In Electoral Area “G”, there was concern and discussion with respect to the new requirement that 
ALL dogs must be on a leash when not on the owners’ property. This regulation may cause 
problems for ranchers as their dogs must be able to run free when herding cattle and rural property 
owners may use this bylaw as a tool to restrict the movement of their cattle through the 
requirement that their dog must be on a leash. As such, the inclusion of a new “Working Dog” 
definition was added to the Bylaw to address this.  
 
For the remaining Electoral Areas (A, B, C, and F), after multiple attempts to attend Recreation 
Commission meetings to present the proposed bylaw, Administration provided a report to the 
Board of Directors for its meeting of October 5, 2017 to adopt both the draft Dog Control Bylaw and 
the Animal Control Bylaw for Electoral Areas “G” and “B”.  
 
However, at this meeting, the Board brought up a number of concerns with the Bylaw, with specific 
concern with the “At Large” definition and enforcement of this provision in rural areas, the 
definition of “Animal” and how it relates to Aggressive and Vicious Dogs, and Dogs being utilized for 
hunting and emergency personnel purposes.   
 
Administration has since made a number of revisions to address these concerns that are shown in 
red in the attached draft Dog Control Bylaw. 
 
Analysis: 
The revised Dog Control Bylaw No. 2671 includes the following changes from the Bylaw that was 
presented for adoption on October 5, 2017: 
 

1. Re-worded and amended the “Animal” definition to also exclude any animals of the 
“Rodent” variety. Excluding these animals ensures that enforcement will not occur if a dog 
behaves aggressively or viciously to rodents (i.e. mice, rats, or raccoons). 

2. Included a part (c) in the “At Large” definition that states that “At Large” can also mean (in 
addition to not on leash or not within a vehicle) to not Under Control of the Owner as 
defined by the Bylaw. In this manner, people across the Regional District can still continue to 
walk their dogs (in both rural and urban areas) without a leash if the Dog is Under control of 
the Owner. In addition, the “Under Control” definition was amended to include that the Dog 
must be within visible sight distance. 

3. The definition of “Working Dog” is amended to include Dogs engaged in legal hunting 
activities or Dogs used by Police and Emergency services.  



 

 
https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/BoardReports/E.1. Bylaw 2671, 2017 REPORT 
(DogControlBylaw).docx 
Page 3 of 3 
 

4. A new Section 8.5 that states that an Owner shall not confine an unattended Dog in a 
vehicle on a hot day.  

 
Section 8.5 is a new regulation for RDOS, and may increase the level of service for Bylaw 
Enforcement Services. If included, Administration will have to evaluate the call volumes associated 
with these type of complaints, and the amount of Bylaw Enforcement Officer time that is being 
taken to address this regulation to determine if there may be a budgetary impact. In addition, once 
an Officer is on-site to a vehicle with a confined dog, the Officer would not be permitted to break 
into a vehicle unless the RCMP was attending the situation. This will need to managed and 
educated to the public.  

 
The Dog Control Bylaw has been updated to recognize current legislation, strengthen restrictions to 
protect the public, and to recognize current practice as indicated by other local government bylaws. 
 
Should this bylaw be adopted, amendments to the Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw will be 
presented to the Board in the near future. 
 
Alternative Recommendations: 
 

1. THAT the Board of Directors not adopt the Dog Control Bylaw No. 2671, 2017; 
 

2. THAT the Board of Directors refer the Dog Control Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 to the Planning and 
Development Committee for further discussion; 
 

3. THAT the Board of Directors direct that the Dog Control Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 be amended to 
include the following revisions and brought back to the RDOS Board for adoption: 
a 

Communication Strategy:  
· Media release (Western News, Similkameen Spotlight) 
· Online News (Castanet, InfoNet, Oliver Chronicle, Osoyoos Times) 
· New “Dog Control” information pamphlet (available at licence vendor locations, RDOS 

office) 
· RDOS website 

 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
__________________________________              _________________________________ 
R. Aylwin, Bylaw Enforcement Coordinator            Endorsed by: Brad Dollevoet,  

Development Services Manager 
 

 



Page 1 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

 
 
 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
BYLAW NO. 2671, 2017 

 
 
A regulatory bylaw to provide the licensing and control of dogs within the Regional District of 
Okanagan-Similkameen Electoral Areas “A”, “B”, “C”, “D”, “E”, “F” and “G”. 
 
WHEREAS the Regional District may, pursuant to the Local Government Act, enact a bylaw 
regulating the keeping, control and licensing of dogs; and 
 
WHEREAS the Community Charter provides Regional Districts with special powers in relation to 
dangerous dogs; 
 
WHEREAS the Regional District has adopted Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen Dog 
Control Service Establishment Bylaw No. 2775, 2017 to establish a service for the provision of 
Dog Control within Electoral Areas “A” , “B”, “C”, “D”, “E”, “F”, and “G”; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1.0  CITATION: 
 

This Bylaw shall be cited as the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen Dog Control 
Regulatory Bylaw No. 2671, 2017. 

 
2.0 DEFINITIONS: 
  

Aggressive Dog means: 
(a) Any Dog which, without provocation, has displayed aggressive behaviour toward 

another Dog, Animal or person; or 
(b) Any Dog which, without provocation, has a known tendency or disposition to pursue 

vehicles or cyclists; or 
(c) Any Dog that, without provocation, causes Minor Injury to another Dog, Animal or 

person. 
 
Altered means a Dog that has been either spayed or neutered.  
 
Animal means any animal, excepting for the purposes of this Bylaw any human species, 
wildlife as defined in the Wildlife Act, or any animals of the “Rodent” variety, such as 
rats, mice, or raccoons. 



Page 2 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

 
Animal Shelter means a building or part thereof, including the property that the 
building is located on, used by the Regional District for the temporary care of dogs 
impounded by the Dog Control Officer and includes the vehicle that is being used to 
transport the Dog. 
 
At Large means a Dog that, while not on the property of the Owner: 
(a) is not confined within a vehicle; or 
(b) is not securely attached to a Leash held by a person who has the ability to restrain 

the Dog while the Dog is under their care; or  
(c) is not Under Control of the Owner, as defined within this Bylaw. 

 
Barking Excessively means any barking, howling, yelping or crying, for 15 minutes in any 
given hour, that unduly disturb the peace, quiet, rest, comfort or tranquility of the 
surrounding neighbourhood or of persons in the vicinity. 

 
Board means the Board of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen. 
 
Calendar Year means the one-year period that begins on January 1 and ends on 
December 31.  
 
Community Charter means the Community Charter, Chapter 26 (SBC 2003), as amended 
from time to time. 
 
Dangerous Dog means a Dog that has been found to be a Dangerous Dog by a Justice of 
the Provincial Court of British Columbia. 

 
Dog means an Animal of the canine species, including a dog-wolf or dog-coyote hybrid,  
and may include aggressive dog, vicious dog, and dangerous dog. 

 
Dog Control Officer means a person appointed by the Board as a Dog Control Officer, 
Animal Control Officer or Bylaw Enforcement Officer and includes a Peace Officer, a 
Pound Keeper or Shelter Manager, employee, servant, agent, or contractor of the 
Regional District. 
 
Dog Park means an area, located on Public Land, and designated by signage to be an off-
leash area for dogs. 

 
Enclosure means a structure at least 1.8m in height by 1.2 meter wide by 4 meters long; 
constructed with secure sides, and with impervious surfacing for the bottom to prevent 
digging; suitable for the size and strength of the dog to prevent it from escaping; having  
protection and shelter from the varying weather conditions; and locked to prevent entry 
of young children or other unauthorized persons. 



Page 3 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

 
Fees and Charges Bylaw means the current Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
Fees and Charges Bylaw as amended from time to time. 

 
Guide/Service Dog means a Dog that is used by a person with a disability to avoid 
hazards or to otherwise compensate for a disability as defined in the Guide Animal Act. 

 
Leash means a device of sufficient strength and design to restrain the Dog for which it is 
being used, where one end is securely affixed to the Dog and the other end is being 
securely held by the Owner. 
 
Licence means the identification tag issued for purposes of identification of a Dog and 
identification of the dog’s Owner as indicated by the records of the Regional District.   
 
Minor Injury means a physical injury to a person or Animal that includes pinches, minor 
localized bruising, scratches, scrapes and shallow punctures. 
 
Muzzled means a humane fastening or covering device, of adequate strength, placed 
securely over the dog’s mouth designed to prevent the Dog from biting or inflicting 
injury. 
 
Nuisance Dog means any Dog that: 
(a) has been impounded 3 or more times within the previous 12 months; or 
(b) has received 3 or more fines for barking excessively or running at large within the 

previous 12 months; or 
(c) has a combined total of 4 or more fines and impounds within the previous 12 

months. 
 

Owner means any person who owns, has in their custody, harbours, shelters or permits 
any Dog to remain on or about his/her land, property or premises and is not restricted 
to the “Owner” as identified on the Dog Licence application.  

 
Pound Keeper means the employee who cares for the dogs being held at the Animal 
Shelter and includes a Shelter Manager and may include a Dog Control Officer. 
 
Public Land means any highway, road, lane, street, boulevard, crescent, walkway, trail, 
greenbelt, park, playground, or other public place that is under ownership, lease or 
tenure by Provincial, Federal or Local Government(s). 
 
Qualified Dog Trainer means, in the context of this bylaw, a person: 
(a) having a degree in veterinary medicine with a special interest in animal behaviour; 

or 



Page 4 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

(b) a person with a degree in animal behaviour together with a minimum of 5 years 
supervised work experience; 

and possessing a current membership to a professional behaviour organization such as t
 he ABPC, AVSAB, DDAB or CAAB. 
 

Regional District means the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen and may be 
referred to as the Regional District in the context of this bylaw. 

 
Serious Injury means a physical injury to a person or Animal that includes fractures, 
deep punctures, lacerations and injuries that require sutures or cosmetic surgery. 

 
Shelter Manager means the employee who cares for the dogs being held at the Animal 
Shelter and includes a Pound Keeper and may include a Dog Control Officer.  
 
Unaltered Dog means an intact Dog that has not been spayed or neutered.  
 
Under Control means such circumstances where the Dog is in visible sight distance to 
the Owner, and responds to the Owner immediately and returns to the Owner within a 
reasonable time when called or signaled by the Owner, as determined by the Dog 
Control Officer. 
 
Unlicensed Dog means a Dog for which the Licence fee for the current Calendar Year 
has not been issued by the Regional District. 
 
Vicious Dog means:  
(a) Any Dog which, without provocation, has displayed aggressive behaviour toward 

another Dog, Animal or person on two or more occasions; or 
(b) Any Dog which, without provocation, has a known propensity, tendency or 

disposition to attack other animals or humans; or 
(c) Any Dog which, without provocation, has inflicted a Serious Injury to another 

Animal, Dog or person 
 
Working Dog means a Dog that is used for purposes of herding livestock, a Dog engaged 
in legal hunting activities, or a Dog used by Police and other Emergency services, that 
requires the Dog to be free of restraints in order for them to perform the work, but does 
not include a Dog working as a guard dog on commercial or private premises. 

 
3.0 LICENSING 

 
3.1 Every Owner of a Dog within the Regional District shall obtain a Licence for the 

current Calendar Year, by January 1st  or soon thereafter of the same year, by 
making application and paying the required fee as set out in the Fees and 
Charges Bylaw. 



Page 5 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

 
3.2 An Owner is required to obtain a Licence for each Dog that is in their care, 

custody or is permitted to remain on or about their property or premise. 
 
3.3  Every Licence issued under this bylaw shall be for that Calendar Year specified 

thereon and shall expire on December 31 of the same year. 
 
3.4 Where a Licence is lost, destroyed or damaged to the point that it can’t be used 

for identification purposes, the Owner shall obtain a replacement Licence upon 
completion of a new Licence application and payment of the applicable fee as 
set out in the Fees and Charges Bylaw. 

 
3.5 Before issuing a Licence for an Altered Dog, the owner may be required to 

furnish proof that the Dog has been spayed or neutered. 
 
3.6 If an owner, that has purchased a Licence for an Unaltered Dog provides 

documentation from the veterinarian that the Dog has been altered within the 
same Calendar Year as the issued Licence, the difference in Licence fee shall be 
reimbursed. 

 
3.7 Where the Owner of a Dog in respect of which a Licence has been issued ceases 

to be the Owner within the Calendar Year that the Licence is issued, the Licence 
may be transferred to the new Owner, at no charge, upon completion of a new 
Licence application. 

 
3.8 Where an Owner relocates to the Regional District and produces a Licence issued 

to the Dog from another jurisdiction for the current Calendar Year, the Owner 
may obtain a Licence for the same Calendar Year, at no charge, upon completion 
of a new Licence application. 

 
3.9 The Owner of a licenced Dog shall affix the Licence for the current Calendar Year 

to a collar or harness on the Dog and the Licence shall be worn by the Dog at all 
times.  

 
3.10 Where a licenced Dog is found not wearing a current Licence, the Owner shall:  

(a) produce the Licence for the current Calendar Year; or 
(b) purchase a replacement Licence for the current Calendar Year 
When requested by the Regional District or Dog Control Officer. 
 

3.11 Should a person falsify information required for licencing a Dog, the Licence shall 
be revoked, a new Licence purchased and a fine may be issued. 

 
4.0 CONTROL AND IMPOUNDING OF DOGS 



Page 6 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

 
4.1 An Owner shall ensure that the Dog is not At Large at any time, except for a 

Working Dog that is actively working at the time.  
 

4.2 An Owner shall keep the Dog Under Control to prevent it from harassing or 
chasing another Animal, person, or cyclist. 

 
4.3 An Owner shall keep the Dog Under Control to prevent it from injuring or killing 

another Animal or person. 
 
4.4 Every Owner of any Dog must ensure that the Dog does not enter upon or 

remain on any sandy beach or swimming area located within a park unless the 
area is designated by signage as an off-leash area or Dog Park. 

 
4.5  Every Owner of any Dog must ensure that the Dog does not enter into a 

playground area on Public Land where play apparatus exists, unless designated 
by signage to be an off-leash area or Dog Park. 

 
4.6 Every Owner of any Dog must ensure that the Dog is on a leash in a park, unless 

designated by signage as an off-leash area or Dog Park. 
 
4.7 The Dog Control Officer may determine that a Dog is a Nuisance Dog and shall 

inform the Owner in writing. 
 

4.8 The Dog Control Officer may seize and impound any Dog found At Large. 
 
4.9 The Dog Control Officer shall release any impounded Dog, when: 

(a) a current Licence has been produced by the Owner of the Dog; and 
(b) all impound fees, maintenance fees, and fines related to that Dog have been 

paid. 
 
4.10 Where an impounded dog is not released to the Owner within seventy-two (72) 

hours from the time the Dog is impounded, and there have been no prior 
arrangements made with the Shelter Manager or Dog Control Officer, the 
Regional District may sell or dispose of the dog in a humane manner. 

 
5.0 AGGRESSIVE DOGS  
 

5.1 The Owner of an Aggressive Dog shall secure the Dog by a collar and Leash that is 
a maximum length of one (1) metre when not on the Owner’s property or in a 
Dog Park. 

 



Page 7 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

5.2 The Owner of an Aggressive Dog shall keep the Dog effectively Muzzled at all 
times when in a Public Place to prevent the Dog from biting another Dog, Animal 
or person. 

 
5.3 The Owner of an Aggressive Dog shall ensure that the Leash referred in Section 

5.1 is held by a person that is physically and mentally capable of keeping the dog 
Under Control. 

 
5.4 When an Aggressive Dog is on the Owner’s property, and not securely confined 

indoors, the Owner shall keep the Dog securely confined to the Owner’s 
property by: 
(a) keeping the Dog in a fenced or gated area, located in the back yard of the  

Owner’s property, which is of sufficient height and strength to confine the 
dog; or 

(b) erecting a fence, in the back yard of the property, of adequate height and 
strength, to securely contain the Dog. 

 
5.5 The Owner of an Aggressive Dog shall permit the Dog Control Officer to 

photograph the Dog for identification purposes. 
 
5.6 Where a Dog has exhibited behaviour that met the definition of an Aggressive 

Dog in this bylaw and; 
(a) there have been no incidents of aggression within the previous twelve month 

period; or 
(b) in the opinion of a Qualified Dog Trainer, the Dog no longer has a propensity 

towards aggression 
the Owner may apply to the Regional District to suspend the requirements of 
Section 5.0 of this bylaw as it applies to an Aggressive Dog. 

 
5.7  If the requirements of this bylaw as it applies to an Aggressive Dog are 

suspended pursuant to Section 5.6 of this bylaw and, subsequent to that 
suspension, the Dog exhibits behaviour that meets the definition of an 
Aggressive Dog, the requirements of this bylaw as it applies to an Aggressive Dog 
shall immediately apply and no further relief pursuant to Section 5.6 will be 
granted. 

 
6.0 VICIOUS DOGS:  
 

6.1 The Owner of a Vicious Dog shall secure the Dog by a collar and Leash that is a 
maximum length of one (1) metre and of adequate strength to restrain the Dog 
when not on the Owner’s property. 

 



Page 8 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

6.2 The Owner of a Vicious Dog shall keep the Dog effectively Muzzled at all times 
when not on the Owner’s property to prevent the Dog from biting another Dog, 
Animal or person. 

 
6.3 The Owner of a Vicious Dog shall ensure that the leash referred in Section 6.1 is 

held by a person that is physically and mentally capable of keeping the Dog 
Under Control. 

 
6.4 When on the Owner’s property, and not securely confined indoors, the Owner 

shall keep the Vicious Dog securely confined in a locked Enclosure, located in a 
place on the Owner’s property other than the front yard and located such that 
there is a minimum of 3 meters between the enclosure and the property line. 

 
6.5 The Owner of a Vicious Dog shall ensure that the Dog is not in a Dog Park at any 

time. 
 
6.6 The Owner of a Vicious Dog shall permit the Dog Control Officer to microchip the 

Dog for identification purposes and must pay for the costs associated with the 
microchipping prior to release of the Dog by the Pound Keeper. 

 
7.0 DANGEROUS DOGS:  
  

7.1  The Dog Control Officer is designated an Animal Control Officer for the purposes 
of Section 49 (Special Powers in Relation to Dangerous Dogs) of the Community 
Charter. 

 
7.2 The Owner of a Dangerous Dog shall secure the Dog by a collar and Leash that is 

a maximum length of one (1) metre and of adequate strength to restrain the 
Dog. 

 
7.3 The owner of a Dangerous Dog shall keep the Dog effectively Muzzled at all 

times when not on the Owner’s property to prevent the Dog from biting another 
Dog, Animal or person. 

 
7.4 The Owner of a Dangerous Dog shall ensure that the leash referred in Section 7.2 

is held by a person that is physically and mentally capable of keeping the Dog 
Under Control. 

 
7.5 When on the Owner’s property, and not securely confined indoors, the Owner 

shall keep the Dangerous Dog securely confined in an Enclosure, placed in a 
location other than the front yard on the Owner’s property and located such that 
there is a minimum of 3 meters between the Enclosure and the property line. 

 



Page 9 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

7.6  The Owner of a Dangerous Dog shall ensure that it does not enter into any park 
or sandy beach / swimming area located within a park at any time. 

 
7.7 The Owner of a Dangerous Dog shall ensure that the Dog is not within 300 

metres of a Dog Park, at any time. 
 

7.8 The Owner of a Dangerous Dog shall permit the Dog to be micro chipped and pay 
for all associated costs prior to release of the Dangerous Dog. 

 
7.9 The Owner of a Dangerous Dog shall: 

(a) carry liability insurance in the amount of ($1,000,000) dollars, over the 
premises where the Dangerous Dog is kept; and 

(b) provide proof of compliance with Section 7.9.(a) to the Dog Control Officer 
prior to the release of the Dangerous Dog. 

 
8.0 MISCELLANEOUS: 
 

8.1 An Owner, when accompanied by a Dog on any Public Land, shall have in their 
possession a suitable means of facilitating the removal of the Dog feces. 

 
8.2 An Owner shall provide proof of compliance with section 8.1 when requested by 

a Dog Control Officer. 
 

8.3 An Owner shall promptly remove and dispose of their Dog feces deposited on 
Public Land and property other than property owned by the Dog Owner. 

 
8.4  An Owner shall not permit Dog feces to accumulate on the Owner’s property to 

the degree that the odour is noticeable on a neighbouring property. 
 
8.5 An Owner shall not confine an unattended Dog in an enclosed space, including a 

motor vehicle, without adequate ventilation and that the weather conditions are 
not suitable for the confinement and as a result thereof puts the Animal’s well-
being and safety at risk. 

 
9.0 ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT: 

 
9.1 The Dog Control Officer is hereby authorized to enter, at all reasonable times, 

upon any property in the Regional District subject to the regulations of this 
bylaw, in order to ascertain whether such regulations are being obeyed. 

 
9.2 No person shall prevent or obstruct, or attempt to prevent or obstruct, the Dog 

Control Officer from the exercise or performance of his or her powers, duties or 
functions under this bylaw. 



Page 10 of 10 
Bylaw No. 2671, 2017 

Dog Control Regulatory Bylaw 

 
9.3  Each day’s continuance of an offence under this bylaw constitutes a new and 

distinct offence. 
 
9.4 If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Bylaw is, for any 

reason, held to be invalid by decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, the 
invalid portion must be severed and the decision that it is invalid will not affect 
the validity of the remaining portions of this Bylaw. 

 
9.5 Any person who violated any provision of this bylaw commits an offence and is 

liable to a fine not exceeding $10,000.00 and cost of the prosecution. 
 
 
 

10.0 REPEAL: 
 
10.1 Bylaw No. 1838, 2007 is hereby repealed. 
 
 
 
READ A FIRST, SECOND, AND THIRD TIME this ____  day of ________, 20__. 
 
ADOPTED this ______ day of ____________________, 20__. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________ ___________________________________ 
 RDOS Chair     Corporate Officer 



 

File No: https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/BoardReports/E.2. Bylaw 2763, 2017 
REPORT (Animal Control Bylaw).docx 
Page 1 of 2 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT 
  
TO: Board of Directors 
  
FROM: B. Newell, Chief Administrative Officer 
  
DATE: October 19, 2017 
  
RE: Animal Control Bylaw 2763, 2017 – Adoption 

Administrative Recommendation: 

THAT the Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017, be read a first, second and third time, and be 
adopted.  
 

Purpose: 
The purpose of this bylaw is to remove sections pertaining to horses, cattle, pigs, sheep, goats and rabbits 
from the three current Animal Control Bylaws. These specific livestock and small animal restrictions currently 
do and will only apply to Electoral Areas “B” and “G” as they are the only areas paying into this service. 

 
Reference: 
Part 9, Division 5, of the Local Government Act [RSBC 2015] Chapter 1 
 
Business Plan Objective:  
To provide governance and oversight in a representative democracy by encouraging electoral areas to work 
together for consistency purposes and liability issues. 

Background: 
The intent to draft a specific Dog Control Bylaw was introduced to the Planning and Development 
Committee on February 11, 2016. Discussion at this meeting ensued with concerns being raised about 
removing RDOS’s ability to regulate livestock on a property where these are no land use regulations and the 
ability to restrict them from being at large. Administration was directed to prepare an Animal Control Bylaw 
to address these concerns in Electoral Areas “B” and “G” and present it to the Board for further discussion. 
 
This Animal Control Bylaw has been on hold until concerns with the Service Establishment Bylaws and review 
by Recreation Commissions relating to the proposed Dog Control Bylaw had been addressed. Since the Dog 
Control Bylaw is being brought forward for adoption, the Animal Control Bylaw is also being brought forward 
to the RDOS Board in the hopes that it can be approved, adopted and implemented. 
 
Analysis: 
Administration favors the separation of dog control from control of other animals in two separate bylaws for 
clarity, financial accountability and ease of enforcement. 
 
 
 
 



 

File No: https://portal.rdos.bc.ca/departments/officeofthecao/BoardReports/2017/20171019/BoardReports/E.2. Bylaw 2763, 2017 
REPORT (Animal Control Bylaw).docx 
Page 2 of 2 
 

Alternative Recommendations: 
 

1. THAT the Board of Directors not adopt the Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017; 
 

2. THAT the Board of Directors refer the Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 to the Planning and 
Development Committee for further discussion; 
 

3. THAT the Board of Directors direct that the Animal Control Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 be amended to 
include the following revisions and brought back to the RDOS Board for adoption: 
a) 

 
Communication Strategy:  

· Media release (Western News, Similkameen Spotlight) 
· Online News (Castanet, InfoNet) 
· New Animal Control pamphlet will be created   
· RDOS website 

 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
_________________________________                  _______________________________ 
R. Aylwin, Bylaw Enforcement Coordinator                    Endorsed By: Brad Dollevoet,  

Development Services Officer 
 



Page 1 of 3 
Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 
Animal Control Bylaw 

 
 
 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN 
BYLAW NO. 2763, 2017  

 
 
A regulatory bylaw to regulate animals within Electoral Areas “B” and “G” of the Regional 
District of Okanagan-Similkameen. 
 
WHEREAS the Regional Board may, pursuant to the Local Government Act, enact a bylaw 
regulating the keeping of livestock and other small animals and restrict them from running at 
large; and 
 
WHEREAS the Regional District has adopted Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen Animal 
Control Service Establishment Bylaw No. 2774 to establish a service for the control of animals in 
Electoral Areas “B” and “G”;  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
in open meeting enacts as follows: 
 
1.0  CITATION: 
 

This Bylaw shall be cited as the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen Animal 
Control Regulatory Bylaw No. 2763, 2017. 

 
2.0 DEFINITIONS: 
  

Animal includes horses, cattle, pigs, sheep, goats, rabbits and excludes the human 
species and wildlife as defined in the Wildlife Act. 
 
Animal Control Officer means a person appointed by the Board as an Animal Control 
Officer, Dog Control Officer or Bylaw Enforcement Officer and includes a Peace Officer, 
an employee, servant, agent, or contractor of the Regional District. 
 
At Large means: 
(a)  on property other than the owner’s; or 
(b) in a public place; or 
(c) on range land without a grazing licence or other written permission from the 

authority having jurisdiction; or 
(d) on any other unfenced land without being securely tethered or confined on the 

property to prevent the animal from entering onto public land. 
 



Page 2 of 3 
Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 
Animal Control Bylaw 

Board means the Board of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen. 
 

Fees and Charges Bylaw means the current Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 
Fees and Charges Bylaw as amended from time to time. 

 
Nuisance Animal means an animal, or animals under the same ownership, that has been 
found at large more than three times within the previous 12 month period. 

 
Owner means any person who owns, has in their custody, harbours, shelters or permits 
an Animal to remain on or about his/her land, property or premises.  

 
Public Land means any highway, road, lane, street, boulevard, crescent, walkway, trail, 
greenbelt, park, playground, or other public place that is under ownership or lease by 
Provincial, Federal or Local Government(s). 

 
Regional District means the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen and may be 
referred to as the Regional District in the context of this bylaw. 
 

3.0 GENERAL REGULATIONS: 
 

3.1 No person shall keep the following on any property less than 0.5 hectares (1.2 
acres) in area: 
(a) Any horse(s);  
(b) Any cattle;  
(c) Any pig(s) 
(d) Any sheep; 
(e) Any goat(s) 
(f) More than ten (10) rabbits. 

 
3.2 If the following animals exceed 15 animals per hectare (2.5 acres) on any parcel, 

or group of contiguous parcels of land, which make up a farming operation,  all 
animals must be set back 30 meters from all property lines, and watercourses or 
domestic wells: 
(a) Any horses; 
(b) Any cattle; 
(c) Any pigs; 
(d) Any sheep. 

 
3.3 An owner shall not permit any animal to be at large. 

 
  



Page 3 of 3 
Bylaw No. 2763, 2017 
Animal Control Bylaw 

4.0 ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT: 
 
4.1 The Animal Control Officer is hereby authorized to enter, at all reasonable times, 

upon any property in the Regional District subject to the regulations of this 
bylaw, in order to ascertain whether such regulations are being obeyed. 

 
4.2 No person shall prevent or obstruct, or attempt to prevent or obstruct, the 

Animal Control Officer from the exercise or performance of his or her powers, 
duties or functions under this bylaw. 

 
4.3  Each day’s continuance of an offence under this bylaw constitutes a new and 

distinct offence. 
 
4.4 If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Bylaw is, for any 

reason, held to be invalid by decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, the 
invalid portion must be severed and the decision that it is invalid will not affect 
the validity of the remaining portions of this Bylaw. 

 
4.5 Any person who violated any provision of this bylaw commits an offence and is 

liable to a fine not exceeding $10,000.00 and cost of the prosecution. 
 

5.0 REPEAL: 
 
5.1 Bylaw No 1991, 2000 and Bylaw No. 1992, 2000, are hereby repealed. 
 
 
 
 
READ A FIRST, SECOND, AND THIRD TIME this ____  day of ________, 20__. 
 
 
ADOPTED this ______ day of ____________________, 20__. 
 
 
 
_______________________________ ___________________________________ 
 RDOS Chair     Corporate Officer 



For more information, please visit: www.OBWB.ca  

 

OBWB Directors 
 

Tracy Gray - Chair, 
Regional District of Central 
Okanagan 
 

Juliette Cunningham - Vice-
Chair, Regional District of 
North Okanagan  
 

Doug Dirk, Regional District of 
North Okanagan 
 

Rick Fairbairn, Regional     
District of North Okanagan 
 

Doug Findlater, Regional    
District of Central Okanagan 
 

Cindy Fortin, Regional District 
of Central Okanagan 
 

Ron Hovanes, Regional       
District of Okanagan-
Similkameen 
 

Sue McKortoff, Regional    
District of Okanagan-
Similkameen 
 

Peter Waterman, Regional 
District of Okanagan-
Similkameen 
 

Lisa Wilson, Okanagan Nation 
Alliance  
 

Toby Pike, Water Supply     
Association of B.C. 
 

Brian Guy, Okanagan Water 
Stewardship Council 

The next regular meeting of  the 
OBWB will be 10 a.m.           
November 7, 2017 at the     
Regional District of Central  
Okanagan in Kelowna.  

BOARD REPORT: October 5, 2017 

 

 

Okanagan Basin Water Board Meeting Highlights 
 
Greater Vernon Water enhancing communications with agricultural customers: 

Jennifer Miles, Water Sustainability Coordinator for RDNO—Greater Vernon Water, 
gave an overview of the utility’s agricultural water program. The utility is working with 
the Water Board and the B.C. Climate Action Initiative to pilot a mass notification 
system that enables them to send water supply updates instantly by email, text, and 
voicemail. The notification system will be particularly useful in communicating with 
producers early and often in drought years. GVW also offers AgConnect, an online 
resource that provides information on water allocation and monthly use for 
agricultural customers.  

Water Board directors meet with B.C. Minister of Environment: The importance of 
preventing an infestation of invasive mussels into B.C. waters was the focus of 
meetings between Water Board directors and Minister George Heyman at the recent 
Union of BC Municipalities conference. The Minister was very receptive, and 
requested a detailed and prioritized list of prioritized recommendations. 

Board of Control holding public meeting and premier of The River Film: The 
International Osoyoos Lake Board of Control will hold their annual public meeting on 
October 17 at the Sonora Centre in Osoyoos. At the meeting, there will be a special 
screening of The River Film, a documentary about the trans-boundary challenges of 
managing Osoyoos Lake, and the uses and needs of residents and ecosystems along  
the lake and the Okanagan River. A second red-carpet screening is planned for 
October 25 at the Oliver Theatre. Register for your free ticket at https://a-river-
film.eventbrite.ca/. 

Make Water Work wraps up, announces winners: The OBWB’s Okanagan 
WaterWise program has wrapped up its Make Water Work outdoor residential water 
conservation campaign. The  initiative, delivered in partnership with local utilities 
throughout the valley, encourages residents to Take the Challenge and pledge to 
Make Water Work more effectively and efficiently and be entered to win a $6,000 
WaterWise yard upgrade. This year’s winner is Laurie Weisgarber of Kelowna. The 
community with the most pledges collected per capita is also recognized. This year, 
the City of Armstrong was named “Make Water Work 2017 Champions.” Find tips to 
protect our water  year-round at www.OkWaterWise.ca.   

Climate change front-and-centre at the Water Board’s annual public meeting: 
The OBWB hosted its annual public meeting on September 8. The theme was 
“Weathering Extremes” in reference to the floods, fires, and droughts we’ve been 
increasingly experiencing in the Okanagan. The Pembina Institute’s Maximillian 
Kniewasser talked about the state of climate action in B.C. and opportunities for 
growing the clean energy sector. Shaun Reimer, the provincial ministry person who 
operates the Okanagan Lake dam system, spoke about how this year’s historic 
flooding resulted from a combination of late snowpack and record-breaking rainfall.   


	2017-10-19 Schedule of Meetings
	PUBLIC HEARING
	PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT
	A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT
	C. D2017.110-ZONE (OK Falls Town Centre Plan) - Phase 3 Report
	C.a. D2017.110-ZONE (OK Falls Town Centre Plan) (2017-09-10)
	C.b. D2017.110-ZONE (OK Falls Town Centre Plan) Representations


	COMMUNITY SERVICES
	A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT
	C. COMMUNITY HERITAGE REGISTER - See Ya Later Ranch Barn
	C.1. Statement of Significance
	C.2. Supporting Documentation


	CORPORATE SERVICES
	A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT
	C. Q3 CORPORATE ACTION PLAN
	D. Q3 BUDGET VARIANCE ANALYSIS REPORT

	PROTECTIVE SERVICES
	A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	B. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT

	ENVIRONMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE
	A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	B. SIMILKAMEEN WATERSHED PLAN
	B.a. Watershed Plan

	C. APEX SWMP
	C.a. Consultation Documents

	D. APEX FEES & TAX STRUCTURE
	E. SKAHA ESTATES SEWER EXPASION PROJECT
	F. Q3 ACTIVITY REPORT

	OSRHD BOARD
	A. ADOPTION OF AGENDA
	B. MINUTES
	B.1. 20170615MIN_OSRHD

	C. DELEGATION
	D. FINANCE
	D.1. RHD 2016 Audited Financial Stmt Admin Report
	D.1.a. OSRHD 2016 DRAFT Audited Financial Statements



	RDOS BOARD
	A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	1. Consent Agenda – Corporate Issues
	A.1.a. NPR-Minutes-09182017
	A.1.b. 20170926_Similkameen_Rec_Minutes_209
	A.1.c. 20171005MINEnvironment
	A.1.d. 20171005MINBD

	2. Consent Agenda – Development Services
	A.2.a. H2017.139-DVP (Report - Elkhart Wind)
	A.2.a.i. H2017.139-DVP (Permit - Elkhart Wind)



	B. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES – Rural Land Use Matters
	B.1. E2017.103-ZONE (Report - 3rd adopt Niddery)
	B.1.a. E2017.103-ZONE (Amendment Bylaw No 2459.26)
	B.1.b. E2017.103-ZONE (Representations) Niddery

	B.2. G2017.105-ZONE (Report - adopt - Sanders)
	B.2.a. G2017.105-ZONE (Amendment Bylaw 2462.03)


	C. PUBLIC WORKS
	C.1. Skaha Estates Sewer Award

	D. FINANCE
	D.1. Naramata Water Budget Amendment Administrative Report
	D.2. Audit Services RFP Administrative Report

	E. LEGISLATIVE SERVICES
	E.1. Bylaw 2671, 2017 REPORT (DogControlBylaw)
	E.1.a. Bylaw 2671 Dog Control

	E.2. Bylaw 2763, 2017 REPORT (Animal Control Bylaw)
	E.2.a. Bylaw 2763 Animal Control


	F. CAO REPORTS
	1. Verbal Update

	G. OTHER BUSINESS
	1. Chair’s Report
	2. Board Representation
	G.2.E.a. Okanagan Basin Water Board Report - October 2017

	3. Directors Motions
	4. Board Members Verbal Update

	H. CLOSED SESSION




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [1728.000 1728.000]
>> setpagedevice




